Western University Scholarship@Western

Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository

8-6-2020 10:00 AM

Exploring the Relationship Between Sedentary Behavior and Subjective Well-Being

Wuyou -. Sui, The University of Western Ontario

Supervisor: Prapavessis, Harry, *The University of Western Ontario* A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Doctor of Philosophy degree in Kinesiology © Wuyou -. Sui 2020

Follow this and additional works at: https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd

Recommended Citation

Sui, Wuyou -., "Exploring the Relationship Between Sedentary Behavior and Subjective Well-Being" (2020). *Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository*. 7261. https://ir.lib.uwo.ca/etd/7261

This Dissertation/Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by Scholarship@Western. It has been accepted for inclusion in Electronic Thesis and Dissertation Repository by an authorized administrator of Scholarship@Western. For more information, please contact wlswadmin@uwo.ca.

Abstract

Sedentary behavior (SB) describes any waking behavior that is low energy and performed in a sitting, lying, or reclining posture. The average Canadian spends over 9.5 hours sedentary per day, with populations like university students reporting over 11 hours per day. Detrimental associations between excessive, long-term SB and chronic disease risk are well-established. However, relationships between SB and subjective well-being (SWB) are less clear. SWB is typically conceptualized as either (i) hedonic well-being, whereby ideal SWB is achieved through optimizing affect (i.e., mood) and life satisfaction; or (ii) eudaimonic well-being, whereby ideal SWB is achieved through self-actualization and purpose. Current literature surrounding the relationship between SB and SWB is conflicting. Hence, the objective of this dissertation was to explore the relationships between SB and SWB. To this end, three studies were conducted. Study 1 mapped the current literature that examined indices of SB (i.e., objectively-measured and self-reported SB and physical inactivity, and screen time) and outcomes of hedonic well-being (i.e., affect, life satisfaction) through a scoping review. Findings revealed a weak detrimental association between indices of SB and outcomes of SWB however, little research actually examining SB exists. Study 2 built upon the dearth of research examining SB and SWB through a cross-sectional survey. Specifically, relationships between total, self-compared, and domain-specific SB and breaks from SB and outcomes of SWB were examined among a national sample of university students. Findings reflect the weak detrimental association in previous literature; however, self-compared SB, breaks from SB, and some domains of SB exhibited larger associations with outcomes of SWB than total SB. Study 3 aimed to evaluate the preliminary effectiveness of an acute SB-reducing intervention on outcomes of SWB among a sample of sedentary university students. Although the intervention provided only weak evidence for effectiveness, change correlations and its interplay with intervention effectiveness revealed objectively-measured, total, and self-compared SB as well as breaks from SB, to be salient targets for intervention. Findings from this work inform the effectiveness of future SB-reducing interventions, which help to elucidate the directionality and causality of relationships between SB and SWB.

Keywords

sedentary behavior, physical inactivity, subjective well-being, affect, life satisfaction, hedonic well-being, eudaimonic well-being, university students

Summary for Lay Audience

Sedentary behavior (SB) describes the majority of behaviors we perform, such as sitting, lying, and reclining. Between all the domains of sitting (e.g., transportation, screen time, occupation) the average Canadian sits for over 9.5 hours per day, with some groups, like office workers and university students, sitting for even longer. Excessive sitting is a health concern as prolonged SB has been associated with increased risk of chronic diseases (e.g., heart disease, type 2 diabetes, hypertension) and all-cause mortality. However, the relationship between SB and subjective well-being is less clear. Subjective well-being (SWB), generally, describes an individual's selfevaluation of their life, and can be split into hedonic well-being and eudaimonic well-being. Hedonic well-being proposes that SWB is optimized when one's affect (i.e., mood) and life satisfaction are optimized. While similar, eudaimonic well-being proposes that SWB is optimized through purpose, subjective vitality, and realizing oneself. Regardless of perspective, research surrounding relationships between SB and SWB is unclear. As such, the purpose of this dissertation was to explore the relationships between SB and SWB. Study 1 mapped relationships between indices of SB (e.g., SB, physical inactivity, screen time) and hedonic wellbeing within the current literature through a scoping review. Findings revealed weak detrimental associations between SB and outcomes of hedonic well-being, but the specific domain of sitting impacted this relationship. Study 2 more specifically examined relationships between total and domain-specific SB and outcomes of SWB through a survey. Findings reinforced relationships observed in study 1, as well as highlighted the importance of self-compared sitting time, breaks from sitting, and certain domains of SB (e.g., screen time). Study 3 determined the early effectiveness of a short-term SB-reducing intervention in a sample of university students through a randomized pilot trial. While the intervention was ineffective, analyses revealed that devicemeasured SB, total reported sitting, self-compared sitting, and breaks from sitting were all important components of interventions aimed at modifying SWB. Overall, SB appears to be weakly, detrimentally associated with outcomes of SWB; however, specific domains of SB, selfcompared SB, breaks from sitting, and changes from one's typical SB demonstrated stronger relationships with outcomes of SWB.

Co-Authorship Statement

The author recognizes the contribution of Ms. Ana Rudkovska, who assisted with the scoping review (Study 1). Specifically, Ms. Rudkovska assisted in the initial screening of articles by title and abstract, the following screening of articles by full-text, and data charting.

Acknowledgments

First and foremost, I would like to acknowledge my supervisor, Dr. Harry Prapavessis; this dissertation would not be possible without his time, insight, guidance, and patience. Dr. Prapavessis has shaped the scholar I am today, and I will no doubt continue to draw on his example as a researcher, mentor, and colleague throughout my academic journey. I would also like acknowledge the bright and remarkable people I have had the honor of collaborating with, learning from, and relying on: Dr. Jennifer D. Irwin, Dr. Lindsay Nagamatsu, Dr. Craig Hall, Dr. Eva Pila, Dr. Nicole Chabot, Jess Bechard, Dr. Gordon MacDonald, Dr. Ruth Martin, Arlene Fleischhauer, Jennifer Plaskett, Lindsay Stark, Laurie Bodin, and the entire rest of the kinesiology graduate program staff. Your time and attention have made my graduate experience all the richer. I would also like to acknowledge the Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada for funding my doctoral program and my fantastic volunteers for helping make said program succeed. Special thanks also go out to all the members of the EHPL and my friends, without whom, graduate school – and life – would be far less exciting. The greatest acknowledgement goes to my fiancée, Ana, who has been beyond the best supporter, proofreader, and partner a broke graduate student could ask for. Final thanks go to my family for supporting my lifelong dream of being a doctor(ate) and my dogs for reminding me there is more to life than writing manuscripts.

Table of Contents

Abstractii						
Summary for Lay Audienceiv						
Co-Authorship Statementv						
Acknowledgmentsvi						
List of Tables xii						
List of Figures xiii						
List of Appendices xiv						
Chapter 1 1						
1 Introduction						
1.1 Sedentary Behavior						
1.2 Pathogenesis vs. Salutogenesis						
1.3 Subjective Well-Being						
1.4 Subjective Well-Being and Sedentary Behavior						
1.5 Study 1 – Scoping Review						
1.6 Study 2 – Cross-Sectional Study						
1.7 Study 3 – Randomized Pilot Trial 6						
1.8 Summary of Objectives7						
1.9 References						
Chapter 2						
 2 Study 1 – Relationships between indices of sedentary behavior and hedonic well-being: A scoping review						
2.1 Rationale						
2.2 Methods						
2.2.1 Eligibility Criteria						

		2.2.2	Information Sources	16
		2.2.3	Search Strategy	16
		2.2.4	Selection of Sources of Evidence	16
		2.2.5	Data Charting Process	17
		2.2.6	Data Items	17
		2.2.7	Synthesis of Results	18
	2.3	Result	S	18
		2.3.1	Selection of Sources of Evidence	19
		2.3.2	Characteristics of Sources of Evidence	19
		2.3.3	Results of Sources of Evidence	20
		2.3.4	Synthesis of Results	64
	2.4	Discus	sion	68
		2.4.1	Objectively-Measured Sedentary Behavior	69
		2.4.2	Self-Reported Sedentary Behavior	70
		2.4.3	Objectively-Measured Physical Inactivity	72
		2.4.4	Self-Reported Physical Inactivity	73
		2.4.5	Screen Time	74
		2.4.6	Limitations	75
		2.4.7	Conclusion	76
		2.4.8	Funding	76
	2.5	Refere	nces	77
Cł	napte	er 3		87
3	Study 2 – Exploring the relationship between sedentary behavior and subjective v being: A cross-sectional study			- 87
	3.1 Rationale			
	3.2	Metho	ds	89

		3.2.1	Design/Sample Size Calculation	89
		3.2.2	Participants	89
		3.2.3	Recruitment	89
		3.2.4	Data Imputation	89
		3.2.5	Measures	90
		3.2.6	Procedure	92
		3.2.7	Statistical Analysis	92
	3.3	Result	S	93
		3.3.1	Missing data	93
		3.3.2	Bivariate Correlations between SB and Outcomes of SWB	94
		3.3.3	Partial Correlations between SB and SWB	98
	3.4	Discus	ssion 1	.01
		3.4.1	Funding sources 1	.06
	3.5	Refere	ences1	.07
Cl	napte	er 4		.12
4	Stue inte	dy 3 – A rventio	Assessing the preliminary effectiveness of an acute sedentary behavior reconstruction on outcomes of subjective well-being – A randomized pilot trial	lucing
	4.1	Ration	nale 1	.12
	4.2	Metho	ods 1	.15
		4.2.1	Trial Design 1	.15
		4.2.2	Participants1	.15
		4.2.3	Setting 1	16
		4.2.4	Intervention 1	16
		4.2.5	Outcomes 1	.18
		4.2.6	Procedure 1	.23
		4.2.7	Sample Size Calculation 1	.24

		4.2.8	Randomization	24		
		4.2.9	Blinding	24		
		4.2.10	Statistical Analysis	24		
		4.2.11	Data Imputation	25		
	4.3	Results	s12	25		
		4.3.1	Missing Data 12	25		
		4.3.2	Recruitment	27		
		4.3.3	Group Equivalency 12	27		
		4.3.4	Descriptive Data	28		
		4.3.5	Interaction Effects and Main Effects	37		
		4.3.6	Residual Change and Absolute Differences Correlations	18		
		4.3.7	Adverse events	56		
	4.4	Discus	sion 15	57		
		4.4.1	Intervention effectiveness – Reducing sedentary behavior 15	57		
		4.4.2	Intervention effectiveness – Improving subjective well-being	50		
		4.4.3	Correlations between change in SB and SWB outcomes	51		
		4.4.4	Interplay between intervention effectiveness and change correlations 16	53		
		4.4.5	Limitations	54		
		4.4.6	Generalizability	54		
		4.4.7	Interpretation	54		
		4.4.8	Registration and protocol	54		
		4.4.9	Funding sources	55		
	4.5	Refere	nces	56		
C	Chapter 5 175					
5	Ove	erall dis	cussion	75		

5.1 References	178
Appendix A: PRISMA-ScR Checklist	179
Appendix B: Scoping Review Search Strategies	181
Appendix C: Modified SIT-Q 7d Questionnaire	183
Appendix D: CONSORT Checklist for randomized controlled trials	200
Curriculum Vitae	203

List of Tables

Table 1: Table and summary of included evidence. 21
Table 2: Demographic characteristics of the sample ($n = 999$)
Table 3: Correlations between outcomes of subjective well-being, total weekday sitting, self- compared sitting time, and domain-specific sitting time
Table 4: Partial correlations between outcomes of subjective well-being and time spent sitting in sedentary activities, controlling for mental health, physical activity, and demographics
Table 5: Demographic characteristics. (n=31)
Table 6: Means, standard deviations, and 95% confidence intervals for objectively-measured sedentary behaviors throughout the study
Table 7: Means, standard deviations, and 95% confidence intervals for self-compared, average weekday, and domain-specific self-reported sedentary behaviors throughout the study
Table 8: Means, standard deviations, and 95% confidence intervals for outcomes of subjective well-being throughout the study. 136
Table 9: Repeated-measures interaction effects and main effects of time for sedentary behavior outcomes and outcomes of subjective well-being. 143
Table 10: Pearson correlation matrix between residuals and absolute differences [*] of objective SB outcomes and outcomes of SWB. ($n = 31$)
Table 11: Pearson correlation matrix between residuals and absolute differences [*] of self- compared and average weekday SB and outcomes of SWB. $(n = 31)$
Table 12: Pearson correlations between residuals and absolute differences of domain-specificSBs and outcomes of SWB. (n = 31)

List of Figures

Figure 1: PRISMA flow diagram.	19
Figure 2: Pinwheel of associations between indices of sedentary behavior and outcomes of	
hedonic well-being	68
Figure 3: CONSORT flow of participants diagram.	126

List of Appendices

Appendix A: PRISMA-ScR Checklist	179
Appendix B: Scoping review search strategies	181
Appendix C: Modified SIT-Q 7d questionnaire	183
Appendix D: CONSORT Checklist for randomized controlled trials	

Chapter 1

1 Introduction

The benefits of physical activity (PA), specifically moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA), are well-established¹. Consequently, global guidelines detailing the ideal volume, intensity, and forms of PA have been developed², as have specific guidelines for many countries (e.g., Canada³, USA⁴). Physical activity guidelines for adults in Canada align with these global guidelines and recommend at least 150 minutes of MVPA accumulated in bouts of at least 10 minutes³. However, applying PA guidelines to an average day (i.e., 30 minutes of MVPA per day, 5 days per week) accounts for only 3% of waking time, assuming an average 8 hours of sleep. Put differently, 97% of one's waking day activity is spent engaging in behaviors other than PA, assuming individuals are meeting PA guidelines, which fewer than 1 in 5 Canadian adults are⁵. The remaining waking hours are predominantly spent in sedentary behaviors.

1.1 Sedentary Behavior

Sedentary behavior (SB) describes any behavior that is (i) waking, (ii) expends \leq 1.5 Metabolic equivalents, and (iii) is performed in a seated, lying, or reclining posture⁶. The broad definition of SB implicates behaviors in nearly every domain of daily life: sitting during meals, occupations, screen time, and transportation, for example. The 9.8 hours per day spent sedentary for the average Canadian⁷ is reflective of the pervasive and universal nature of SBs. Daily levels of SB are estimated to be even higher among populations where SB is implied in their occupation, such as office workers⁸ and university students⁹. As such, considerable research has explored the link between excessive chronic SB and health outcomes. A systematic review of systematic reviews by de Rezende and colleagues detailed the detrimental health outcomes associated with chronic excessive SB, including an increased risk for all-cause mortality, heart disease, type 2 diabetes, and some cancers¹⁰. Additional systematic reviews have summarized the negative association between chronic SB and depression¹¹ and anxiety¹². Importantly, the health consequences of chronic SB appear to be independent of levels of PA¹⁰ – in other words, meeting PA guidelines does not completely attenuate the negative health effects of chronic sitting. Work by Ekelund and colleagues suggests that 60-75 minutes of MVPA are needed to completely eliminate the increased risk of death associated with higher SB¹³; the infeasibility of a population achieving these levels of MVPA cements SB as an outcome of interest, independent of PA.

1.2 Pathogenesis vs. Salutogenesis

Currently, research examining SB and health outcomes have primarily examined health through a pathogenic lens, whereby optimal health is achieved through the absence of disease/illness or disease markers¹⁴. Through a pathogenic lens, a healthy person would not have an impaired glucose response or would register a normal level of resting blood pressure, for instance. However, many medical sociologists and philosophers have refuted this narrow definition of health, arguing that health cannot be dichotomized and solely constructed through biological/physiological markers. Rather, definitions of health must also include the assets and factors that support health¹⁵. From this viewpoint stems the concept of salutogenesis, which in contrast to pathogenesis, examines health as a continuum and focuses on factors that actively promote health¹⁴. Importantly, individual evaluations of health and well-being are vital to a salutogenic orientation, as salutogenesis "must relate to all aspects of a person"¹⁴; hence, outcomes assessing individuals' own conceptions of their health, such as subjective well-being, are of particular interest.

1.3 Subjective Well-Being

Subjective well-being (SWB) broadly describes an individual's own conceptions of their life and functioning¹⁶. Under the umbrella of SWB, there are two distinct, but related, philosophies. The first, hedonic well-being, theorizes SWB as the fulfillment of happiness and pleasure with one's life. As such, measurement of SWB is constituted by positive and negative affect (i.e., feelings/emotions) and life satisfaction (i.e., a global cognitive measure of one's own life compared to an imagined ideal¹⁶). The interfacing operationalization of SWB to hedonic wellbeing is eudaimonic well-being. In contrast to the 'pleasure-centered' focus of hedonic wellbeing, eudaimonic well-being conceptualizes SWB as a self-evaluation of one's aliveness and is concerned with constructs of self-realization and subjective vitality¹⁶, for instance. While these two philosophies conceptualize SWB differently, there are moderate interrelations between them

(e.g., happiness and meaningfulness¹⁷). Hence, measurement of SWB through a complementary lens of hedonic and eudaimonic well-being may present the most holistic assessment of the phenomenon.

1.4 Subjective Well-Being and Sedentary Behavior

Compared to evidence surrounding SB and traditional health outcomes, there is relatively little evidence examining the relationship between SB and SWB. In general, there is evidence to suggest that greater SB is weakly, negatively associated with outcomes of SWB. For example, Hogan and colleagues found SB predicted less frequent positive emotions, independent of PA¹⁸. Further experimental work by Edwards and Loprinzi found life satisfaction was significantly lower among participants who increased their SB over a 1-week intervention¹⁹. However, other work has found no relationship between SB and outcomes of SWB. Puig-Ribera and colleagues noted no significant interactions between sitting time during traveling, sitting time during TV, and total sitting time and overall SWB over a 19-week period²⁰. Findings by Maher and Conroy further complicate these relationships, as they found no difference in life satisfaction between more or less sedentary individuals, but did note that within-subject differences from one's typical SB were predictive of changes in life satisfaction²¹.

Several factors contribute to the incongruency of findings among studies exploring SB and SWB. Firstly, agreement upon which outcomes of SWB are measured is variable. For example, when considering hedonic well-being, some work only measured life satisfaction^{21,22}, while others only measured affect^{18,23}. Further, some studies only examined one dimension of affect (i.e., positive²⁴ or negative²⁵). Secondly, measurement of SB within previous work is also inconsistent. Given the relative nascency of a consensual definition of SB, a significant fraction of the literature exploring SB and SWB has not actually measured SB. Rather, studies have measured physical inactivity (PI) through use of an accelerometer²⁶, which cannot capture the postural component of SB, or through binary self-reported PA items²⁷. Furthermore, several studies have measured a specific domain of SB as a proxy for total SB^{25,28} (e.g., screen time).

Further compounding to the inconsistent assessment of SB is the variability among instruments used to measure SB. Specifically, studies typically measure either objective SB or

self-reported SB. Objectively-measured SB is assessed through the use of an inclinometer, a device capable of measuring the activity and postural components of SB, owing to the device's placement on the thigh. In addition, an inclinometer can be worn continuously for upwards of 7 days and during aquatic activities, unlike an accelerometer. Overall, inclinometers offer the most valid and reliable means of capturing actual sitting behaviors²⁹. However, measurement of SB through solely objective measurement does present caveats. While inclinometers capture *how much* sitting is being performed and *when* it is performed, they cannot distinguish between *what* an individual is doing while sedentary. In other words, objective measurements may capture 2 hours of SB in a given time period but will be unable to discern whether an individual was sitting during travel or at work or in class, for example. Similarly, sleeping is indistinguishable from simply laying down while awake to an inclinometer. Hence, pairing objective data with some measure of sleep, as well as self-reported measures of SB, is key for interpretation of results.

Self-report instruments for measuring SB are currently the most popular means of measuring SB within the SB and SWB literature. However, even among studies utilizing selfreported instruments, considerable variability among what kind of SB is measured exists. Namely, assessments of SB either focus on total sitting behavior or domain-specific SBs. Total sitting measures offer the advantage of a single global estimate of one's sitting behavior that can be compared to others. Further, a downfall of using total sitting measures is the failure to acknowledge the unique volumes and contexts of certain sitting behaviors. For example, while two individuals may report similar levels of total SB, the composition of those times may vary drastically – one individual may spend a significant portion of their time sedentary at work, while another may primarily spend that time in screen time or transportation, for example. Applied to the current research, certain domains of SB demonstrate positive associations with SWB in certain populations, contrary to associations with total sitting^{22,30}. For example, O'Neill and Dogra found positive associations between computer use, playing instruments, and reading and life satisfaction among older adults²². Thus, the use of domain-specific measures of SB add richness to an individual's SB profile, albeit at a potential burden to the respondent. Another notable limitation to both total sitting and domain-specific measures is the tendency for individuals to underreport their actual SB, up to 2 hours by some estimates³¹. Hence, a conjoined measure of objective and self-reported SB instruments provides the most holistic picture of an individual's SB. To the author's knowledge, only one study examining the relationship between

SB and an outcome of SWB has measured both objective and self-reported SB^{21} . In response to this gap in literature – and to further explicate the relationships between SB and SWB – three studies were effectuated: a scoping review, a cross-sectional survey, and a randomized pilot study. A brief overview and rational for conducting these three studies are highlighted below.

1.5 Study 1 – Scoping Review

The heterogeneity among indices of SB (i.e., SB, PI, screen time), as well as measurement of these indices (i.e., objectively-measured, self-reported), among studies examining the relationship between SB and outcomes of SWB conflates the interpretation of these relationships. These relationships are further confounded through selective measurement of SWB (e.g., only measuring affect). Hence, a scoping review was conducted to map the findings of the present literature.

Scoping reviews, unlike systematic reviews, are not typically conducted to evaluate and/or confirm a particular practice or to resolve discrepancies among conflicting evidence³². Rather, scoping reviews can clarify key concepts, identify knowledge gaps, and identify the types of available evidence, and as such, are often precursors to a systematic review³². Importantly, scoping reviews do not produce a synthesized result or answer to a question, but rather provide an overview of the evidence³². Owing to the broad search criteria and exploratory aim of the review, a scoping review was deemed the most appropriate methodology.

As such, a scoping review was conducted to answer the following research question: What is known from the literature regarding the relationships between indices of SB (i.e., objectively-measured and self-reported SB, PI, and screen time) and outcomes of hedonic wellbeing (i.e., affect, life satisfaction, overall hedonic well-being)? Hedonic well-being was selected as the focus for this review given that outcomes of hedonic well-being (i.e., affect, life satisfaction, overall hedonic well-being) currently represent most of the available literature.

1.6 Study 2 – Cross-Sectional Study

Existing literature assessing SB and SWB, specifically hedonic well-being, is lacking with respect to the inclusion of multiple outcomes of SWB and domain-specific SBs. Previous large-

scale studies have examined only one outcome of hedonic well-being (e.g., life satisfaction^{18,22}), only total sitting¹⁸, and/or only limited domains of SB³³. Additionally, populations of interest among these works have varied from adolescents^{34,35} to adults¹⁸ to older adults²² and special populations²³. Considering the individualized construction of SWB¹⁶, determinants of SWB likely vary between populations. For example, O'Neill and Dogra found positive associations between time spent using a computer and life satisfaction among older adults²². Conversely, Hrafnkelsdottir and colleagues found life dissatisfaction to be correlated with higher screen time in adolescents²⁸. These findings suggest that relationships between domains of SB and outcomes of SWB are affected by age, and potentially other demographics. Hence, a large-scale cross-sectional study aimed at exploring the relationships between outcomes of hedonic well-being and both total and domain-specific sitting time among a target population that spends a lot of time sitting (e.g., university students⁹) is warranted.

1.7 Study 3 – Randomized Pilot Trial

There unfortunately is limited experimental work pertaining to SB and its relationship(s) with SWB. Experimental work is an important predecessor to the existing cross-sectional work as experimental designs can elucidate the directionality and causality of the identified relationships. Applied to the current work, the directionality and causality of relationships between SB and SWB remain unclear. Namely, do changes in SB elicit changes in outcomes of SWB, or viceversa? Experimental works by Edwards and Loprinzi¹⁹, Endrighi et al.³⁶, and Duvivier et al.³⁷, have investigated this question, and overall have reported a weak-to-moderate detrimental effect of SB on outcomes of SWB. However, there are notable limitations with these works. Specifically, all three studies utilized an acute sedentary intervention, whereby participants were asked to maximize their time spent sedentary and refrain from any extraneous movement or activity for one week. However, work by Maher and Conroy suggests that changes from one's typical SB, not total SB, can predict changes in life satisfaction²¹. As such, interactions discovered by experimental designs that induce SB may not mirror those in designs that reduce SB. Furthermore, all three studies measured PI as a proxy for SB, which misconstrues the interpretation of their findings. Hence, experimental work designed to acutely decrease SB to illuminate the directionality and causality of relationships between SB and SWB is warranted. Importantly, the dearth of experimental work examining this specific paradigm precludes the

estimation of sample size from effect sizes or inferential statistics. Thus, a randomized pilot trial was executed.

Randomized pilot trials, according to Eldridge and colleagues, are small-scale randomized trials that often mirror the design of a larger, future randomized controlled trial (RCT), and are conducted to ascertain whether a future study can be done³⁸. Applied to the current work, a randomized pilot trial was executed with the purpose of determining the preliminary effectiveness of an acute SB reducing behavioral intervention for a future RCT. A secondary objective of the pilot was to explore whether any changes in SB outcomes were related to changes in outcomes of SWB.

1.8 Summary of Objectives

Overall, the nature of the relationship(s) between indices of SB (i.e., SB, PI, screen time) is unclear. Seminal evidence suggests there is a weak, detrimental association between increased SB and outcomes of SWB. However, these findings are confounded by inconsistencies in operationalization and measurement of SB, selective assessment of outcomes of SWB, and a dearth of valid experimental work. Hence, the aim of this dissertation was to investigate the relationships between SB and SWB. To this end, three studies were conducted. Firstly, a scoping review was conducted to map current relationships between indices of SB and hedonic wellbeing. A large-scale cross-sectional study was then undertaken to confirm these relationships in a university student population. Finally, a randomized pilot trial to reduce SB was executed to determine the preliminary effectiveness of a behavioral intervention to reduce SB, in order to inform a future RCT.

1.9 References

- Warburton DER, Nicol CW, Bredin SSD. Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. CMAJ [Internet]. 2006 Mar 14;174(6):801–9. Available from: http://www.cmaj.ca/cgi/doi/10.1503/cmaj.051351
- World Health Organization. Global Recommendations on Physical Activity for Health [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2020 Jun 28]. Available from: https://www.who.int/dietphysicalactivity/physical-activity-recommendations-18-64years.pdf?ua=1
- Canadian Society for Exercise Physiology. Canadian Physical Activity Guidelines [Internet]. 2017. Available from: www.csep.ca/guidelines
- U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Physical Activity Guidelines for Americans [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 Jun 28]. Available from: https://health.gov/sites/default/files/2019-09/Physical_Activity_Guidelines_2nd_edition.pdf
- Statistics Canada. Tracking physical activity levels of Canadians, 2016 and 2017 [Internet]. The Daily. 2019. Available from: https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/dailyquotidien/190417/dq190417g-eng.pdf
- 6. Tremblay MS, Aubert S, Barnes JD, Saunders TJ, Carson V, Latimer-Cheung AE, et al. Sedentary Behavior Research Network (SBRN)—Terminology Consensus Project process and outcome. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act [Internet]. 2017 Jun 10;14:17. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1915376139?accountid=15115
- Colley RC, Garriguet D, Janssen I, Craig CL, Clarke J, Tremblay MS. Physical activity of Canadian adults: Accelerometer results from the 2007 to 2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey. Stat Canada. 2011;22(1).
- 8. Thorp AA, Healy GN, Winkler E, Clark BK, Gardiner PA, Owen N, et al. Prolonged sedentary time and physical activity in workplace and non-work contexts: a cross-sectional study of office, customer service and call centre employees. Int J Behav Nutr

Phys Act. 2012;9:1.

- 9. Castro O, Bennie J, Vergeer I, Bosselut G, Biddle SJH. How Sedentary Are University Students? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Prev Sci. 2020;21(3):332–43.
- De Rezende LFM, Lopes MR, Rey-Lopez JP, Matsudo VKR, Luiz ODC. Sedentary behavior and health outcomes: An overview of systematic reviews. PLoS One. 2014;9(8).
- 11. Schuch F, Vancampfort D, Firth J, Rosenbaum S, Ward P, Reichert T, et al. Physical activity and sedentary behavior in people with major depressive disorder: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord [Internet]. 2017 Mar 1;210:139–50. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgi-bin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1871093793?accountid=15115
- Teychenne M, Costigan SA, Parker K. The association between sedentary behaviour and risk of anxiety: a systematic review. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2015;15(1):513. Available from: http://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-015-1843-x
- Ekelund U, Steene-Johannessen J, Brown WJ, Fagerland MW, Owen N, Powell KE, et al. Does physical activity attenuate, or even eliminate, the detrimental association of sitting time with mortality? A harmonised meta-analysis of data from more than 1 million men and women. Lancet [Internet]. 2016;388(10051):1302–10. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30370-1
- Antonovsky A. The salutogenic model as a theory to guide health promotion. Health Promot Int. 1996;11(1):11–8.
- Mittelmark MB, Sagy S, Eriksson M, Bauer GF, Pelikan JM, Lindström B, et al. The Handbook of Salutogenesis. Handb Salut. 2016;1–461.
- Ryan RM, Deci EL. On Happiness and Human Potentials: A Review of Research on Hedonic and Eudaimonic Well-Being. Annu Rev Psychol [Internet]. 2001 Feb 1;52(1):141–66. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141
- 17. McGregor I, Little BR. Personal projects, happiness, and meaning: On doing well and being yourself. J Pers Soc Psychol [Internet]. 1998;74(2):494–512. Available from:

http://doi.apa.org/getdoi.cfm?doi=10.1037/0022-3514.74.2.494

- Hogan CL, Catalino LI, Mata J, Fredrickson BL. Beyond emotional benefits: Physical activity and sedentary behaviour affect psychosocial resources through emotions. Psychol Health [Internet]. 2015 Mar;30(3):354–69. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1655758910?accountid=15115
- Edwards MK, Loprinzi PD. Experimentally increasing sedentary behavior results in decreased life satisfaction. Heal Promot Perspect [Internet]. 2017;7(2):88–94. Available from: http://journals.tbzmed.ac.ir/HPP/Abstract/HPP_4087_20160608014807
- Puig-Ribera A, Bort-Roig J, Gine-Garriga M, Gonzalez-Suarez AM, Martinez-Lemos I, Fortuno J, et al. Impact of a workplace `sit less, move more' program on efficiency-related outcomes of office employees. BMC Public Health. 2017 May;17.
- Maher JP, Conroy DE. Daily Life Satisfaction in Older Adults as a Function of (In)Activity. Journals Gerontol Ser B [Internet]. 2017 Jul 1;72(4):593–602. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbv086
- O'Neill C, Dogra S. Different Types of Sedentary Activities and Their Association With Perceived Health and Wellness Among Middle-Aged and Older Adults: A Cross-Sectional Analysis. Am J Heal Promot. 2016;30(5):314–22.
- Wrosch C, Sabiston CM. Goal adjustment, physical and sedentary activity, and well-being and health among breast cancer survivors. Psychooncology [Internet]. 2013 Mar;22(3):581–9. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cin20&AN=104243502&site=eh ost-live
- 24. Knowles O, Gastin P, Kremer P. Time use and health and wellbeing outcomes of sport school students in Australia. Sport Sci Health [Internet]. 2017 Aug;13(2):427–35. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sph&AN=124376671&site=ehost -live
- 25. Kremer P, Elshaug C, Leslie E, Toumbourou JW, Patton GC, Williams J. Physical

activity, leisure-time screen use and depression among children and young adolescents. J Sci Med Sport [Internet]. 2014 Mar;17(2):183–7. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1544981676?accountid=15115

- Vallance JK, Boyle T, Courneya KS, Lynch BM. Accelerometer-assessed physical activity and sedentary time among colon cancer survivors: associations with psychological health outcomes. J Cancer Surviv. 2015 Sep;9(3):404–11.
- Jones F, O'Connor DB, Conner M, McMillan B, Ferguson E. Impact of daily mood, work hours, and iso-strain variables on self-reported health behaviors. J Appl Psychol. 2007 Nov;92(6):1731–40.
- Hrafnkelsdottir SM, Brychta RJ, Rognvaldsdottir V, Gestsdottir S, Chen KY, Johannsson E, et al. Less screen time and more frequent vigorous physical activity is associated with lower risk of reporting negative mental health symptoms among Icelandic adolescents. PLoS One. 2018 Apr;13(4).
- 29. Kim Y, Barry VW, Kang M. Validation of the ActiGraph GT3X and activPAL accelerometers for the assessment of sedentary behavior. Meas Phys Educ Exerc Sci [Internet]. 2015 Jul;19(3):125–37. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgi-bin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1710262016?accountid=15115
- 30. Ku P-W, Fox KR, Chen L-J, Chou P. Physical activity, sedentary time and subjective well-being in Taiwanese older adults. Int J Sport Psychol [Internet]. 2011 Jun;42(3). Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgi-bin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/926885306?accountid=15115
- 31. Prince SA, Cardilli L, Reed JL, Saunders TJ, Kite C, Douillette K, et al. A comparison of self-reported and device measured sedentary behaviour in adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2020;17(1):1–17.
- 32. Munn Z, Peters MDJ, Stern C, Tufanaru C, McArthur A, Aromataris E. Systematic review or scoping review? Guidance for authors when choosing between a systematic or scoping review approach. BMC Med Res Methodol [Internet]. 2018;18(1):143. Available from:

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0611-x

- Depp CA, Schkade DA, Thompson WK, Jeste D V. Age, affective experience, and television use. Am J Prev Med. 2010 Aug;39(2):173–8.
- 34. Iannotti RJ, Janssen I, Haug E, Kololo H, Annaheim B, Borraccino A. Interrelationships of adolescent physical activity, screen-based sedentary behaviour, and social and psychological health. Int J Public Health. 2009 Sep;54 Suppl 2:191–8.
- Iannotti RJ, Kogan MD, Janssen I, Boyce WF. Patterns of Adolescent Physical Activity, Screen-Based Media Use, and Positive and Negative Health Indicators in the US and Canada. J Adolesc Heal. 2009 May;44(5):493–9.
- Endrighi R, Steptoe A, Hamer M. The effect of experimentally induced sedentariness on mood and psychobiological responses to mental stress. Br J Psychiatry. 2016 Mar;208(3):245–51.
- Duvivier BMFM, Schaper NC, Koster A, van Kan L, Peters HPF, Adam JJ, et al. Benefits of Substitution Sitting with Standing and Walking in Free-living Conditions for Cardiometabolic Risk Markers, cognition and Mood in Overweight Adults. Front Physiol. 2017 Jun;8.
- 38. Eldridge SM, Lancaster GA, Campbell MJ, Thabane L, Hopewell S, Coleman CL, et al. Defining Feasibility and Pilot Studies in Preparation for Randomised Controlled Trials: Development of a Conceptual Framework. Lazzeri C, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2016 Mar 15;11(3):e0150205. Available from: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0150205

Chapter 2

2 Study 1 – Relationships between indices of sedentary behavior and hedonic well-being: A scoping review

2.1 Rationale

Individuals' subjective evaluations of their own well-being (i.e., subjective well-being; SWB) have important implications for their objective¹ and self-reported health², as well as overall longevity³. SWB is typically conceptualized as either hedonic well-being or eudaimonic well-being⁴. Hedonic well-being describes optimal well-being as a product of maximizing both state and trait positive emotions or mood while minimizing negative emotions or mood (i.e., affect), while also experiencing a high satisfaction with life⁵. In contrast, eudaimonic well-being examines SWB as a subjective evaluation of one's aliveness and vitality⁶, and is interested in outcomes such as self-actualization, vitality, and mental health⁴.

The multifaceted nature of SWB implicates multiple influencers on SWB (e.g., variables that could impact one's affect). Hence, considerable research is devoted to understanding which behaviors – in particular, health behaviors – have a beneficial or detrimental effect on SWB⁷. Notably, the bulk of research examining health behaviors and SWB addresses 'purposeful' health behaviors, or health behaviors that are engaged in through conscious effort. These often include: engaging in MVPA, dietary behaviors, smoking, and sleep⁷. For example, greater levels of moderate-to-vigorous physical activity (MVPA) are associated with greater hedonic well-being¹, improved affect⁸ and higher life satisfaction⁹. However, engagement in MVPA may make its effects more salient for individuals; the physiological effects of exercise, for instance, are proposed as a mechanism to explain associated improvements in SWB¹. Conversely, the relationship between SWB and sedentary behavior (SB) is less understood and demonstrates equivocal findings^{10,11}. These conflicting findings can be explained, in part, through issues in defining SB, heterogeneity among measures of SB, and a lack of delineation between hedonic and eudaimonic well-being.

Among studies that examine SB and SWB, few actually measure SB. Sedentary behavior is defined as any behavior that is: (i) waking, (ii) expends ≤ 1.5 Metabolic Equivalents, and (iii) is

performed in a seated, lying, or reclining posture¹². Importantly, consensus on the current definition of SB is relatively new, and as such, the bulk of existing literature does not operationalize SB in accordance with this definition. For example, several studies that assess 'sedentary time' are in fact measuring physical inactivity (i.e., failing to meet physical activity guidelines¹³) or inactivity (i.e., the lack of physical activity¹⁴). For the purposes of this review, we will refer to both physical inactivity and inactivity as physical inactivity (PI). Although SB and PI do not overlap precisely (e.g., standing and sleeping are PI, but not SB), they do describe many of the same behaviors (e.g., sitting, lying, reclining). Similarly, some studies use specific contexts of SB as a proxy for sedentary time, such as the measurement of time spent during screen-based activities (e.g., TV, computer use). Hence, it is important to delineate between SB and PI as well as identify salient SB contexts, like screen time, when examining relations between SB and SWB.

The instruments used to measure SB present as another issue, even among studies that examine SB as currently defined. Sedentary behavior can be assessed either objectively through inclinometers (i.e., activity trackers that can distinguish between postures), or as a self-reported measure through instruments that specifically assess sitting behaviors (e.g., total, domainspecific). Despite both of these methods assessing SB, there is limited overlap between the types of SB these instruments capture. Objective measures demonstrate validity and reliability in tracking free-living SB, such as total time spent sitting or standing, and number of sit-to-stand transitions¹⁵. However, objective measures are unable to distinguish between contexts or domains of sitting behavior (e.g., classifying screen time vs. occupational sitting). Conversely, some self-report instruments prompt respondents to divide their SB into different domains¹⁶, in addition to assessing total SB. While self-reported instruments are subject to desirability bias (e.g., individuals tend to underreport their SB by approximately 2 hours/day¹⁷), the importance in identifying the context of sitting behavior is especially pronounced with respect to SWB, as several studies allude to the presence of a domain-specific effect of sitting on SWB¹⁸. Thus, examining both objective and self-reported measures of SB may provide a distinct yet complementary picture of the relationship(s) between SB and SWB.

Lastly, the lack of discernment between hedonic well-being or eudaimonic well-being among studies examining SB and SWB is a concern. While several principles of hedonic and

eudaimonic well-being are correlated (e.g., positive affect and functioning), they represent distinctive concepts ⁴. As such, findings from studies examining aspects of hedonic well-being cannot be interpreted interchangeably with eudaimonic well-being, and vice-versa, with the exception of instruments that assess both types of well-being (e.g., Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale¹⁹; WEMWBS). Given that many studies examining SWB and SB examine outcomes of hedonic well-being (i.e., affect, life satisfaction) – particularly large-scale cross-sectional and longitudinal work²⁰ – hedonic well-being should be the focus when examining this relationship.

With these issues in mind, a scoping review was undertaken to synthesize, describe, and map an overall description of the existing evidence examining the relationship(s) between objective and subjective indices of SB (i.e., SB, PI, and screen time) and outcomes of hedonic well-being (i.e., affect, life satisfaction, and overall hedonic well-being). Owing to the broad scope of the search criteria and the aim of the present review, a scoping review was justified as the most appropriate methodology²¹.

2.2 Methods

This study was guided by the PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews²² (PRISMA-ScR). The PRISMA-ScR checklist can be found in *Appendix A*. No review protocol was created for the present review.

2.2.1 Eligibility Criteria

Eligible studies met the following criteria: (i) peer-reviewed journal article or thesis dissertation; (ii) published from earliest database entry year to May 29th, 2019; (iii) included a measure of SB or proxy of SB (i.e., PI, screen time); (iv) included a measure of hedonic well-being or outcome of hedonic well-being (i.e., affect, life satisfaction, hedonic well-being); (v) examined a relationship between some measure of SB and some measure of hedonic well-being; and (vi) written in English.

Quantitative, mixed-methods, and qualitative studies were included to place emphasis on the broad scope of the review. For this reason, multiple types of study design, data analyses, and

outcome measures were accepted. Similarly, all age groups were included in order to examine potential age-related differences in types of SB and outcomes of hedonic well-being.

Papers were excluded (i) if the presence of a measure of hedonic well-being or SB could not be distinguished in the data analysis or results and (ii) they only examined quality of life/healthrelated quality of life, or other forms of well-being not directly hedonic well-being/outcome of hedonic well-being (e.g., physical well-being, social well-being). Importantly, for the purposes of this review, inclusion of a measure of physical activity was not the same as a measure of PI; physical activity as an outcome concerned with the level and intensity of movement behaviors (e.g., moderate exercise), whereas PI also encompasses a measure of the lack of physical activity, and/or the volume thereof. For instance, reporting 30 minutes of total daily physical activity is not equivalent to reporting 23.5 hours of daily PI, since sleep behaviors are unaccounted for.

2.2.2 Information Sources

The following databases were searched to identify potentially relevant documents: PubMed, SCOPUS, Web of Science, PsycINFO, Nursing and Allied Health Database, CINAHL, SPORTDISCUS, and Physical Education Index. All searches were run from the earliest possible entry date for that particular database to May 29th, 2019. Search strategies were co-developed with a librarian at the host institution and further refined through team discussion. The reference lists of pertinent reviews and articles were also scanned for relevant articles.

2.2.3 Search Strategy

Final search string queries for each database can be found in *Appendix B*. The search strategy for PubMed was as follows: ("sedentary behavior" OR "sedentary behaviour" OR inactivity) AND ("life satisfaction" OR "satisfaction with life" OR "well-being" OR affect OR "wellness" OR "quality of life").

2.2.4 Selection of Sources of Evidence

All searched articles were placed into a group folder in Mendeley (v1.19.4). To calibrate the screening process, the first and second author screened a random 10 sets of 10 consecutive articles within the list of searched articles (alphabetized, duplicates removed) together to

determine screening calibration criteria. The screening calibration criteria were based upon agreement with two questions: "Did the study include a measure of hedonic well-being?" and "Did the study include a measure of sedentary behavior?". Calibration criteria development revealed common permutations of hedonic well-being outcomes to be marked for closer examination, including: 'mood(s)', 'happiness', 'well-being', 'feelings', 'emotion(s)', and 'sadness'. Similarly, common substitutes for sedentary behavior included: 'inactivity', 'sedentary time', 'sitting', 'screen time', 'screen use', 'screen watching', and 'posture'.

Upon calibration, the first and second author each screened through half of the remaining searched records by title and abstract. Irrelevant articles were removed at the discretion of the reviewer. Articles that were deemed worthy of further examination or articles deemed unclear for inclusion were marked. Upon completing their designated half of articles, each reviewer then screened the marked articles of the other reviewer for inclusion. Inconsistencies between screened articles were resolved through discussion and consensus between the first and second author. Upon excluding the screened articles, the first author and second author examined each study together to determine inclusion for analysis. There were no disagreements regarding inclusion of eligible studies – however, if there were, the third author would have been consulted for consensus.

2.2.5 Data Charting Process

The data charting table was adapted from a previous review by author one and author three²³. Author one independently charted the data, while iteratively updating the data charting process as unforeseen, but relevant, data emerged. Author two reviewed and confirmed data charting after author one had completed the process. Owing to the broad scope of the present review, no standardized data abstraction tool was developed or used. Rather, studies were parsed for relevant data regarding the primary outcomes and descriptive characteristics.

2.2.6 Data Items

For each study selected, the following data were extracted and tabulated: country of origin; sample representativeness (i.e., regional, national); sample size and inclusion criteria (where available); study design; outcome of SB and hedonic well-being examined; name and description of the instrument or item(s) used to evaluate sedentary/well-being outcome; how the instrument of SB/well-being was scored and/or analyzed; and main findings (i.e., relationship between sedentary outcome and well-being outcome). Correlations, effect sizes, regression means, confidence intervals, *p*-values, and other relevant statistics were included when provided.

2.2.7 Synthesis of Results

Results are described narratively and are grouped by the index of SB (i.e., objectively-measured SB, self-reported SB, objectively-measured PI, self-reported PI, and screen time). Findings are also presented in a pinwheel (see *Figure 2*), which was adapted from a previous review²⁴. The pinwheel provides at-a-glance interpretation of the results of included studies. Green boxes represent a positive relationship between a sedentary outcome and well-being outcome; red boxes indicate a negative relationship between a sedentary outcome and well-being outcome; and yellow boxes indicate no observed relationship or a null relationship between a sedentary outcome as sedentary outcome and well-being outcomes. Finally, the bordering of the boxes indicates the design of the included study: a dashed line border represents a cross-sectional design; a thin solid border represents a longitudinal design; and a thick solid border represents an experimental design.

2.3 Results





2.3.1 Selection of Sources of Evidence

The PRISMA Flow Diagram²⁵ of the present review can be found in *Figure 1*.

2.3.2 Characteristics of Sources of Evidence

Overall, 46 studies met eligibility criteria and are presented in this review^{10,11,14,18,20,26–66}. Of these, 27 studies^{10,18,39–41,45–47,50,51,53,54,20,55,56,58–60,62,64,26,33–38} (58,70%) utilized a cross-sectional design, $14^{11,14,61,63,65,66,28,29,32,42,43,49,52,57}$ (30,43%) used a longitudinal design, and $5^{27,30,31,44,48}$

(10.87%) used an experimental design. All experimental study designs were randomized. The majority of these studies were from the $US^{18,26,49,53,60-62,65,66,28,29,31,33,35,42-44}$ (n = 17). followed by Canada^{10,11,35–37,54–56} (n = 8), and the UK^{14,30,32,46,50,57} (n = 6), with less than 5 studies coming from the Netherlands, Luxembourg, Spain, Finland, Poland, Australia, Korea, Iran, Brazil, China, and Iceland. Sample sizes ranged from 127⁶⁶ to 204,534²⁰ for cross-sectional studies; 82⁴⁹ to $2,038^{32}$ for longitudinal studies; and 24^{27} to 264^{48} for experimental studies. Special populations examined included children and adolescents^{18,20,45,49,52,58,59,34-41} (n = 15), older adults^{32,42,47,55,57,65} (n = 6), and cancer survivors^{11,54,56} (n = 3). In terms of sedentary outcomes, 3 studies (6.52%) measured SB objectively^{27,42,46}, 10 (21.74%) measured self-reported SB^{10,11,31,33,39,42,43,48,55,64}, 11 (23.91%) measured PI objectively^{18,28,65,29,30,43,44,54,56,57,61}, 6 (13.04%) measured self-reported PI^{14,47,53,62,63,66}, and 18 (39.13%) measured some form of screen time^{20,26,45,49–52,58–60,32,34–38,40,41}. In terms of outcomes of hedonic well-being, 10 studies (21.74%) assessed both positive and negative affect^{11,14,26,28,31,33,44,49,61,66}, 4 (8.70%) assessed solely positive affect^{18,27,39,41}, 4 (8.70%) assessed solely negative affect^{29,30,40,59}, 24 (52.17%) assessed life satisfaction^{10,20,45,47,51,53–59,26,62–65,34–38,42,43}, and 5 (10.87%) assessed hedonic wellbeing^{32,46,48,50,52}. Every study examined the relationship between SB and hedonic well-being quantitatively.

2.3.3 Results of Sources of Evidence

Results of sources of evidence can be found in *Table 1* and *Figure 2*.

Pinwheel Number	Study	Country (National or Regional)	Sample (n=)	Design/Intervention	Sedentary Behavior Outcome	Hedonic Well-Being Outcome	Results
1.22	Bampton, Johnson and Vallance, 2015	Canada (Regional)	Older adults ≥55 years of age free from chronic medical or orthopedic conditions that may preclude resistance training (n = 358)	Cross-Sectional: Participants completed a mailed questionnaire.	Sedentary Behavior (Self-Reported): Assessed using the Total and Domain Specific Measure of Sitting (TDSMS; Marshall et al., 2014). Five items assessing time spent sitting (hours and minutes) on a typical day during the past week. Domains of: Transportation, occupation, TV, home computer use, and non- screen time leisure sitting. Sedentary scores dichotomized into low SED (<482 total min/day) and high SED (≥482 total min/day) group.	Life Satisfaction: Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS; Diener et al., 1985). Five items on a 7-point Likert scale assessing satisfaction with life, with scores ranging from 5 to 35, with lower values indicating lower life satisfaction.	Compared to a high SED/low RT (resistance training) group, higher scores were observed in both the low SED/low RT (Mdiff = 2.8, $p = 0.022$) and low SED/high RT (Mdiff = 4.3, p <0.001) groups.

 Table 1: Table and summary of included evidence.

262	Barile, Mitchell, Thompson, Zack, Reeve, Cella, and Smith, 2015	US (National)	Adults (n = 4,184)	Cross-Sectional: Data were drawn from the summer wave of Porter Novelli's 2010 HealthStyles database. Participants were mailed a survey.	Physical Inactivity (Self-Reported): Assessed the number of days per week in a "usual week" and number of minutes per day that participants reported engaging in either vigorous or moderate physical activity, as well as days per week they performed muscle- strengthening activities. Sedentary time was categorized based on federal guidelines (i.e., sedentary = 0 min/week of physical activity).	Life Satisfaction: Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS). Four items* on a 7-point Likert scale assessing satisfaction with life, with scores ranging from 4 to 21, with lower values indicating lower life satisfaction. *The full SWLS uses 5 items.	Those in the physical and mental health conditions class (PMHCC) reported being more sedentary (31.4%) compared to the healthy class (HC; 12.8%), physical health conditions class (PHCC; 21.8%), and the mental health conditions class (MHCC; 15.7%). Those in the PMHCC reported significantly lower life satisfaction scores ($p < 0.05$) than all other classes.
363	Baumann, Tchicaya, Lorentz and Le Bihan, 2017	Luxembourg (National)	Patients admitted for a coronary angiography (n = 1,289)	Longitudinal: Data collected as part of the Monitoring and Dynamics of Health Status through Risk Factors for Cardiovascular Disease (MDYNRFC) project (2008/2009 cohort). Baseline (post-coronary angiography) and follow-up (5 years post-coronary angiography).	Physical Inactivity (Self-Reported): Assessed the average number of minutes per week of physical activity. Dichotomized to yes/no for meeting physical activity guidelines.	Life Satisfaction: Single-item self-reported question: 'All things considered, how satisfied would you say you are with your life these days? Please tell me on a scale of 1 to 10, where 1 means very dissatisfied and 10 means very satisfied'. Dichotomized to high life satisfaction (LS; \geq 7) or low LS (<7).	Longitudinal changes in physical activity were significantly linked to low LS. The presence of low physical activity at both timepoints was associated with a lower LS, compared to adequate physical activity at both timepoints (OR = 0.469, p < 0.001).
464	Buck, Loyen, Foraita, Van Cauwenburg, De Craemer, Mac Donncha, Oppert, Burg, Lien, Cardon, Pigeot, Chastin and Consortium, 2019	Europe	EU Citizens aged 15 or older (n = 23,865)	Cross-Sectional: Data collected as part of the Eurobarometer survey, wave 80.2. Participants completed a questionnaire.	Sedentary Behavior (Self-Reported): International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ) - one item assessing sitting time on a typical weekday: "During the last 7 days, how much time did you spend sitting on a week day?" Responses categorized into: '1h or less up to 2h 30min'; '2h 31min up to 4h 30min'; '4h 31min up to 7h 30min'; '7h 31min up to 8h 30min or more'. Participants were considered 'inactive' for reporting 0 minutes per week of either moderate physical activity or vigorous physical activity.	Life Satisfaction: Single-item question derived from a 4- point Likert scale in the Eurobarometer questioning ("On the whole, how satisfied or not are you with the life you lead?"). Responses dichotomized to 'satisfied' (i.e., 'very' or 'fairly') or 'not satisfied' ('not very' or 'not at all').	Through Bayesian network analysis, life satisfaction was found to be indirectly associated with SB through occupation for young males (ages 15-25) and adult males (ages 26- 44); life satisfaction was strongly associated with the type of occupation, while increased sedentary behavior was also associated with certain occupations (e.g.,. 'employed position working at a desk or traveling'). Life satisfaction was also indirectly associated with sedentary behavior through the availability of recreational facilities in older adult females (ages 65+); greater availability of recreational facilities leads to improved life satisfaction and lower sedentary behavior.
-----	--	--------	---	---	--	---	--
-----	--	--------	---	---	--	---	--

565	Buman, Hekler, Haskell, Pruitt, Conway, Cain, Sallis, Saelens, Frank, and King, 2010	US (Regional)	Older adults aged 66 or older and able to walk ≥10 feet alone with or without assistive devices (n = 975)	Longitudinal: Data collected as part of the Senior Neighbourhood Quality of Life Study. Participants were mailed an accelerometer and survey at baseline. They wore the accelerometer for 7 days and then completed the survey at baseline and mailed the materials back. Six months later they were mailed the accelerometer and survey again, and wore the accelerometer for 7 days, followed by completing the survey before again mailing back the materials.	Physical Inactivity (Objective): Objective data derived from an Actigraph accelerometer. Sedentary time was operationalized as periods of time with <100 counts/minute.	Life Satisfaction: Single-item question on a 5-point Likert scale ("All things considered, how satisfied are you with your life as a whole?"; Andrews & Withey, 1976). Responses categorized from 1 ('very dissatisfied') to 5 ('very satisfied'). Life satisfaction measure grouped into a psychosocial well-being item for analysis.	Physical inactivity time was modestly, but negatively, associated with psycho-social well- being (β = -0.03, 95% CI: [-0.05, - 0.01]).
6 ⁶⁶	Dalton, 2018	US (Regional)	Undergraduate students (n = 127)	Longitudinal : Baseline assessment followed by online daily diary entries for the following 14 consecutive days	Physical Inactivity (Self-Reported): Daily exercise levels assessed through a single-question: 'Did you exercise today?'. If participants answered 'yes', they were prompted to respond to the question "What type of exercise did you engage in?", with options '1 = Mild/Gentle', '2 = Moderate', '3 = Vigorous' and 'For how	Affect: Daily negative and positive affect assessed using the brief version of the Positive and Negative Affect Scales (PANAS; Watson, Clark & Tellegan, 1988), a 20- item questionnaire where participants rate the extent they feel 20 different emotions and a 5-point Likert scale from 1 ('very slightly or not at all') to 5 ('extremely'). Affect scores can range from 10-50, with scores indicating more affect in that domain	Daily negative affect ($b = 0.03$, $SE = 0.01$, p < 0.01) and daily positive affect ($b = -$ 0.02, $SE = 0.01$, $p < 0.01$) were both weak predictors of daily maladaptive health behaviors. Changes to daily negative affect ($b =$ 0.02, $SE = 0.01$, $p =0.01$) and changes to daily positive affect ($b = -0.02$, $SE =$

		many minutes did you exercise?'. Sedentary time was classified as responding 'no' to the question.	0.01, $p < 0.01$) were also weak predictors of daily maladaptive health behaviors.
		Sedentary time was grouped into a composite score of "maladaptive health behaviors" along with consumption of fats and sweets at or above recommended daily intake levels (per World Health Organization 2015 guidelines), alcohol and cigarette use, and inadequate (or too much) sleep.	

	Jepp, Schkade, Thompson, and Jeste, 2010	(National)	years (n = 3,968)	Participants were recruited through random-digit dialing and were then interviewed. Participants were asked to detail their previous day and divide their day into 'episodes'.	screen time: fifthe spent engaged in TV watching was assessed as a percentage of sampled time. Percentage of sampled time was calculated as duration engaged in the activity divided by summed duration of all sampled activities within each age strata.	 Affect: Respondents were asked the extent to which they experienced six different feelings (i.e., happy, interested, sad, stressed, in pain, and tired), on a Likert-type scale from 0 ('not at all') to 6 ('very strong'), in response to an activity from their previous day. Only the feelings of happy, sad, and stressed were analysed. Life Satisfaction: Overall life satisfaction was assessed with a single question ("In general, how satisfied are you with your life?") on a scale from 1 ('not at all satisfied') to 4 ('very satisfied'). Life satisfaction dichotomized to lower life satisfaction ('not at all satisfied', 'satisfied') and higher life satisfaction ('very satisfied'). 	significant main effect of TV with greater experienced sadness (estimate = - 0.121, SD = 0.04 , $p= 0.003).Generalized EstimateEquation analysesindicated TVwatching was morecommon amongparticipants with lowlife satisfaction.$
--	--	------------	-------------------	---	--	---	---

	Schaper, Koster, van Kan, Peters, Adam, Giesbrecht, Kornips, Hulsbosch, Willems, Hesselink, Schrauwen and Savelberg, 2017	(Regional)	with a BMI between 25 and 35 kg/m2 reporting <2.5h/week of MVPA (n = 24)	Randomized cross- over design. Two groups of four day interventions with a ten-day washout period between conditions. Sit regimen intervention: Participants were instructed to restrict walking and standing to ≤ 1 h/day each, spending the remainder of the waking day sitting. Sitless regimen intervention: Participants were instructed to substitute at least 7 h/day of sitting with ≥ 4 h of self- perceived light walking and ≥ 3 h of standing; and to interrupt sitting preferably every 30 min with standing/walking bouts. Subjects were instructed to walk at a self-perceived light-intensity.	(Objective): Physical activity and posture allocation were measured objectively for 24 h/day using an activPAL3 activity monitor.	assessed with the Affect Grid test; which is a 19×19 single- item measure, assessing the self-reported degree of pleasantness and arousal of the participants (Russell et al., 1989).	regimens, measurements of mood were performed both before the Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (OGTT) in the fasted state, as well as after an OGTT. Before the OGTT, pleasantness was not different between the activity regimens for the total group, although a non- significant improvement ($p =$ 0.059) was observed in women after SitLess vs. Sit (estimated change 2.20, 95% CI: [– 0.08–4.48], n = 10). After the OGTT, pleasantness was significantly higher after SitLess vs. Sit (1.67, 95% CI: [0.09, -3.25], n = 21) in the total group; this could mainly be explained by a significant difference in pleasantness in the female subjects after SitLess vs. Sit (2.80, 95% CI: [0.52, – 5.08], n = 10).
--	--	------------	---	--	---	--	--

9 ²⁸	Elavsky, Kishida and Mogle, 2016	US (Regional)	Community-dwelling perimenopausal and postmenopausal women age 40-60 who have not used hormone therapy in the last six months (n = 121)	Longitudinal: Participants completed daily diaries assessing momentary affect and objective sedentary behavior over 15-days.	Physical Inactivity (Objective): Objectively-measured sedentary behavior was measured using the Actilife GT1M accelerometer. Sedentary minutes were operationalized as periods of 0 to 99 counts per minute	Affect: 10-item Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS) with wording adopted for momentary assessment. Respondents indicated on their current feelings on a 0 to 100 scale ranging from 'not at all' to 'extremely'. Responses were averaged	Momentary (-0.08, SE = 0.01, $p < 0.05$) and daily (-0.11, SE = 0.02, $p < 0.05$) physical inactivity were independently related to lower positive affect but not to negative affect. Greater momentary (-0.31, SE = 0.04, $p < 0.05$)
					counts per minute.	across the positive and negative affect items, respectively.	SE = 0.04, $p < 0.05$) and daily (-0.33, SE = 0.06, $p < 0.05$) positive affect predicted fewer inactive minutes. Higher levels of daily negative affect were significantly related to more minutes of physical inactivity (0.35, SE = 0.17, $p < 0.01$).
							Lagged momentary physical inactivity significantly predicted positive affect (-0.04, SE = 0.01, p < 0.05); greater physical inactivity at the previous was related to less positive affect at the next moment.

1029	Ellingson, Meyer, Shook, Dixon, Hand, Wirth, Paluch, Burgess, Hebert, and Blair, 2018	US (Regional)	Healthy adults aged 21-35 with a BMI between 20 and 35 kg/m2 with no history of depression, anxiety, or panic disorder (n = 271)	Longitudinal: Participants completed baseline demographics and then wore an accelerometer for 10-day activity monitoring. All measures repeated 1 year after baseline.	Physical Inactivity (Objective): Physical inactivity time was objectively measured using the SenseWear Mini Armband (SWA; BodyMedia Inc. Pittsburgh, PA). Tri- axial accelerometer worn on the arm 24 hours a day for 10 consecutive days, except during water- based activities. Sedentary time calculated as total time spent ≤ 1.5 METs while awake. Sedentary time was divided into time accumulated in bouts of ≥ 30 minutes or < 30 minutes. Groups were categorized by sedentary hours/day: <10.5, 10.5-12, and >12.	Affect (Negative): Profile of Mood States (POMS) - A 65- item self-reported questionnaire assessing affect over the past week. All subscales were used (i.e., tension, depression, anger, vigor, fatigue, and confusion). A summary score of total mood disturbance (TMD) was calculated: TMD; tension + depression + anger + fatigue + confusion – vigor + 100.	Change in physically inactive time significantly predicted changes in TMD (Std. $\beta = 0.23$, p = 0.001) with more physical inactivity at time 2 leading to higher TMD. Change in physical inactivity time significantly predicted changes in the depression (Std. $\beta = 0.19, p = 0.009$), anger (Std. $\beta = 0.18, p = 0.009$), anger (Std. $\beta = 0.18, p = 0.003$), and confusion (Std. $\beta = 0.21, p = 0.003$) subscale, with more physical inactivity at time 2 leading to poorer subscale scores. Baseline physical inactivity time significantly predicted changes in the depression (Std. $\beta = 0.14, p = 0.049$) and anger (Std. $\beta = 0.24, p = 0.001$) subscales.
------	--	------------------	--	---	---	--	---

	Endrighi, Septoe and Hamer, 2016	UK (Regional)	Adults aged 18 to 35 years who are regularly active (\geq 3 1-hour sessions of MVPA per week), have a BMI between 19 and 25 kg/m2, not on any regular medication, and non- smoker (n = 43)	Experimental: Randomized cross- over design. Participants each completed two two- week conditions. Two conditions: Intervention (sedentary) - In the sedentary condition, participants were instructed to replace any daily structured or unstructured form of physical activity by being sedentary, and were encouraged to be sedentary as much as possible. Control (free-living): In the control condition, participants were instructed to maintain their habitual levels of daily activity.	Physical Inactivity (Objective): Sedentary time was objectively measured using the ActiGraph GT1M. Tri- axial accelerometer was required to be worn around participants' waist as instructed every day after waking and until bedtime, and only remove it briefly when showering or swimming. A minimum of 10 hours of wear time per day was considered valid. Sedentary time was defined through the cutoff of <190 counts/minute. Sedentary time was computed as daily time minus daily total active time.	Affect (Negative): Profile of Mood States Short Form (POMS-SF) - A 37-item self- reported questionnaire assessing affect over the past week. All subscales were used (i.e., tension, depression, anger, vigor, fatigue, and confusion). A negative mood mean score was computed by adding the five negative mood subscales and subtracting vigor/activity (range 0-100), with higher scores reflecting greater negative affective states.	Pairwise comparison revealed that sitting time increased by an average of 31.49 min/day (SE = 12.13, p = 0.01) during the sedentary condition. The sedentary intervention resulted in increases in negative mood across all subscales ($p \le 0.05$). The increase in physical inactivity time was significantly associated with the POMS negative mood score ($\beta =$ 0.32 , $R^2 = 0.10$, $p =$ 0.03), and this association persisted after controlling for changes in MVPA ($\beta =$ 0.32, $p = 0.05$). MVPA was not associated with the POMS ($\beta = -0.003$, $p =$ 0.98).
--	--	------------------	--	--	---	--	--

12 ³¹	Finch, Tomiyama, and Ward, 2017	US (Regional)	Adults aged 18 and older with no reported current major pathological disorder (n= 96)	Experimental: Randomized counterbalanced trial. Participants completed a single- visit, of one of 32 possible conditions (two postures x (two tests x two sections to each test). Two postures: Stand while completing tests (~30 min.) and Sit while completing tests (~30 min.).	Sedentary Behavior (Self-Reported): Sedentary time was assessed using the International Physical Activity Questionnaire Short Form (IPAQ- SF); specifically "During the last 7 days, how much time did you spend sitting on a week day?". Sedentary time was divided into tertiles of low, moderate, and high sitting time (median = 7.00 h/day, IQR = 2.38). Distinctions between sedentary behavior and non-sedentary behavior (i.e., sitting and standing) are implied as part of the intervention.	Affect: Modified Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS) - included an abbreviated list of 16 emotions to minimize participant fatigue, as this instrument was delivered 4 times during the visit Omitted emotions (guilty, scared, strong, hostile, proud, irritable, ashamed, and afraid, excited, attentive, and active). Added the items "stressed," "tired," "comfortable," "distracted," and "focused," which were expected to be more relevant to work-related tasks.	Participants reported feeling more interested ($M = 3.09$, SD= 1.37 vs. $M =$ 2.81, SD = 1.40, $p =$ 0.008), enthusiastic ($M = 2.05$, SD = 1.19 vs. $M = 1.90$, SD = 1.18, $p = 0.025$), and alert ($M = 3.66$, SD = 1.47 vs. $M = 3.40$, SD = 1.58, $p =$ 0.044) for the reading comprehension section that they stood for versus sat for. Participants reported feeling more comfortable while sitting rather than standing for both the reading comprehension ($M =$ 3.88, SD = 1.40 vs. M = 3.41, SD = 1.34 , $p = 0.001$) and creativity tests ($M =$ 4.25, SD = 1.33 vs. M = 3.83, SD = 1.33, p = 0.002). No other body position effects on mood were found for the reading comprehension or creativity tests for
							mood were found for the reading comprehension or creativity tests for the remaining emotions: focused, inspired, motivated, determined, stressed, anxious, nervous,

							tired, jittery, distracted, distressed, and upset.
13 ³²	Hamer, Yates, Sherar, Clemes, and Shankar, 2016	UK (National)	Participants who previously participated in "The 1970 British Cohort Study (BCS70)" (n = 2,038)	Longitudinal: Participants aged 16 were drawn from the 1970 British Cohort Study and were assessed again at age 42.	Screen Time: At the first timepoint (i.e., age 16), respondents were asked three separate questions about time spent in three types of screen based, sedentary activities (TV, Games, Films) "after school yesterday". Options were 'none at all', 'less than 1 h', '>1 h', '>2 h', '>3 h', '>4 h', and '>5'. Values were recoded to 0-6, and were summed across the three categories to estimate total screen time. At the second	Hedonic Well-Being: Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-being Scale (WEMWBS). Fourteen-item scale comprising of positively worded items that assess mental well-being (i.e., hedonic and eudaimonic well- being), with scores ranging from 14 to 70. Higher scores indicates greater mental well- being. Mental Well-Being was assessed at the second timepoint (i.e., age 42) only.	Adjusting for covariates, adolescents reporting >3 h of after school screen time had -1.74 (95% CI: [-2.65,- 0.83]) WEMWBS points at 42 years, compared with adolescents reporting <1 h screen time. Respondents that reported \geq 3 hours/day of screen time at age 16 and \geq 3 hours/day of TV viewing at age 42 demonstrated the lowest wellbeing scores (-2.91, 95% CI: [-4.12, -1.69]).

					timepoint (i.e., age 42), respondents indicated how many hours they spent watching TV per day. Options were 'none', ' $0 \le 1$ ', $1 < 3$ ', ' $3 < 5$ ', and ' ≥ 5 '.		
14 ³³	Hogan, Catalino, Muta and Fredrickson, 2015	US (Regional)	Community-dwelling adults aged 19-65 years old (Study 1: n = 624; Study 2: n = 208)	Study 1 - Cross- Sectional: Participants completed an Internet-based survey. Study 2* - Longitudinal: A subset of participants from Study 1 were recruited; three months later, some of these participants completed a follow- up questionnaire (n = 142). *Study 2 did not examine an outcome of sedentary behavior and was not included.	Sedentary Behavior (Self-Reported): Sedentary time for Study 1 was assessed using the short version of the international physical activity questionnaire (IPAQ- SF); specifically "How much time per day do you spend sitting?". No sedentary behavior measure or operationalization was given for Study 2.	Affect: Differential Emotions Scale (mDES; Fredrickson, 2013). Nine positive emotions and ten negative emotions were rated on a five-point scale, with options of '1 - not at all' to '5 - most of the time'. Composite scores were calculated for positive and negative emotions by averaging across emotions in those two categories.	Results demonstrated sedentary behavior, controlling for physical activity, predicted less frequent positive emotions ($\beta =11$, $p =$ $.008$, $R^2 = .10$) and fewer psychosocial resources ($\beta =11$, $p =$ $.012$, $R^2 = .07$). Sedentary behavior, controlling for physical activity, did not predict negative emotions ($\beta = .001$, ns). Time spent sedentary, independent of physical activity, is associated with emotional experiences. A medium-sized (K^2 = .1407, 95% CI = [0.0687,

15 ³⁴	Hrafnkelsdottir, Brychta, Rognvaldsdottir, Gestsdottir, Chen, Johannsson, Guomundsdottir	Finland (Regional)	Students in tenth grade from six elementary schools in a metropolitan area (n = 315)	Cross-Sectional: Participants wore a wrist-worn accelerometer for 7 days, and completed self-administered augustionnairse and	Screen Time: Screen time was assessed by asking participants to report "How many hours per day on average; separately for weakdows and	Life Satisfaction: Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS), a measure of global cognitive judgements of satisfaction with one's life.	0.2116]) significant indirect effect between sedentary minutes and psychosocial resources, controlling for physical activity, was observed. Authors suggest "that sedentary behavior had an indirect effect on psychosocial resources through positive emotions, controlling for physical activityindependent of a person's physical activity, the higher their sedentary behavior, the lower their levels of positive emotions. After adjusting for covariates (i.e., sex, maternal education, % body fat), reporting less screen time was associated with a cignificantly.
	Guomundsdottir and Arngrimsson, 2018			questionnaires and body composition measures.	 weekdays and weekend-days they played computer games, watched TV/DVD/internet material, used the internet for web- browsing/Facebook/e- mail and other computer use". Each item was scored on a seven-point Likert scale, with the following response 	The scale contains 5 items rated on a 7-point Likert scale, with the following response options: 1 = "strongly disagree", 2 = "disagree", 3 = "somewhat disagree", 4 = "neither agree nor disagree", 5 = "somewhat agree", 6 = "agree", 7 = "strongly agree". A score of 20 represents a neutral point on the scale, with higher score indicating more satisfaction and lower score	with a significantly lower life dissatisfaction (RR = 0.38, 95% CI [0.20, 0.72]).

			1	
		options: $1 =$ "none", 2	indicating less satisfaction.	
		= "about 1/2 h", 3 = "1		
		up to 2 h", $4 = "2$ up to		
		3 h'', 5 = "3 up to 4 h'',		
		6 = "4 to 5 h" and 7 =		
		"more than 5 h".		
		Average daily hours		
		for each type of screen-		
		based activity were		
		computed, using the		
		midpoints for scoring		
		categories and		
		weighted averaged for		
		weekdays and		
		weekend-days		
		All screen-based		
		activities were then		
		summed for a total		
		daily screen time		
		(h/day) and		
		participants were		
		sorted into high and		
		low screen time groups		
		based on their relation		
		to the group median		
		value		
		value.		

16 ²⁰	Iannotti, Janssen, Haug, Kololo, Annahiem and Borraccino, 2009	International (41 countries)	Adolescents aged 11, 13, and 15 (n = 204,534)	Cross-Sectional: Self-report questionnaires were administered in school classrooms in each participating country and region as part of the "Health Behavior in School-Aged Children (HSBC)".	Screen Time: Two two-part questions asking number of hours spent per day watching television and using a computer during free time, on both weekdays and weekends. Values ranged from: 'none', '1/2 hour', '1' hour', '2 hours', '3 hours', '4 hours', '5 hours', '6 hours', and '7 or more hours'. Values were calculated and summed to create a screen-based media score.	Life Satisfaction: The Cantril Ladder - Participants indicated where they stood on a 10-point ladder with 0 being 'worst possible life' and 10 being the 'best possible life'. Values range from 10 (top of ladder = 'best possible life') to 0 (bottom of ladder = 'worst possible life').ts indicated where they stood on a 10-point ladder with 0 being 'worst possible life' and 10 being the 'best possible life'.	More frequent screen-based media use was associated with poorer Life Satisfaction (Regression coefficient range: - 0.09 to -0.03) in four regions (i.e., North America, Western Europe, Northern Europe, and Southern Europe).
17 ³⁵	Iannotti, Kogan, Janssen and Boyce, 2009	North America (Canada & USA)	North American adolescents from grades 6 to 10 (n = 22,084)	Cross-Sectional: Self-report questionnaires were administered in school classrooms in each participating country and region as part of the "Health Behavior in School-Aged Children (HSBC)".	Screen Time: Two two-part questions asking average number of hours per day spent watching television and using a computer during free time, on both weekdays and weekends. Values ranged from: 'none', '1/2 hour', '1' hour', '2 hours', '3 hours', '4 hours', '5 hours', '6 hours', and '7 or more hours'. Values were calculated and summed to create a screen-based media	Life Satisfaction: The Cantril Ladder - Participants indicated where they stood on a 10-point ladder with 0 being 'worst possible life' and 10 being the 'best possible life'. Values range from 10 (top of ladder = 'best possible life') to 0 (bottom of ladder = 'worst possible life').	Screen-based media exhibited a small significant negative correlation with life satisfaction ($r = -$ 0.07, $p < 0.001$). Screen-based media also significantly predicted life satisfaction (regression coefficient = -0.05, p < 0.001).

18 ³⁶	Janssen, 2016	Canada (National)	School-aged students from grade 6-10 (n = 20,122)	Cross-Sectional: Self-report questionnaires were administered in school classrooms in each participating country and region as part of the "Health Behavior in School-Aged Children (HSBC)".	Screen Time: Time spent playing sedentary video games on an average day was assessed with the following question: "How many hours a day, in your free time, do you usually spend playing games on a computer, games console, tablet (like iPad), smartphone or other electronic device (not including moving or fitness games)?" Participants indicated how much time they spent in each activity during weekdays and the weekend with the following response options: "None at all," "About half an hour a day," "About 1 hour," "About 2 hours," "About 5 hours," "About 7 or more hours a day." Average number of	Life Satisfaction: The Cantril Ladder - Participants indicated where they stood on a 10-point ladder with 0 being 'worst possible life' and 10 being the 'best possible life' and 10 being the 'best possible life'. Values range from 10 (top of ladder = 'best possible life') to 0 (bottom of ladder = 'worst possible life'). Scores of 8 or higher indicated a high life satisfaction.	Replacing 1 hour/day of sedentary video games with 1 hour/day of active video games would be associated with a 4% (95% CI: [2%- 7%]) increased probability of having higher life satisfaction.
					Average number of hours/day they engaged in each activity was calculated.		

19 ³⁷	Janssen, Roberts, and Thompson, 2017	Canada (National)	School-aged students from grade 6-10 (n = 21,821)	Cross-Sectional: Self-report questionnaires were administered in school classrooms in each participating country and region as part of the "Health Behavior in School-Aged Children (HSBC)".	Screen Time: Three two-part questions asking average number of hours per day spent watching television, playing sedentary video games, and using a computer during free time, on both weekdays and weekends. Values ranged from: 'none', '1/2 hour', '1' hour', '2 hours', '3 hours', '4 hours', '5 hours', '6 hours', and '7 or more hours'. Participants were grouped based on average daily screen time: those who did	Life Satisfaction: Measured using the Cantril Ladder, established tool with good psychometric properties that measures subjective well- being and overall happiness. Values range from 10 (top of ladder = Best possible life) to 0 (Bottom of ladder = Worst possible life).	Youth who met screen time guidelines demonstrated a <i>z</i> - score of 0.26 (SE = 0.04) for life satisfaction, compared to a <i>z</i> - score of -0.03 (SE = 0.02) for youth who did not meet screen time guidelines. After adjusting for covariates (including adherence to other guidelines), youth who met screen time guidelines demonstrated a <i>z</i> - score of -0.46 (SE=0.06) for life satisfaction,
					Participants were grouped based on average daily screen time: those who did		guidelines demonstrated a <i>z</i> - score of -0.46 (SE=0.06) for life satisfaction,
					meet screen time recommendation (i.e., ≤2.0 hours per day) and those who did not (>2.0 hours per day).		compared to a z- score of -0.62 (SE=0.05) for youth who did not meet screen time guidelines.

20 ¹⁴	Jones, O'Connor, Conner, McMillan, and Ferguson, 2007	UK (Regional)	Adults (n = 420)	Longitudinal: Participants completed an initial questionnaire, followed by a weekly 7-day diary for the following four week. A final questionnaire was completed after 4 weeks.	Physical Inactivity (Self-Reported): Participants were asked whether they had participated in any exercise that day, and if so, to describe the exercise. Daily physical activity options ranged from (Yes = 1, No = 0).	Affect: Daily mood measured using the shortened version of the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule. Participants assessed feelings of interest, distress, excitement, upset, inspired, determined, scared, jittery, enthusiastic and afraid. Values ranged from scale of 1 ('very slightly or not at all') to 5 ('extremely'). Means across the five positive and five negative items were separately calculated to give daily measures of PA and NA.	In men, but not women, likelihood to exercise was predicted by positive affect (regression coefficient = 0.10, SE = 0.05, $p = 0.05$) and negative affect (regression coefficient = -0.16, SE = 0.06, $p = 0.01$).
21 ³⁸	Kleszczewska, Szkutnik, Siedlecka, and Mazur, 2019	Poland (National)	School-aged students aged 14-18.5 (n = 3,693)	Cross-Sectional: Self-report questionnaires were administered in school classrooms in each participating country and region as part of the "Health Behavior in School-Aged Children (HSBC)".	Screen Time: Three two-part questions asking average number of hours per day spent watching television, playing sedentary video games, and using a computer during free time, on both weekdays and weekends. Values ranged from: 'none', '1/2 hour', '1' hours', '2 hours', '3 hours', '4 hours', '5 hours', '6 hours', and '7 or more hours'. Weighted averages of school days and weekend days were calculated.	Life Satisfaction: Measured using the Cantril Ladder, established tool with good psychometric properties that measures subjective well- being and overall happiness. Values range from 10 (top of ladder = Best possible life) to 0 (Bottom of ladder = Worst possible life).	There was a significant difference between those who reported low, average, and high screen-time ($p <$ 0.001), with those reporting lower screen time also reporting higher life satisfaction.

22 ³⁹	Knowles, Gastin and Kremer, 2017	Australia (Regional)	Secondary school students attending a sport school (n = 233)	Cross-Sectional: Participants completed a 100- item online questionnaire.	Sedentary Behavior (Self-Reported): Teenagers in Leisure Time (TILT) survey. TILT items ask participants to self- report on their usual time spent in leisure activities daily over a typical week (e.g., 'How long do you spend watching TV before and after school on a usual school day?'). Participants selected the number of hours and minutes in 15 minute gradations.	Affect (Positive): WHO-5 Wellbeing Index - contains five positively worded items concerning positive mood, vitality and general Interests. Values rated on a five-point Likert Scale of (1 = "at no time" to "5 = all of the time").	Student-athletes report significantly less total leisure SB than non-sport school students ($d = 0.62$, $p < 0.001$). No significant differences between student-athletes and non-sport school students was found for wellbeing ($d = 0.25$, $p = 0.15$).
					Responses coded to four groups: low (<210 min), average (210-630 min), high (631-1050 min), and very high (>1050 min).		
2340	Kremer, Elshaug, Leslie, Toumbourou, Patton and Williams, 2014	Australia (National)	Adolescents (Year 6 and 8) (n = 8,256)	Cross-Sectional: Participants completed an online questionnaire as part of the "Healthy Neighbourhoods Study".	Screen Time: Screen time was assessed through an online self- report instrument that was adapted and expanded from the Communities That Care Youth Survey. Participants also reported on the time they spent watching television and on a computer or playing video games for leisure separately for week and weekend days (1 = 'none'; 6 = 'more than 6	Affect (Negative): Negative affect was assessed using the Short Mood and Feelings Questionnaire (SMFQ), which measures depressive mood and feelings, and other symptoms associated with depression such as negative affect. The instrument comprises 13 items (e.g., "I felt miserable or unhappy") rated using a three- point scale (0 = 'not true'; 1 = 'sometimes true'; 2 = 'true'). Sum total SMFQ scores dichotomized to moderate- high depressive symptoms	The asymptomatic group was more likely to meet screen time guidelines (<2 hours per day of screen time, $X^2 =$ 18.4, $p < 0.001$). A significant age group × screen time effect indicated the effect of meeting screen time guidelines on depressive symptoms was moderated by the age of the participant.

					h'). The average number of hours for week and weekend days were summed and then recoded into 'meeting screen time guidelines ('<2 hours per day') or not (≥2 hours per day).	(≥8) or asymptomatic (<8).	
24 ⁴¹	Lee, Spence, Tremblay, and Carson, 2018	Korea (National)	Adolescents aged 12- 17 (n = 65,528)	Cross-Sectional: Participants completed an online survey as part of the 2016 Korea Youth Risk Behavior Web- based survey.	Screen Time: Participants were asked to report hours and minutes per day spent in front of a screen for academic or recreational purposes during the past seven days, separately for weekdays and weekend days. Weekly weighted average time spent in front of a screen was calculated for academic purposes and recreational purposes separately. For the primary objective, screen time for recreational purposes, screen time was categorized into meeting guidelines (≤2 hours per day) or not meeting guidelines (>2	Affect (Positive): Measured using a single-item based on happiness. Participants were asked to rate how happy they are on regular days. Response options ranged from (1 = very happy) to (5 = very unhappy). Responses were then coded as happy (4 or 5) or not happy/neutral (1, 2, or 3).	Students who met the screen time recommendation was significantly associated with being happy (OR = 1.06, 95% CI: [1.02, 1.10]). There were no significant associations between screen time for academic or recreational purposes and psychological well-being (i.e., happiness and stress).

					hours per day). For the secondary objective, both academic and recreational screen time were categorized, separately, into three groups: 0 minutes per day, 1-120 minutes per day, and >120 minutes per day.		
25 ⁴²	Maher and Conroy, 2017	US (Regional)	Older Adults aged 60 years and older, who self-reported sitting for ≥8 hours/day with no diagnosis of dementia/Alzheimer's or deficit in functional mobility (n = 101)	Longitudinal: Participants wore an ActivPAL3 inclinometer device for two weeks. Participants also completed daily questionnaires on a provided tablet computer for the duration of the study.	Sedentary Behavior (Objective): Assessed using an ActivPAL3 inclinometer. The ActivPAL3 is able to distinguish between posture and activity to classify time as sitting, standing, or stepping. Sedentary Behavior (Self-Reported): Assessed using a 9- item self-reported questionnaire regarding daily sedentary behavior. Participants were asked to report the amount of waking time they spent engaged in domain- specific sedentary activities (i.e.,	Life Satisfaction: Assessed using a single item from the Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS) which was modified for daily administration: "I was satisfied with my life today"). Responses ranged from 0 ('strongly disagree') to 100 ('strongly agree').	Life satisfaction was weakly, negatively correlated with self- reported (ICC = - 0.06) and objectively measured sedentary behavior (ICC = - 0.01). Predictive models revealed life satisfaction was lower on days when people were more sedentary than was typical for them; however, there was no difference in life satisfaction between more or less sedentary people. Life satisfaction did not differ between

					watching TV, using the computer, reading, socializing with friends, in transit, completing hobbies, doing paperwork, eating, or any other activities). Responses were summed to calculate a daily total sedentary behavior score.		people who reported being more or less sedentary in general or on days when people reported being more or less sedentary than was typical for them.
2640	Maher, Doerksen, Elavsky and Conroy, 2014	US (Regional)	University students (n = 128)	Longitudinal: Participants wore an accelerometer device for two weeks. Participants also completed daily questionnaires at the end of every day (7PM-4AM) for the duration of the study.	 Physical Inactivity (Objective): Actigraph model GT3X - triaxial accelerometer worn on the participants' hip throughout the day during waking hours (minus aquatic activities). Sedentary behavior was estimated as the percentage of valid wear time spent in sedentary behavior (i.e., <100 counts per minute). Sedentary Behavior (Self-Reported): Daily sedentary behavior was assessed through the sitting time item from the International Physical Activity Questionnaire (IPAQ). Participants reported the total amount of 	Life Satisfaction: Assessed using a single item from the Satisfaction With Life Scale (SWLS) which was modified for daily admistration: "I was satisfied with my life today"). Responses ranged from 0 ('strongly disagree') to 100 ('strongly agree').	Physical inactivity and life satisfaction tended to have a weak negative association (<i>rs</i> -0.05 to -0.13). Previous-day life satisfaction negatively influenced subsequent sedentary behavior at the within-person level; however, this association was not found when examining the objective measure of physical inactivity, independent of physical activity. The between-person influence of overall sedentary behavior or physical inactivity did not predict life satisfaction.

					time they spent engaged in sedentary behavior that day after prompted with examples of sedentary activities (i.e., "Think about the time you spent sitting today. This includes times spent at work, at home, while doing course work, and during leisure time. This may include time spent sitting at a desk, visiting friends, reading or sitting down to watch television.")		
--	--	--	--	--	--	--	--

	Nordgren, Huh, Chou, Hedeker, and Dunton, 2019	(National)	adolescents, adults, and mother-child dyads (n = 617)	Data was pooled from participants who previously took part in one of four studies: Mobile Healthy PLACES, Project MOBILE, AsthEMA, and MATCH. Participants in all studies received a mobile phone and waist-worn accelerometer. Participants wore the accelerometer for 4- 7 days, and received ecological momentary assessment surveys at random times throughout the 4-7 days.	(Objective): Actigraph model GT3X - triaxial accelerometer worn on the participants' hip throughout the day during waking hours (minus aquatic activities). Sedentary behavior was operationalized as the average minutes of sedentary behavior (i.e., <100 counts per minute) per hour of wear time. This was done to account for different wear times across studies.	 positive affect was measured differently in all EMA studies. Across all studies, participants were asked to report about the extent to which they felt various emotions right before the beep went off. Positive affect was assessed in children and adolescents using two items (i.e., HAPPY/JOYFUL). Among adults, positive affect was assessed in MATCH using two items (i.e., HAPPY/CALM) and in Project MOBILE using three items (i.e., HAPPY/CHEERFUL/CALM). These items are derived from the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS). Participants in Mobile Healthy PLACES, AsthEMA, and MATCH responded to items on a 1 (not at all) to 4 (extremely) scale. Participants in Project MOBILE responded to items on a 1 (not at all) to 5 (extremely) scale. Data from Mobile Healthy Places, AsthEMA, and MATCH were recoded so that 3 (quite a bit) and 4 (extremely) would correspond to 4 (quite a bit) and 5 (extremely), respectively, on the response scale used in Project MOBILE. Positive affect composite score 	sex and age, neither subject-level mean nor variability in positive affect were significantly associated with physical inactivity time per valid hour $(\beta = 0.33, p = 0.65; \beta = 0.16, p = 0.49,$ respectively).
--	---	------------	---	--	--	--	--

			values were rescaled for analyses to range from 10 to 50.	

2844	Mailey, Rosenkranz, Ablah, Swank, and Casey, 2017	US (Regional)	Premenopausal females aged 21 years or older, who worked at least 35 hours/week, self- reported sitting for at least 80% of work hours, and engaged in <60 minutes/week of moderate-vigorous physical activity (n = 49)	Experimental: Randomized Controlled Trial. Participants were assigned to one of two groups for an 8- week intervention: short break and long break. All participants were advised to accumulate 30 minutes of nonsitting time during each workday. Participants were asked to submit the activity logs, which documented all breaks from sitting during the workday, to the research team at the end of each week. Intervention 1 (Short-Break): Participants were instructed to stand/ move for 1 to 2 minutes every half hour. Intervention 2 (Long-Break): Participants were instructed to take two 15-minute breaks from sitting each workday.	Physical Inactivity (Objective): Assessed using an Actigraph GT3X accelerometer. Participant wore for 7 days at baseline and during the final week of intervention. Sedentary behavior was operationalized as periods during work when counts per minute were <100. Total minutes of sedentary behavior at work were averaged across the number of workdays the accelerometer was worn to yield average daily sedentary time at work.	Affect: Positive and Negative Affect Schedule (PANAS) - two 10-item scales were used to measure positive and negative affect. Responses were on a 5-point scale ranging from 1 ('very slightly or not at all') to 5 ('Extremely'). Responses are then summed to arrive at total positive and negative affect score, ranging from 10 to 50.	Participants in the short break group demonstrated a significant reduction in accelerometer-measured physical inactivity during the workday (-35.57 minutes; $d = 0.75$), but physical inactivity did not change in the long break group. Kruskal–Wallis tests revealed a significant difference in percentage change between groups for negative affect ($p = 0.045$), such that negative affect improved in the short break group but not in the long break group. There was no significant difference in percentage change between groups for negative affect improved in the short break group but not in the long break group. There was no significant difference in percentage change between groups for positive affect, thought this was trending ($p = 0.069$), favoring higher positive affect in the short break group.

29 ⁴⁵	Matin, Kelishadi, Heshmat, Motamed-Gorji, Djalalinia, Motlagh, Ardalan, Arefirad, Mohammadi, Safiri, Qorbani, 2017	Iran (National)	School students aged 6 to 18 (n = 13,486)	Cross-Sectional: Data collected as part of the fourth survey of Childhood and Adolescence Surveillance and Prevention of Adult Non-communicable Diseases, also known as CASPIAN-IV (2011–2012).	Screen Time: Two- items assessed students' time spent watching TV and time spent on computer working. Students reported the hours per day they spent doing each activity. Screen time was categorized as prolonged screen time (>2 hours per day) or meeting guidelines (≤2 hours per day).	Life Satisfaction: Life satisfaction was assessed using a single-item. Students were asked to indicate their degree of life satisfaction. Values ranged on a scale of 1 ('very dissatisfied') to 10 ('very satisfied'). Responses were categorized as 'not satisfied' (i.e., score <6) or 'satisfied' (i.e., score ≥6).	Logistic regressions revealed prolonged screen time correlated inversely with good life satisfaction (OR = 0.84, 95% CI: [0.75, 0.94]). However, this association was not seen in multivariate analysis when adjusting for physical activity (OR = $0.94, 95\%$ CI: [0.82, 1.07]).
3046	Okely, Cukic, Shaw, Chastin, Dall, Deary, Der, Dontje, Skelton, & Gale, 2019	UK (Regional)	Older adults part of the Seniors Understanding Patterns study (n = 698)	Cross-Sectional: Data were taken from the Seniors Understanding Sedentary Patterns (USP) study* (Cohort LBC1936, Twenty-07 1950s, and Twenty-07 1930s). Participants wore an ActivPAL3 inclinometer for at least 7 days. Participants also completed a questionnaire. *Only the LBC1936 cohort completed a measure of well- being.	Sedentary Behavior (Objective): Assessed using an ActivPAL3 inclinometer. The ActivPAL3 is able to distinguish between posture and activity to classify time as sitting, standing, or stepping. Average percentage of waking time spent sedentary (i.e., sedentary time) and average number of sit- to-stand transitions were taken as outcome measures.	Hedonic Well-Being: Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale (WEMWBS) - Fourteen-item scale comprising of positively worded items that assess mental well-being (i.e., hedonic and eudaimonic well- being) on a 5-point Likert scale. Responses ranged from 1 ('None') to 5 ('All of the time') and sum scores ranging from 14 to 70, with higher scores indicating greater well-being. The WEMWBS was only administered to the LBC1936 cohort.	In the LBC1936 cohort, wellbeing score, which was assessed concurrently with sedentary behavior, was not associated with sedentary time or number of sit-to- stand transitions ($p >$ 0.258).

3110	O'Neil, and Dogra, 2016	Canada (National)	Adults aged 45 or older (n = 30,865)	Cross-Sectional: Data were taken from the Healthy Aging Cycle of the Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS-HA; 2008-2009). Participants completed a questionnaire.	Sedentary Behavior (Self-Reported): Measured using a two- item questionnaire asking how often they had participated in sedentary activities in the past seven days. Then they were asked to identify those activities from a pre determined list. Sedentary activities on the list were bingo, cards, or other games; computer activities; crosswords, puzzles, etc.; handicrafts, listening to radio/music; playing musical instruments; reading; visiting with others; watching TV; and other. The 'other' category was not analysed.	Life Satisfaction: Measured using a single item. Participants self-reported their satisfaction in life in general. Options ranged from 'very satisfied', 'satisfied', 'somewhat satisfied', or 'not satisfied'. Responses were dichotomized to good ('very satisfied' and 'satisfied') and poor ('somewhat satisfied' and 'not satisfied') life satisfaction.	In middle-aged adults (i.e., aged 45- 60), computer use (OR = 1.99, 95% CI: [1.66, 2.39], $p <$ 0.05), reading (OR = 1.66, 95% CI: [1.37, 2.01], $p < 0.05$), playing musical instrument (OR = 2.2, 95% CI: [1.22, 3.96], $p < 0.05$), and visiting others (OR = 1.21, 95% CI: [1.00, 1.46], $p < 0.05$) were positively associated with good satisfaction with life. Listening to radio/music (OR = 0.82, 95% CI: [0.68, 0.99], $p < 0.05$) was negatively associated with good satisfaction with life. After adjustment of covariates, only associations between computer use (OR = 1.39, 95% CI: [1.14, 1.70], $p < 0.05$), reading (OR = 1.35, 95% CI: [1.10, 1.66], p < 0.05, and playing musical instrument (OR = 2.15, 95% CI: [1.18, 3.94], $p < 0.05$) remained. In older adults (i.e., aged >60), computer use (OR = 2.01, 95%
							use (OR = 2.01, 95% CI: [1.59, 2.54], <i>p</i> < 0.05), reading (OR =

							1.69, 95% CI: [1.32, 2.16], $p < 0.05$), doing crosswords (OR = 1.52, 95% CI: [1.15, 2.00], $p <$ 0.05), and visiting others (OR = 1.21, 95% CI: [1.00, 1.46], p < 0.05). After adjustment of covariates, associations between computer use (OR = 1.42, 95% CI: [1.09, 1.84], $p < 0.05$), reading (OR = 1.40, 95% CI: [1.08, 1.82], p < 0.05), doing crosswords (OR = 1.62, 95% CI: [1.21, 2.16], $p < 0.05$), and visiting others (OR = 1.35, 95% CI: [1.06, 1.70], $p < 0.05$) persisted.
3247	Ormel, Kempen, Deeg, Brilman, Van Sonderen, and Relyveld, 1998	Netherlands (National)	Late middle aged and older adults who either live independently or in residential homes but not nursing homes (n = 5,279)	Cross-Sectional: Data collected as part of the Groningen Longitudinal Aging Study (GLAS). Participants completed an interview and mailed questionnaire.	Physical Inactivity (Self-Reported): Inactivity was operationalized as time spent sitting down without doing anything, resting, and sleeping. Subjects were asked the number of hours per day spent in each of these three activities. These three separate measures were then summed.	Life Satisfaction: Life satisfaction assessed with Cantril's Ladder. Participants were presented with a single- item: "Here is a picture of a ladder. Suppose that we say the top of the ladder represents the best possible life for you and the bottom represents the worst possible life for you. Where on the ladder do you feel you personally stand at the present time?". Values ranged from from (1- 10).	Participants with no medical condition and no depression reported significantly lower inactivity (p <0.001) and higher life satisfaction ($p <$ 0.001), as compared to participants with no medical condition and depression. Similarly, participants with medical condition(s) and no depression reported significantly lower inactivity (p <0.001) and higher life satisfaction ($p <$

			0.001), as compared to participants with medical condition(s) and depression.

Bort Gine Gon Suar Mar Lerr Mar Mur Mila and 2017	rt-Roig, (Nationa ne-Garriga, nzalez- urez, rtinez- nos, Fortuno, rtori, noz-Ortiz, la, Gilson, l McKenna, 7	 academic staff with low and moderate physical activity levels (0 to 3000 MET·min·week) (n = 264) 	Randomized controlled trial. Data were collected as part of the Walk@WorkSpain (W@WS) study. University campuses were cluster randomized to either a 19-week intervention or comparison group. Participants completed questionnaires at baseline, 8 weeks, 19 weeks, and two- month follow-up. Additionally, each group was given a pedometer and diary to track daily steps and self-reported sitting time, respectively.	(Self-Reported): Sitting time on weekdays and weekend days were separately evaluated in three questions: sitting time traveling, sitting time watching TV, and total sitting time. All responses were operationalized into minutes/day.	 Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale (WEMWBS) - Fourteen-item scale comprising of positively worded items that assess mental well-being (i.e., hedonic and eudaimonic well- being) on a 5-point Likert scale. Responses ranged from 1 ('None') to 5 ('All of the time') and sum scores ranging from 14 to 70, with higher scores indicating greater well-being. 	interactions were identified between group and program time points for mental well-being ($p = 0.305$).
---	--	--	--	--	---	---

		comparison group was asked to maintain habitual behavior.		

	Westling, Crowley and Light, 2014	(Regional)	students, grades 6-8, half of which were selected for higher risk behaviors (e.g., deviant peer affiliation, tobacco and substance use) (n = 82)	Participants completed four ecological momentary assessment periods: fall, winter, and spring of 7th grade, and fall of 8th grade. Each period was a week long and prompted students randomly 27 times during non-school hours and weekends.	were asked whether they were engaging in small screen recreation (i.e., watching TV, playing video games, computer use, excluding time engaging in homework or reading) during a ecological momentary assessment. Responses were dichotomized to 0 = 'did not participate in the activity' and 1 = 'participated in the activity'.	items on a 9-point scale. Participants reported on their current mood states: 'How happy are you right now?' and 'How sad are you right now?', with 1 = 'not at all' to 9 = 'very much'.	detected for small screen recreation and sad mood ($\gamma 20 =$ -0.01, $p = .782$) or happy mood ($\gamma 30 =$ 0.12, $p = .317$).
--	---	------------	---	---	--	--	--

35 ⁵⁰	Shiue, 2015	Scotland (National)	Adults aged 16-99 (n = 9,709)	Cross-Sectional: Data were drawn from the two most recent waves of the Scottish Health Survey (2012, 2013). Participants completed a household interview.	Screen Time: Assessed daily TV and screen watching time. Responses were dichotomized to $< x$ hours per day or $\ge x$ hours per day, where <i>x</i> is equal to the number of hours where significant differences in OR are seen between groups for a specific item.	Hedonic Well-Being: Warwick Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale (WEMWBS) - Fourteen-item scale comprising of positively worded items that assess mental well-being (i.e., hedonic and eudaimonic well- being) on a 5-point Likert scale. Responses ranged from 1 ('None') to 5 ('All of the time') and sum scores ranging from 14 to 70, with higher scores indicating greater well-being.	Compared to those who spent <2 hours of daily screen time, participants who reported \geq 2 hours of daily screen time had a greater likelihood of reporting 'Less than usual' on 'Feeling optimistic about the future' (OR = 1.28, 95% CI: [1.07, 1.54], p = 0.007). Compared to those who spent <3 hours of daily screen time, participants who
							reported \geq 3 hours of daily screen time had a greater likelihood of reporting 'Less than usual' on 'Feeling confident' (OR = 1.29, 95% CI: [1.07, 1.54], p = 0.007).
							Compared to those who spent <4 hours of daily screen time, participants who reported \geq 4 hours of daily screen time had a greater likelihood of reporting 'Less than usual' on 'Feeling relaxed' (OR = 1.18, 95% CI: [1.01, 1.39], p = 0.041) and 'Feeling cheerful (OR = 1.60, 95% CI: [1.29, 1.99], p < 0.001).

36 ⁵¹	Sirgy, Lee, Kosenko, Meadow, Rahtz, Cicic, Jin, Yarsuvat.	Global	Household respondants (n=1,226)	Cross-Sectional: Participants completed a questionnaire.	Screen Time: Hours of TV viewership assessed through four self-report frequency questions: '1. How	Life Satisfaction: Assessed through the delighted- terrible (D-T) life satisfaction measure and the congruity life satisfaction measure.	No direct relationship between life satisfaction and TV viewership was observed ($p > 0.05$).
	Cicic, Jin, Yarsuvat, Blenkhom and Wright (1998)			questionnaire.	self-report frequency questions: '1. How much time did you spend watching television yesterday?', '2. How much time do you usually spend watching television every day?', '3. How many hours per week do you watch television?', and '4. On an average day, about how much time, if any, do you personally spend watching television?'.	and the congruity life satisfaction measure. The D-T is a single-item 7- point self-report question: 'How do you feel about your life as a whole?' with responses of 'terrible' (1) to 'delighted' (7), with a neutral item of Tve never thought about it' (4). The congruity life satisfaction measure is a 10-item, 6-point measure that theorizes that life satisfaction is a function of a comparison between perceived life accomplishments and a set of evoked standards.	TV viewership was observed (<i>p</i> > 0.05).

3752	Straatmann,	Brazil	Middle school	Longitudinal: Data	Screen Time: Two	Hedonic Well-Being:	Significant inverse
	Oliveira,	(Regional)	students, aged 10-15,	were collected as	items assessed average	Assessed through the	association between
	Rostila, and		who are not pregnant	part of the	time and days spent	psychological well-being sub-	psychological well-
	Lopes, 2016		or lactating and no	Longitudinal Study	watching TV and using	section of the KIDSCREEN	being scores and
			underlying physical	of Adolescent	videogames/computers.	self-report questionnaire. This	screen minutes per
			and/or mental	Nutritional		sub-section included /	day at 12 among
			condition that would	Assessment	The first question was:	questions which were related	girls ($r^2 = 0.049$, $\beta = -$
			prevent them from	(ELANA).	How many days do	to positive or negative	3.81, 95% CI: [-7.0, -
			completing	middle school	you watch I v and	symptoms, life satisfaction, as	0.9]).
			questionnaires (II –	completed	ner week?' with	well as feelings of sadness and	Significant
			520)	questionnaires at	response values of 1 –	loneliness	association between
				baseline and two	'never or almost never'.	lonemiess.	the onset of
				years after.	2 = 1 to 2 times per	The questionnaire posed	exceeding screen
				-	week', $3 = 3$ to 4 times	questions regarding the last	time
					per week', $4 = 5$ to 6	week and for each item five	recommendations
					hours per week', and 5	options were provided on a 5-	among girls and poor
					= 'every day'.	point Likert scale from 1 =	well-being (RR: 1.3,
						'never' to $5 =$ 'always' or from	95% CI: [1.0, 1.6]).
					The second question	1 = 'not at all' to $5 =$	N T 1.1
					was: 'In general, how	extremely. Lower values	No associations were
					do you usually spend	well being	between persistence
					watching TV and	wen-being.	of screen time (T1-
					videogames/computers	t values were calculated, with	T2) and
					per day?'.	those scoring in the bottom	psychological well-
					1 5	10th percentile classified as	being in boys and
					Average daily time in	'poor' and those above the 10th	girls.
					minutes was calculated	percentile as 'good'.	
					by multiplying 'hours		
					per day' by 'days per		
					week' for TV and		
					videogames/computers		
					apprying this formula:		
					week)*(hours per		
					dav)]*60/7, utilized as		
					a continuous variable.		
					Those who spent >4		
					hours per day of screen		
					time were classified as		
					exceeding		
					recommended screen		
					time.		

38 ⁵³	Strine, Chapman, Balluz, Moriarty, and Mokdad, 2008	US (National)	Adults (n = 13,483)	Cross-Sectional: Data collected as part of the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS) study (2005). Participants were called via random- digit dialing to answer a questionnaire.	Physical Inactivity (Self-Reported): Persons were considered to be physically inactive if they had reported not participating in any leisure-time physical activity or exercise during the past 30 days.	Life Satisfaction: Assessed through a single question: 'In general, how satisfied are you with your life?'. Possible responses were: 'very satisfied', 'satisfied', 'dissatisfied', and 'very dissatisfied'. These groups were categorized as: very satisfied, satisfied, or dissatisfied/very dissatisfied.	Persons who were dissatisfied with their lives were 2.2 (95% CI: [2.1, 2.4]) times more likely to be physically inactive than those who were very satisfied with their lives.
39 ⁵⁴	Vallance, Bebb, Boyle, Johnson, Gardiner, and D'Silva, 2018	Canada (Regional)	Lung cancer survivors who (a) had a previous clinical and/or pathological diagnosis of NSCLC confirmed by chart review, (b) are not currently receiving any treatment for lung cancer or any other cancer, (c) are community dwelling (not living in a hospice or long term care), and (d) have ability to read and write English. (n = 127)	Cross-Sectional: Participants wore a hip-worn accelerometer for 7 days and completed a questionnaire.	Physical Inactivity (Objective): Assessed using an Actigraph GT3X+ accelerometer. Participant wore for the device for 7 days. Sedentary behavior was operationalized as periods when counts per minute were <100.	Life Satisfaction: Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS). Five items on a 7-point Likert scale assessing satisfaction with life, with scores ranging from 5 to 35, with lower values indicating lower life satisfaction.	Physical inactivity time was significantly associated with life satisfaction at the 25th percentile (β = - 0.04, 95% CI: [-0.07, 0.0]) and 50th percentile (β = -0.03, 95% CI: [-0.05, - 0.01]) of depression scores.
40 ⁵⁶	Vallance, Boyle, Courneya, and Lynch, 2015	Canada & Australia (Regional)	Colon cancer survivors aged 18-80 who speak English, are not currently undergoing any adjuvant therapy, able to understand and provide written informed consent, and willing and able to wear an accelerometer for 7 days (n = 180)	Cross-Sectional: Participants wore a hip-worn accelerometer for 7 days and completed a questionnaire.	Physical Inactivity (Objective): Assessed using an Actigraph GT3X+ accelerometer. Participant wore for the device for 7 days. Sedentary behavior was operationalized as periods when counts per minute were <100. Cut points for sedentary time accrued in at least 30-min bouts (hours) were <1.31 (Q1), 1.31 to <2.18 (Q2), 2.18 to <3.41 (Q3), and \ge 3.41 (Q4).	Life Satisfaction: Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS). Five items on a 7-point Likert scale assessing satisfaction with life, with scores ranging from 5 to 35, with lower values indicating lower life satisfaction.	For overall physical inactivity time, no significant differences emerged for life satisfaction across inactivity quartiles (<i>p</i> = 0.844).
------------------	--	-------------------------------------	--	--	--	---	---
4157	Withall, Stathi, Davis, Coulson, Thompson and Fox, 2014	UK (Regional)	Older adults without (a) a bereavement within the last two months, (b) terminal illness, (c) moderate to advanced dementia or other debilitating mental illness, (d) an illness that would put them at risk for participating, (e) a reason their GP would recommend exclusion and (e) are able to complete the questionnaire without assistance ($n = 228$)	Longitudinal: Data were drawn from the Older People and Active Living (OPAL) study, Participants wore a hip-worn accelerometer for 7 days and completed daily log documenting purposes of journeys, as well as completing an in- home interview at baseline and visit	Physical Inactivity (Objective): Assessed by 7-day accelerometry (Actigraph GT1Ms) using a 10-second epoch. Sedentary bouts were the mean number of minutes of sedentary time (0–99 CPM) per day. Bouts of more than 100 min of continuous zero count data were considered non wear time and excluded	Life Satisfaction: Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS). Five items on a 7-point Likert scale assessing satisfaction with life, with scores ranging from 5 to 35, with lower values indicating lower life satisfaction.	No significant relationships emerged between volume of physical inactivity time and life satisfaction ($r = -$ 0.012, $p \ge 0.05$).

4211	Wrosch and Sabiston, 2013	Canada (Regional)	Female Breast Cancer survivors (a) aged 18 years or older, (b) with a first diagnosis of breast cancer within the past year, (c) ≤ 20 weeks post primary treatment, (d) who can read and write in French or English, and (e) report no health problems that would prevent them from engaging in physical activity (n = 176)	Longitudinal: Participants completed questionnaires at baseline and 3- month follow-up.	Sedentary Behavior (Self-Reported): Sedentary time assessed using an adapted version of the Leisure Time Exercise Questionnaire. Participants were asked to report the number of times per week they typically engage in different activities and the average duration of each activity bout. Sedentary activities included television/video watching and computer/video games. Weekly total minutes were calculated by multiplying the frequency of activity by the total minutes.	Affect: Assessed by administering 24 items from the Profile of Mood States (POMS). On three non- consecutive days following the main questionnaire, participants were asked to report the extend to which they had experience 9 positive emotions (e.g., happy, calm, energetic) and 15 negative emotions (e.g., angry, sad, afraid) during the day, using 5 point Likert-type scales 0 = 'not at all' to 4 = 'extremely'). A mean score across days for both positive and negative affect were calculated.	Sedentary activity, positive affect, and negative affect did not change significantly over 3 months in the entire sample ($ps > 0.50$). Sedentary time at baseline was not associated with baseline positive or negative affect ($ps >$ 0.05). Sedentary time at follow-up was negatively associated with positive affect at follow-up ($r = -$ 0.18, $p \le 0.05$), but not negative affect ($p >$ 0.05).
4358	Yan, Zhang, Oniffrey, Chen, Wang, Wu, Zhang, Wang, Ma, Li and Moore, 2017	China (Regional)	Adolescents in grades 7-12 (n = 2,625)	Cross-Sectional: Participants completed a take- home questionnaire.	Screen Time: Students were asked how many hours a day they usually spent (1) watching television, (2) playing e-games, (3) receiving news or study materials from electronic devices, (4) using social media sites or apps, and (5) watching videos both on school days and on non-school days. Response options referred to daily use (i.e., '≤1 hour/day', '2– 3 hours/day', '3–4	Life Satisfaction: Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS). Five items on a 7-point Likert scale assessing satisfaction with life, with scores ranging from 5 to 35, with lower values indicating lower life satisfaction. Scores of 20 represented the midpoint, with scores of 5-19 indicating dissatisfaction and scores of 21-35 indicating satisfaction.	On school days, watching television for more than four hours ($\beta = -3.825$, $p = 0.012$) was negatively associated with life satisfaction. No other associations were observed between screen time activities on both school day and non- school days and life satisfaction.

					hours/day', and '>4 hours/day'. Total hours per week of overall screen-based behaviors was calculated per type of screen-based behaviors. We collapsed 'use, but not daily' and 'do not use' into four categories: 'never', 'not every day', '<1 h, '2–4 h', and '>4 h daily'.		
44 ⁵⁹	Yang, Helgason, Sigfusdottir, and Kristjansson, 2013	Iceland (National)	Children aged 10-12 in grades 5, 6, and 7 (n = 10,829)	Cross-Sectional: Data were drawn from the 2007 Youth in Iceland study. Students completed a questionnaire.	Screen Time: Screen use was assessed through five items about the average time respondents usually spent each day on the follow activities: watching TV/DVD/VCR, playing Internet computer games, playing computer games not on the Internet, using Internal communication or 'chatting' channels, and 'other' computer use. Response options were 1 = 'No time', 2 = '1/2- 1 hour', 3 = 'about 1 hour', $4 = 'about 2$ hours', $5 = 'about 3$ hours' and $6 = '4$ hours or more'. All variables were re- coded into three groups with $1 = '0-1$ hour per day', $2 = '2-3$ hours	Affect (Negative): Assessed as part of the Symptom Check List 90 (SCL-90), respondents were asked whether they had experienced any of the seven symptoms during the week before the study. The following questions were relevant to negative affect: 'How often felt sad or with little interest in doing things', 'How often felt lonely', 'How often cried easily or wanted to cry', 'How often felt sad or blue'. Response options were 1 = 'never', 2 = 'almost never', 3 = 'seldom', 4 = 'sometimes' and 5 = 'often'. For the purpose of this analysis, the responses were dichotomized into 0 = 'Never, almost never or seldom', and 1 = 'Sometimes or often'.	For all items of the SCL-90, screen use of '4 hours per day' or more is associated with a significant increase in odds of having experienced subsequent negative indicators 'sometimes or often' during past 7 days, for both boys and girls. A linear dose- response relationship is observed for both boys and girls in all categories of screen use and its relations to feeling sad or having little interest in doing things. Numerous screen time activities showed no significant differences for items on the SCL-90

					per day' and 3 = '4 hours or more per day'.		between '0-1 hour per day' and '2-3 hours per day'.
45 ⁶⁰	Yang and Oliver 2010	US (Regional)	Adults (n= 225)	Cross-Sectional: Participants completed a self- report questionnaire.	Screen Time: Participants reported on the number of hours spent watching television on weekdays within four parts of the weekday (i.e., 6 a.m. to noon, noon to 7 p.m., 7 p.m. to 10 p.m., and 10 p.m. to 6 a.m.) and on Saturdays and Sundays. Weekly television viewing was computed from these responses. Participants also reported on the number of hours per week they spent watching each type of television program (i.e., movies, dramas, comedies/sitcoms, soap operas, news, music/celebrity shows, and game shows.	Life Satisfaction: Satisfaction with Life Scale (SWLS). Five items on a 7-point Likert scale assessing satisfaction with life, with scores ranging from 5 to 35, with lower values indicating lower life satisfaction.	Television viewing did not significantly predict dissatisfaction with personal life.

4661	Zenk, Horoi,	US	African American	Longitudinal:	Physical Inactivity	Affect: Assessed by the short-	Positive affect at
	Jones, Finnegan,	(Regional)	women aged 25 to 65	Participants	(Objective): Sedentary	form Positive and Negative	some time during the
	Wilbur 2017		who were not students $(n - 97)$	completed an initial	time assessed using the	Affect Schedule (PANAS)	day was not
	wildui, 2017		students $(\Pi - 97)$	received the baseline	accelerometer	negative affect. Five items	associated with daily
				questionnaire, and	acceleronneter.	assessed positive affect (e.g.,	inactivity.
				received the	Sedentary time was	inspired, enthusiastic); five	
				accelerometer. They	defined as the total	items assessed negative affect	Based on regressed
				then wore the	number of minutes of	(e.g., upset, distressed).	models of inactivity
				accelerometer for 7	sedentary time (0-99		after 10 am on affect
				days and completed	activity counts per	Participants reported (using a	at the first daily
				ecological	minute).	"mark all that apply"	signal, reporting
				momentary	A minimum of 60	checklist) which of the ten	negative affect,
				provided	consecutive minutes of	feeling since the last signal	typical level was
				smartphones.	zero activity intensity	reening since the last signal.	associated with a
				Afterwards	counts identified non-	Dichotomized both positive	33.2-minute increase
				participants	wear.	affect and negative affect as	in subsequent daily
				completed a final		having 'none' or 'one or more'	inactivity ($p = .007$).
				interview with a		endorsed emotions.	Positive affect at the
				questionnaire.			first daily signal was
							not associated with
							inactivity
							maetryny.
							Physical inactivity
							during the day
							(before 7 pm) was
							negatively associated
							with positive affect
							at the last dally signal $(n = 0.02)$
							This is the equivalent
							of a 34.1% lower
							likelihood of positive
							affect at the last daily
							signal for each one-
							hour increase in
							inactivity during the
							dav

2.3.4 Synthesis of Results

2.3.4.1 Objectively-Measured Sedentary Behavior

Of the 3 studies that assessed objectively-measured SB^{27,42,46}, 1 study was cross-sectional⁴⁶, 1 was longitudinal⁴², and 1 was experimental²⁷. With regards to well-being outcomes, 1 assessed solely positive affect²⁷, 1 assessed life satisfaction⁴², and 1 study assessed hedonic well-being⁴⁶. All 3 studies used an ActivPAL3 inclinometer. Similarly, all 3 studies used an established instrument to measure well-being: 1 study used the Affect Grid test²⁷; 1 study assessed life satisfaction through a single item⁴²; and 1 study used the WEMBWS to measure hedonic well-being⁴⁶. Additional details can be found in *Table 1*.

In sum, objectively-measured SB demonstrated either a weak detrimental or null relationship with hedonic well-being outcomes. Objectively-measured SB was negatively associated with positive affect²⁷. Similarly, 1 study found a weak correlation between objectively-measured sedentary time and life satisfaction⁴²; notably, life satisfaction was lower on days when people were more sedentary than was typical for them, but not when compared to the SB of others. Finally, 1 study found no association between hedonic well-being and SB⁴⁶. Notably, 2 of the 3 studies examining objectively-measured SB used an older adult population^{42,46}.

2.3.4.2 Self-Reported Sedentary Behavior

Of the 10 studies that assessed self-reported SB^{10,11,31,33,39,42,43,48,55,64}, 5 studies were crosssectional^{10,33,39,55,64}, 3 were longitudinal^{11,42,43}, and 2 were experimental^{31,48}. With regards to well-being outcomes, 3 studies assessed both positive and negative affect^{11,31,33}, 1 evaluated assessed solely positive affect³⁹, no studies assessed solely negative affect, 5 assessed life satisfaction^{10,42,43,55,64}, and 1 study assessed hedonic well-being⁴⁸. There was considerable variability in the instruments used to assess self-reported SB: 4 studies utilized a single-item question from the International Physical Activity Questionnaire^{31,33,43,64} (IPAQ), with the remaining 6 studies asking participants to self-report their sitting during several (\geq 3) domains of activity^{10,11,39,42,48,55} (e.g., homework, TV, transportation). Similarly, the instruments used to measure well-being outcomes varied considerably: all 4 studies that measured affect^{11,31,33,39} used different instruments; 4 studies assessed life satisfaction through a single-item question^{10,42,43,64}, while the other 1 utilized the SWLS⁵⁵. Additional details can be found in *Table 1*.

In sum, self-reported SB demonstrated weak mixed associations with hedonic well-being outcomes. With respect to positive affect, 3 studies showed a negative association with self-reported SB^{11,31,33}, while 1 study did not observe any association³⁹; notably, this study assessed positive affect as part of the WHO-5 Wellbeing instrument. In terms of negative affect, none of the 3 studies found any associations with self-reported sedentary behavior^{11,31,33}. Conversely, all 5 studies examining life satisfaction found negative relationships with self-reported SB^{10,42,43,55,64}; however, 2 studies also observed no relationship^{10,42}, and 2 studies also observed a positive relationship^{10,64}. Notably, some studies examined SB differences between-subjects and within-subjects^{42,43}. Finally, the study examining hedonic well-being and self-reported SB did not observe an association⁴⁸.

2.3.4.3 Objectively-Measured Physical Inactivity

Of the 11 studies that assessed objectively-measured PI^{18,28–30,43,44,54,56,57,61,65}, 3 were crosssectional^{18,54,56}, 6 were longitudinal^{28,29,43,57,61,65}, and 2 were experimental^{30,44}. With regards to well-being outcomes, 3 studies assessed both positive and negative affect^{28,44,61}, 1 study assessed solely positive affect¹⁸, 2 studies assessed solely negative affect^{29,30}, and 5 studies assessed life satisfaction^{43,54,56,57,65}. There was some variability in the instruments used to assess PI: 8 studies used a model of the ActiGraph hip-worn accelerometer^{18,30,43,44,54,56,57,65}, 1 used a MeterPlus accelerometer⁶¹, 1 used a SenseWear Mini Armband²⁹, and 1 used an Actilife accelerometer²⁸. Equally, there was some variance in how well-being was measured: all three studies assessing both positive and negative affect^{28,44,61} used the PANAS; both studies assessing negative affect^{29,30} only used a form of the POMS; and the study assessing solely positive affect¹⁸ adapted two items from the PANAS. For life satisfaction, 3 studies used the SWLS^{54,56,57}, while the other two used single-item questions to assess life satisfaction^{43,65}, though notably 1 study adapted the single question from the SWLS⁴³. Additional details can be found in *Table 1*.

In sum, objectively-measured PI demonstrated weak mixed associations with hedonic well-being outcomes. For positive affect, only 2 of the 4 studies observed a negative association^{28,61}, though 1 study did observe a comparable trending relationship⁴⁴ (p = 0.069)

favoring lower positive affect among the long break intervention group⁴⁴. Conversely, all 5 studies examining negative affect found a weak positive correlation with objectively-measured PI^{28–30,44,61}. Mixed associations for life satisfaction were also observed, with 3 of the 5 studies reporting a weak negative association with objectively-measured PI^{43,54,65}.

2.3.4.4 Self-Reported Physical Inactivity

Of the 6 studies that assessed self-reported PI^{14,47,53,62,63,66}, 3 studies were cross-sectional^{47,53,62} and 3 were longitudinal^{14,63,66}. With regards to well-being outcomes, 2 studies assessed both positive and negative affect^{14,66}, and 4 assessed life satisfaction^{47,53,62,63}. There was considerable variability in the instruments used to assess self-reported physical inactivity: 4 studies utilized a single-item question^{14,53,63,66}, dichotomizing their responses to 'yes/no', with respect to physical activity; one study assessed inactivity as responding 0 minutes/week of physical activity⁶²; and one study assessed a sum of the hours per day spent sitting down without doing anything, resting, and sleeping as inactivity⁴⁷. Instruments used to measure well-being outcomes were fairly consistent: Both studies that assessed affect used a form of the PANAS^{14,66}; 3 studies used a single-item question to assess life satisfaction^{47,53,63} (two used a 10-point scale^{47,63}), while the remaining study utilized a shortened SWLS⁶². Additional details can be found in *Table 1*.

In sum, self-reported PI demonstrated weak detrimental relationships with hedonic wellbeing outcomes. With respect to positive affect, 1 study found negative changes to positive affect to weakly predict daily maladaptive health behaviors, including PI⁶⁶, while the other study found likelihood to exercise was predicted by positive affect in men¹⁴. Comparably, negative affect was a weak predictor of daily maladaptive health behaviors as well as likelihood to exercise in men^{14,66}. A similar association was seen in all 4 studies examining life satisfaction and selfreported physical inactivity; higher physical inactivity was associated with poorer life satisfaction^{47,53,62,63}.

2.3.4.5 Screen Time

Of the 18 studies that assessed screen time^{20,26,32,34–38,40,41,45,49–52,58–60}, 15 studies were crosssectional and 3 were longitudinal^{32,49,52}. With regards to well-being outcomes, 2 studies assessed both positive and negative affect^{26,49}, 1 assessed solely positive affect⁴¹, 2 assessed solely negative affect^{40,59}, 11 assessed life satisfaction^{20,26,60,34–38,45,51,58}, and 3 assessed hedonic well-

being^{32,50,52}. Heterogeneity among measures of screen time were greater than other indices of SB. Children and adolescents were the primary population among studies assessing screen time (n = 13). Screen-time behaviors included, but were not limited to: TV watching^{20,26,50–52,58–} 60,32,34,35,37,38,40,45,49 (n = 16), using a computer 20,34,59,35,37,38,40,45,49,52,58 (n = 11), video games $^{32,34,36-1}$ 38,40,49,52,58,59 (n = 10), internet chatting/social media 34,58,59 (n = 3), films/movies/videos 32,58 (n = 2), using tablet devices³⁷ (n =1), and using a smartphone or other electronic device³⁷ (n = 1). Studies ranged from including a single form of screen time to 5 types of screen-based activities. Screen time behaviors were often divided between weekdays and weekends focused on after school time, and in some studies excluded academic-based screen-time^{41,49} (e.g., homework online). Additionally, only 3 studies collected screen-time as a continuous variable^{36,51,60}. In terms of affect measurement, only the studies assessing solely negative affect used a previously established measure of affect^{40,59}; the remaining studies assessed affect through purpose-built items^{26,41,49}. Similar to the other indices of SB, studies that examined life satisfaction either utilized a single-item measure^{20,26,35–38,45,51} (e.g., Cantril's Ladder) or used the SWLS^{34,58,60}. As with other studies, 2 of the 3 studies that examined hedonic well-being used the WEMWBS^{32,50}, while the remaining study used a subsection of an adolescent-specific questionnaire⁵² (i.e., KIDSCREEN). Additional details can be found in *Table 1*.

In sum, screen time demonstrated weak detrimental or null relationships with hedonic well-being outcomes. Mixed associations between positive affect and screen time were observed: 3 studies did not identify a relationship^{26,41,49}, while 1 study did show a marginal improvement in odds ratio (OR = 1.06, 95% CI: [1.02, 1.10]) for being happy among adolescents who met screen time guidelines⁴¹ (i.e., ≤ 2 hours per day). The opposite was true for negative affect, of which 3 studies identified a positive relationship^{26,40,59} and 1 study did not⁴⁹. Similarly, mixed findings between life satisfaction and screen time were observed: 2 studies found that TV watching, specifically, was not associated with life satisfaction^{51,60}; however 1 study indicated TV watching TV for >4 hours per day on school days (and no other screen behavior) was negatively associated with life satisfaction⁵⁸. Other studies revealed significant negative associations between life satisfaction and increased screen time^{20,34,35} or not meeting screen time guidelines³⁷. Two studies examining hedonic well-being and screen time found a negative association between increased screen time/TV watching and well-being^{32,50}, however, 1 study did not find any

relationship between screen time and well-being among boys and girls who consistently reported over screen time guidelines two years apart⁵².



Figure 2: Pinwheel of associations between indices of sedentary behavior and outcomes of hedonic well-being.

2.4 Discussion

This scoping review examined literature relating indices of SB (i.e., objectively-measured and self-reported indices of SB, objectively-measured and self-reported PI, and screen time) and hedonic well-being outcomes (i.e., affect, life satisfaction, hedonic well-being). The broad inclusion criteria of this scoping review reflect the dearth of compiled literature examining these relationships, the variability among instruments assessing hedonic well-being, as well as the evolving operationalization and measurement of SB¹². Consequently, this review presents unique trends among different definitions of SB and outcomes of hedonic well-being, revealing the

contextual nature of these sitting behaviors. For ease of presentation and interpretation, the findings from this review are discussed based upon the differing operational definitions of SB: (a) objectively-measured SB, (b) self-reported SB, (c) objectively-measured PI, (d) self-reported PI, and (e) screen time.

2.4.1 Objectively-Measured Sedentary Behavior

Overall, objectively-measured SB was either weakly and negatively related or unrelated to hedonic well-being outcomes (see Table 1 and Figure 2). Each of the articles examining objectively-measured SB found, at least in part, a null association with their outcome of hedonic well-being. In the study examining positive affect, pleasantness between groups before an oral glucose tolerance test (OGTT) was not significantly different²⁷. Significant differences favoring the Sitless group (vs. Sit group) were only present after administration of the OGTT, which the authors infer may be a product of the lingering improvements to insulin sensitivity from a reduced sedentary intervention. These findings coincide with some objectively-measured PI work, which support the predictive role of PI on positive affect; specifically, higher levels of PI during the day predict lower subsequent positive affect^{28,61}. Importantly, no study examined negative affect and objectively-measured SB, necessitating future work explicating this relationship.

The study examining life satisfaction found a mixed weak negative/null correlation with objectively-measured SB⁴². Specifically, lower within-subject (i.e., self-compared) SB predicted lower life satisfaction, in contrast to the null associations found between-subject SB. Notably, this predictive relationship was absent when self-reported SB was examined, which may denote an effect of total actual sitting behavior on life satisfaction, unique from the perception of one's SB or specific sedentary activities.

With respect to hedonic well-being, no association was observed between total sitting time or number of sit-to-stand transitions⁴⁶. However, this study utilized a cross-sectional design, which may have masked or been unable to capture the effect of any within-subject differences. Given the null between-subjects findings of the above studies examining affect and life satisfaction, the ability to assess hedonic well-being longitudinally may present unique relationships. For example, designs assessing hedonic well-being and objectively-measured SB

at two or more time points during the day, similar to Elavsky and colleagues²⁸, and Zenk and colleagues⁶¹, can determine the directionality and potential predictive capability of hedonic wellbeing on objectively-measured SB.

In sum, these results allude to the sensitive and fluctuating nature of positive affect, as well as the potential importance of within-individual changes in SB for hedonic well-being outcomes, which may explain the mixed/null results among observational studies with single or infrequent assessment points. By contrast, life satisfaction is a more stable construct than affect⁶⁷, and is likely less malleable to change, especially from habitual activities like sitting. Rather, changes in life satisfaction may be more sensitive to within-person changes in sitting (i.e., more or less sitting than is typical), rather than an objectively high or low level of sitting.

Objectively-measured SB represents the most valid and accurate means we currently have of observing total sitting behavior¹⁵. While these methods do have some weaknesses (e.g., distinguishing sleep and domain-specific sitting behaviors), use of these instruments are the most likely to shed light on whether actual sitting behaviors (e.g., total sitting, sit-to-stand transitions) have relationships with hedonic well-being outcomes. Hence, additional research utilizing inclinometers (e.g., ActivPAL) and longitudinal/experimental designs (e.g., ecological momentary assessment) is needed to further elucidate the causation and directionality of these relationships.

2.4.2 Self-Reported Sedentary Behavior

Overall, relationships between self-reported SB and outcomes of well-being are unclear. The two self-reported sedentary behavior studies that did not report a mixed association were confounded by some measure of physical activity; Bampton and colleagues assessed SB in combination with resistance training⁵⁵, while the indirect association observed by Buck and colleagues was through availability of recreational facilities⁶⁴. Consistent associations were presented for affect. In all but one study – of which positive affect was measured as a single-item within a broader questionnaire³⁹ – positive affect was negatively associated with self-reported SB. In particular, work by Hogan and colleagues found SB predicted less frequent positive emotions, after controlling for physical activity³³, further supporting the findings of previously mentioned objectively-measured SB and physical inactivity studies^{28,61}. Conversely, a null finding was

consistently observed between negative affect and self-reported SB. Given that each study examining negative affect measured or analyzed sitting time as a total daily/weekly measure, these null findings could be indicative of the minimally negative affective contribution of sitting as a behavior, rather than the context in which it is performed. Since these null associations conflict with the positive relationships observed between negative affect and screen time, future work should explore whether these null associations are mirrored for other domain-specific sitting behaviors.

Generally, life satisfaction has weak negative or null associations with self-reported SB. However, when excluding studies that implied physical activity as part of their analyses^{55,64}, relationships between life satisfaction become more nuanced. Specifically, life satisfaction may be influenced primarily within-subject variance in SB, rather than between-subject variance. In other words, how sedentary an individual, compared to how sedentary they typically are, may influence their life satisfaction, or vice-versa – independent of how much sitting they actually do, compared to others. Additionally, the context of sitting behavior is likely associated with life satisfaction, as O'Neill and Dogra note significant variability among different sedentary activities and odds for reporting good life satisfaction¹⁰. For example, activities such as computer use and socializing with others were associated with greater odds of reporting good life satisfaction; though notably these odds did vary among age groups, supporting the notion that life satisfaction is an individualized construct⁶⁸.

Among the only study that examined overall hedonic well-being, no relationship was found; however, the experimental intervention was also unable to manipulate SB between the groups, which may explain the null findings⁴⁸. Notably, while the authors collected domain-specific measures of SB, they analyzed the results as a total sitting time. More research examining this relationship using both total and domain-specific sitting measures is required.

Currently, certain self-reported measures of SB are likely the most feasible way to assess individuals' domain-specific sitting behaviors (e.g., SIT-Q $7d^{16}$) outside of direct observation. Given the malleable nature of some well-being outcomes, like affect, it is reasonable to hypothesize that the context/domain of a sitting behavior and perhaps demographic characteristics (e.g., age) have unique effects on these outcomes, independent of the actual sitting

behavior itself. For example, increased time spent sitting in the transportation domain of sitting (e.g., commuting) has been linked to lower well-being⁶⁹. Hence, further work relating a wider range of domains and sitting behaviors with hedonic well-being outcomes in diverse populations is warranted.

2.4.3 Objectively-Measured Physical Inactivity

Overall, objectively-measured PI showed a weak detrimental association with outcomes hedonic well-being (see Table 1 and Figure 2). Among studies examining positive affect, results are mixed^{18,28,44,61}. However, the longitudinal studies revealed greater prior physical inactivity predicting lower positive affect during the next day or moment^{28,61}. This "lagged momentary" effect of physical inactivity on positive affect may explain the null findings for some crosssectional studies. Conversely, studies examining negative affect consistently reported weak, positive associations with objectively-reported SB^{28–30,44,61}. Specifically, greater levels of daily negative affect are related to, and may predict, greater PI. However, none of these studies account for depression or anxiety when considering negative affect. Whether these effects are related uniquely to negative affect, or whether they can be accounted for through inclusion of these mental health measures has implications for interventions specifically aimed at improving well-being outcomes.

Relationships with life satisfaction and objectively-measured PI were also mixed and weak, similar to positive affect (see Table 1 and Figure 2). Most studies did not demonstrate an association. One study examined life satisfaction scores through quartiles of depression scores, which likely confounds its relationship with PI⁵⁴. Of note, work by Maher and colleagues reported previous day life satisfaction negatively influencing subsequent day PI when self-reported⁴³; however, this association was absent when examining the objective accelerometer data. These results lend themselves to the role of perception of SB as an influence on well-being outcomes, given the within-subjects (but not between-subjects) differences noted by several studies^{28,43,61}.

The operationalization of PI (i.e., "sedentary time") in these studies raises some limitations to how these data are interpreted. Sedentary behavior, as has been recently established, comprises of a waking qualifier, an activity level threshold, and a postural component¹². Accelerometers, by design, are only able to distinguish the activity level threshold of SB through counts per minute (e.g., <100 counts per minute, typically). Additionally, given where most accelerometers are worn (e.g., hip or arm) and wear protocols (e.g., taken off during aquatic activities), there are forms of activity and SB that are not captured by these devices, like standing behaviors or seated exercises. While some research has found the differences in captured SB between the ActivPAL3 inclinometer and ActiGraph GT3X+ accelerometer to be non-significant, evidence still recommends use of an inclinometer to capture SB, as these methods are not necessarily interchangeable⁷⁰.

2.4.4 Self-Reported Physical Inactivity

Overall, self-reported PI appeared to have a weak detrimental effect on hedonic well-being outcomes, similar to objectively-measured PI (see Table 1 and Figure 2). Notably, two studies noted both positive and negative affect, as well as changes in positive and negative affect, as being weakly predictive of PI^{14,66}, contrary to objective evidence which only denotes negative affect as being predictive of PI^{28,61}. Life satisfaction was also consistently negatively related to higher self-reported PI.

There are some considerations that must be taken into account when interpreting selfreported PI results as a proxy for SB. Physical inactivity inherently mirrors physical activity levels; time that is not spent being physically active – which is typically defined as moderate-tovigorous in intensity – is considered PI. This distinction is reflected in how PI is measured and analyzed. For example, Strine and colleagues considered participants to be physically inactive if they reported not participating in *any* leisure-time physical activity during the past 30 days⁵³. Similarly, Barile and colleagues classified 'sedentary' time as participants reporting 0 minutes/week of physical activity⁶². Other studies yet dichotomize PI as not meeting physical activity guidelines⁶³. Ultimately, these categorizations of PI compare those individuals who are very physically inactive with those who are not. In essence, these findings likely represent relationships between hedonic well-being outcomes and the most sedentary percentiles of individuals.

However, many non-SB do not overlap with either physical activity or PI. For example, standing or light-intensity incidental movements, like walking, would be considered PI, just like

sitting. Hence, using PI as a proxy measure for SB misrepresents how much/little sedentary an individual is. While the observed relationships between PI and hedonic well-being are reasonable, they are not necessarily representative of typical SB nor its relationship well-being outcomes.

2.4.5 Screen Time

Overall, screen time demonstrated a weak detrimental association with hedonic well-being outcomes (see Table 1 and Figure 2). Positive affect was the exception, with only one of the three studies finding a negative association with screen time⁴¹. Notably, this negative association with positive affect and screen time was only present when dichotomizing screen time by meeting/not meeting guidelines; the authors noted no relationship between happiness and recreational or academic screen time⁴¹. Conversely, weak positive associations between screen time and negative affect were consistent. However, the study that did not identify a positive association with negative affect amalgamated various screen time activities into a binary measure⁴⁹ (i.e., did/did not participate), which may have masked effects of individual screen behaviors.

Life satisfaction was negatively associated with screen time in most studies. Of the studies included, TV watching was the most common screen behavior to show a negative association with life satisfaction (see Table 1 and Figure 2). Results of some studies^{37,38,45,58} suggest there may a threshold of screen time that, above which, life satisfaction is negatively impacted. This threshold may be similar to current screen time guidelines (e.g., <2 hours per day) or more excessive levels of screen behavior (\geq 4 hours per day). The presence of a threshold level of screen time is further supported by the results of included studies examining hedonic well-being³² (e.g., \geq 3 hours per day). These findings are in line with a recent review of reviews⁷¹, which found screen time to be weakly correlated with poorer quality of life and well-being; however, one important distinction between the review by Stiglic and Viner, and the present work, is the definition of well-being. Our review focuses on hedonic well-being, which, while similar to health-related quality of life, is grounded in a salutogenic approach to health, rather than the pathogenic slant of the latter⁷².

Relationships observed between screen time and outcomes of hedonic well-being are distinct from self-reported SB, which suggests that the effect of screen time is unique from overall sitting behavior. This notion is further evidence by the negative relationships that screen time has with perceived health status and quality of family relationships³⁵, as well as social media's negative role on well-being through social comparison and isolation⁷³. Importantly, age may be a modifier when it comes to screen time. For instance, older adults are less likely than younger demographics to be using social media, which may reduce their risk for social comparison impacting their well-being. Contrary, findings from O'Neill and Dogra indicate that computer use is associated with the greatest likelihood of reporting good life satisfaction of any reported activity among older adults¹⁰. Thus, while it appears screen time is negatively associated with outcomes of hedonic well-being, further research is required to disentangle the contribution of the contextual effect of these screen-based activities as compared to the contribution of the sitting behavior itself, as well as exploring any demographic moderators. In other words, does watching TV, for example, have a unique effect on well-being, independent of sitting? And if so, for which populations?

Notably, the use of smartphone and handheld electronic devices was only assessed explicitly by one study. Given the rise in popularity of these devices, especially among younger adults and adolescents, coupled with their associations with detrimental mental health effects, such as smartphone-based anxiety and addiction (i.e., Nomophobia⁷⁴), future research should include the use of these devices within screen time instruments.

2.4.6 Limitations

There are some limitations to note with the scoping review process. While our search strategy did uncover a large body of evidence related to our research question, the inclusion of some terms may have increased the reach of our searches. For example, the term "wellbeing" versus "well-being" has been adopted by some authors and groups as a means of delineating between well-being as the opposite of ill-being, and well-being as "what makes life go well for someone"⁷⁵. Similarly, synonyms for affect, such as mood, emotion(s), and feelings may have revealed additional relevant literature. Finally, owing to the considerable number of articles screened and the limited team members for this review, our results are only up to date as of May 2019.

2.4.7 Conclusion

This review found weak, detrimental associations between some indices of SB and outcomes of hedonic well-being; specifically, these relationships appear to be more sensitive to within-person changes in indices of SB. In other words, greater levels of SB/PI/screen time than is typical for an individual may predict lower positive affect, greater negative affect, and lower life satisfaction, independent of physical activity. Unique detrimental relationships between screen time and other domains of sitting with outcomes of hedonic well-being, compared with total sitting, highlight the contextual nature of sitting behaviors and the potential moderating role of demographic characteristics (e.g., age, gender). Future work should look to assess sedentary time, as it is currently defined¹², through longitudinal and experimental designs, using both objective and self-reported instruments in diverse populations in order to capture the nature of relationships between total and domain-specific SB and outcomes of hedonic well-being.

2.4.8 Funding

No funding was received for the conduction or completion of this scoping review.

2.5 References

- Diener E, Pressman SD, Hunter J, Delgadillo-Chase D. If, Why, and When Subjective Well-Being Influences Health, and Future Needed Research. Appl Psychol Heal Well-Being. 2017;9(2):133–67.
- Monden C. Subjective Health and Subjective Well-Being BT Encyclopedia of Quality of Life and Well-Being Research. In: Michalos AC, editor. Dordrecht: Springer Netherlands; 2014. p. 6423–6. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1007/978-94-007-0753-5_3957
- Ong AD. Pathways linking positive emotion and health in later life. Curr Dir Psychol Sci. 2010;19(6):358–62.
- Ryan RM, Deci EL. On Happiness and Human Potentials: A Review of Research on Hedonic and Eudaimonic Well-Being. Annu Rev Psychol [Internet]. 2001 Feb 1;52(1):141–66. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141
- 5. Diener E. Subjective well-being: The science of happiness and a proposal for a national index. Am Psychol. 2000 Jan;55(1):34–43.
- Ryan RM, Frederick C. On Energy, Personality, and Health: Subjective Vitality as a Dynamic Reflection of Well-Being. Journal Personal. 1997;65(September 1997):28–31.
- Kushlev K, Drummond DM, Diener E. Subjective Well-Being and Health Behaviors in
 2.5 Million Americans. Appl Psychol Heal Well-Being. 2020;12(1):166–87.
- Magnan RE, Kwan BM, Bryan AD. Effects of current physical activity on affective response to exercise: physical and social-cognitive mechanisms. Psychol Health [Internet]. 2012/10/23. 2013;28(4):418–33. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/23088712
- Maher JP, Pincus AL, Ram N, Conroy DE. Daily physical activity and life satisfaction across adulthood. Dev Psychol [Internet]. 2015/08/17. 2015 Oct;51(10):1407–19. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/26280838

- O'Neill C, Dogra S. Different Types of Sedentary Activities and Their Association With Perceived Health and Wellness Among Middle-Aged and Older Adults: A Cross-Sectional Analysis. Am J Heal Promot. 2016;30(5):314–22.
- Wrosch C, Sabiston CM. Goal adjustment, physical and sedentary activity, and well-being and health among breast cancer survivors. Psychooncology [Internet]. 2013 Mar;22(3):581–9. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cin20&AN=104243502&site=eh ost-live
- 12. Tremblay MS, Aubert S, Barnes JD, Saunders TJ, Carson V, Latimer-Cheung AE, et al. Sedentary Behavior Research Network (SBRN)—Terminology Consensus Project process and outcome. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act [Internet]. 2017 Jun 10;14:17. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1915376139?accountid=15115
- González K, Fuentes J, Márquez JL. Physical Inactivity, Sedentary Behavior and Chronic Diseases. Korean J Fam Med [Internet]. 2017/05/23. 2017 May;38(3):111–5. Available from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/28572885
- Jones F, O'Connor DB, Conner M, McMillan B, Ferguson E. Impact of daily mood, work hours, and iso-strain variables on self-reported health behaviors. J Appl Psychol. 2007 Nov;92(6):1731–40.
- 15. Kim Y, Barry VW, Kang M. Validation of the ActiGraph GT3X and activPAL accelerometers for the assessment of sedentary behavior. Meas Phys Educ Exerc Sci [Internet]. 2015 Jul;19(3):125–37. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1710262016?accountid=15115
- Wijndaele K, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Godino JG, Lynch BM, Griffin SJ, Westgate K, et al. Reliability and validity of a domain-specific last 7-d sedentary time questionnaire. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2014;
- 17. Prince SA, Cardilli L, Reed JL, Saunders TJ, Kite C, Douillette K, et al. A comparison of self-reported and device measured sedentary behaviour in adults: A systematic review and

meta-analysis. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2020;17(1):1–17.

- Maher JP, Dzubur E, Nordgren R, Huh J, Chou C-PP, Hedeker D, et al. Do fluctuations in positive affective and physical feeling states predict physical activity and sedentary time? Psychol Sport Exerc [Internet]. 2019 Mar;41:153–61. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sph&AN=134215000&site=ehost -live
- Tennant R, Hiller L, Fishwick R, Platt S, Joseph S, Weich S, et al. The Warwick-Dinburgh mental well-being scale (WEMWBS): Development and UK validation. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2007;5:1–13.
- Iannotti RJ, Janssen I, Haug E, Kololo H, Annaheim B, Borraccino A. Interrelationships of adolescent physical activity, screen-based sedentary behaviour, and social and psychological health. Int J Public Health. 2009 Sep;54 Suppl 2:191–8.
- Munn Z, Peters MDJ, Stern C, Tufanaru C, McArthur A, Aromataris E. Systematic review or scoping review? Guidance for authors when choosing between a systematic or scoping review approach. BMC Med Res Methodol [Internet]. 2018;18(1):143. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-018-0611-x
- Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMA-ScR): Checklist and Explanation. Ann Intern Med [Internet]. 2018 Sep 4;169(7):467–73. Available from: https://www.acpjournals.org/doi/abs/10.7326/M18-0850
- Sui W, Smith ST, Fagan MJ, Rollo S, Prapavessis H. The effects of sedentary behaviour interventions on work-related productivity and performance outcomes in real and simulated office work: A systematic review. Appl Ergon. 2019;75.
- 24. Rollo S, Gaston A, Prapavessis H. Cognitive and Motivational Factors Associated with Sedentary Behavior: A Systematic Review. AIMS public Heal. 2016;3(4):956–84.
- Moher D, Liberati A, Tetzlaff J, Altman DG, Altman D, Antes G, et al. Preferred reporting items for systematic reviews and meta-analyses: The PRISMA statement. PLoS Med. 2009;6(7).

- Depp CA, Schkade DA, Thompson WK, Jeste D V. Age, affective experience, and television use. Am J Prev Med. 2010 Aug;39(2):173–8.
- Duvivier BMFM, Schaper NC, Koster A, van Kan L, Peters HPF, Adam JJ, et al. Benefits of Substitution Sitting with Standing and Walking in Free-living Conditions for Cardiometabolic Risk Markers, cognition and Mood in Overweight Adults. Front Physiol. 2017 Jun;8.
- Elavsky S, Kishida M, Mogle JA. Concurrent and lagged relations between momentary affect and sedentary behavior in middle-aged women. Menopause-The J North Am Menopause Soc. 2016 Aug;23(8):919–23.
- 29. Ellingson LD, Meyer JD, Shook RP, Dixon PM, Hand GA, Wirth MD, et al. Changes in sedentary time are associated with changes in mental wellbeing over 1 year in young adults. Prev Med Reports [Internet]. 2018;11:274–81. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85050881516&doi=10.1016%2Fj.pmedr.2018.07.013&partnerID=40&md5=593116d462 13f81c96f09a6d5a4bac99
- Endrighi R, Steptoe A, Hamer M. The effect of experimentally induced sedentariness on mood and psychobiological responses to mental stress. Br J Psychiatry. 2016 Mar;208(3):245–51.
- Finch LE, Tomiyama AJ, Ward A. Taking a Stand: The Effects of Standing Desks on Task Performance and Engagement. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017 Aug;14(8).
- Hamer M, Yates T, Kampert LB, Clemes SA, Shankar A, Sherar L. Association of after school sedentary behaviour in adolescence with mental wellbeing in adulthood. Prev Med (Baltim) [Internet]. 2016;87:6–10. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.02.021
- 33. Hogan CL, Catalino LI, Mata J, Fredrickson BL. Beyond emotional benefits: Physical activity and sedentary behaviour affect psychosocial resources through emotions. Psychol Health [Internet]. 2015 Mar;30(3):354–69. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgi-bin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1655758910?accountid=15115

- Hrafnkelsdottir SM, Brychta RJ, Rognvaldsdottir V, Gestsdottir S, Chen KY, Johannsson E, et al. Less screen time and more frequent vigorous physical activity is associated with lower risk of reporting negative mental health symptoms among Icelandic adolescents. PLoS One. 2018 Apr;13(4).
- 35. Iannotti RJ, Kogan MD, Janssen I, Boyce WF. Patterns of Adolescent Physical Activity, Screen-Based Media Use, and Positive and Negative Health Indicators in the US and Canada. J Adolesc Heal. 2009 May;44(5):493–9.
- 36. Janssen I. Estimating Whether Replacing Time in Active Outdoor Play and Sedentary Video Games With Active Video Games Influences Youth's Mental Health. J Adolesc Heal. 2016 Nov;59(5):517–22.
- Janssen I, Roberts KC, Thompson W. Is adherence to the Canadian 24-Hour Movement Behaviour Guidelines for Children and Youth associated with improved indicators of physical, mental, and social health? Appl Physiol Nutr Metab [Internet]. 2017 Jul;42(7):725–31. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sph&AN=123803229&site=ehost -live
- 38. Kleszczewska D, Szkutnik AM, Siedlecka J, Mazur J. Physical activity, sedentary behaviours and duration of sleep as factors affecting the well-being of young people against the background of environmental moderators. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2019 Mar;16(6). Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85062969203&doi=10.3390%2Fijerph16060915&partnerID=40&md5=b48b9298078161f c1075e53c7d545307
- 39. Knowles O, Gastin P, Kremer P. Time use and health and wellbeing outcomes of sport school students in Australia. Sport Sci Health [Internet]. 2017 Aug;13(2):427–35. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sph&AN=124376671&site=ehost -live
- 40. Kremer P, Elshaug C, Leslie E, Toumbourou JW, Patton GC, Williams J. Physical

activity, leisure-time screen use and depression among children and young adolescents. J Sci Med Sport [Internet]. 2014 Mar;17(2):183–7. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1544981676?accountid=15115

- Lee T-Y, Spence JC, Tremblay MS, Carson V. Meeting 24-Hour Movement Guidelines for Children and Youth and associations with psychological well-being among South Korean adolescents. Ment Health Phys Act. 2018 Mar;14:66–73.
- Maher JP, Conroy DE. Daily Life Satisfaction in Older Adults as a Function of (In)Activity. Journals Gerontol Ser B [Internet]. 2017 Jul 1;72(4):593–602. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbv086
- Maher JP, Doerksen SE, Elavsky S, Conroy DE. Daily satisfaction with life is regulated by both physical activity and sedentary behavior. J Sport Exerc Psychol. 2014 Apr;36(2):166–78.
- 44. Mailey EL, Rosenkranz SK, Ablah E, Swank A, Casey K. Effects of an Intervention to Reduce Sitting at Work on Arousal, Fatigue, and Mood Among Sedentary Female Employees: A Parallel-Group Randomized Trial. J Occup Environ Med. 2017 Dec;59(12):1166–71.
- 45. Matin N, Kelishadi R, Heshmat R, Motamed-Gorji N, Djalalinia S, Motlagh ME, et al. Joint association of screen time and physical activity on self-rated health and life satisfaction in children and adolescents: the CASPIAN-IV study. Int Health. 2017 Jan;9(1):58–68.
- 46. Okely JA, Cukic I, Shaw RJ, Chastin SF, Dall PM, Deary IJ, et al. Positive and negative well-being and objectively measured sedentary behaviour in older adults: evidence from three cohorts. BMC Geriatr [Internet]. 2019 Jan 30;19(1):1–10. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cin20&AN=134377201&site=eh ost-live
- 47. Ormel J, Kempen GIJM, Deeg DJH, Brilman EI, van Sonderen E, Relyveld J.Functioning, well-being, and health perception in late middle-aged and older people:

Comparing the effects of depressive symptoms and chronic medical conditions. J Am Geriatr Soc [Internet]. 1998 Jan;46(1):39–48. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgi-bin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/619182845?accountid=15115

- 48. Puig-Ribera A, Bort-Roig J, Gine-Garriga M, Gonzalez-Suarez AM, Martinez-Lemos I, Fortuno J, et al. Impact of a workplace `sit less, move more' program on efficiency-related outcomes of office employees. BMC Public Health. 2017 May;17.
- 49. Rusby JC, Westling E, Crowley R, Light JM. Psychosocial correlates of physical and sedentary activities of early adolescent youth. Health Educ Behav. 2014 Feb;41(1):42–51.
- Shiue I. Duration of daily TV/screen watching with cardiovascular, respiratory, mental and psychiatric health: Scottish Health Survey, 2012-2013. Int J Cardiol [Internet].
 2015;186:241–6. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-84929148982&doi=10.1016%2Fj.ijcard.2015.03.259&partnerID=40&md5=c82eba0f5da8 6160d1c988da07ba5ffc
- 51. Sirgy MJ, Lee DJ, Kosenko R, Meadow HL, Rahtz D, Cicic M, et al. Does television viewership play a role in the perception of quality of life? J Advert. 1998;27(1):125–42.
- 52. Straatmann VS, Oliveira AJ, Rostila M, Lopes CS. Changes in physical activity and screen time related to psychological well-being in early adolescence: findings from longitudinal study ELANA. BMC Public Health [Internet]. 2016;16(1):977. Available from: http://bmcpublichealth.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12889-016-3606-8
- 53. Strine TW, Chapman DP, Balluz LS, Moriarty DG, Mokdad AH. The associations between life satisfaction and health-related quality of life, chronic illness, and health behaviors among U.S. community-dwelling adults. J Community Health [Internet]. 2008 Feb;33(1):40–50. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cin20&AN=105862255&site=eh ost-live
- 54. Vallance JK, Bebb GD, Boyle T, Johnson ST, Gardiner PA, D'Silva A. Psychosocial health is associated with objectively assessed sedentary time and light intensity physical activity among lung cancer survivors. Ment Health Phys Act [Internet]. 2018 Mar;14:61–

5. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/2135208853?accountid=15115

- 55. Bampton EA, Johnson ST, Vallance JK. Profiles of resistance training behavior and sedentary time among older adults: Associations with health-related quality of life and psychosocial health. Prev Med reports. 2015;2:773–6.
- 56. Vallance JK, Boyle T, Courneya KS, Lynch BM. Accelerometer-assessed physical activity and sedentary time among colon cancer survivors: associations with psychological health outcomes. J Cancer Surviv. 2015 Sep;9(3):404–11.
- 57. Withall J, Stathi A, Davis M, Coulson J, Thompson JL, Fox KR. Objective Indicators of Physical Activity and Sedentary Time and Associations with Subjective Well-Being in Adults Aged 70 and Over. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2014 Jan;11(1):643. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1534846885?accountid=15115
- 58. Yan H, Zhang R, Oniffrey TM, Chen G, Wang Y, Wu Y, et al. Associations among Screen Time and Unhealthy Behaviors, Academic Performance, and Well-Being in Chinese Adolescents. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017 Jun;14(6).
- 59. Yang F, Helgason AR, Sigfusdottir ID, Kristjansson AL. Electronic screen use and mental well-being of 10-12-year-old children. Eur J Public Health. 2013 Jun;23(3):492–8.
- Yang H, Oliver MB. Exploring the effects of television viewing on perceived life quality: A combined perspective of material value and upward social comparison. Mass Commun Soc. 2010;13(2):118–38.
- 61. Zenk SN, Horoi I, Jones KK, Finnegan L, Corte C, Riley B, et al. Environmental and personal correlates of physical activity and sedentary behavior in African American women: An ecological momentary assessment study. Women Health [Internet]. 2017 Apr;57(4):446–62. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1888775209?accountid=15115
- 62. Barile JP, Mitchell SA, Thompson WW, Zack MM, Reeve BB, Cella D, et al. Patterns of chronic conditions and their associations with behaviors and quality of life, 2010. Prev

Chronic Dis Public Heal Res Pract Policy [Internet]. 2015 Dec 17;12:11. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1899142147?accountid=15115

- 63. Baumann M, Tchicaya A, Lorentz N, Le Bihan E. Life satisfaction and longitudinal changes in physical activity, diabetes and obesity among patients with cardiovascular diseases. BMC Public Health. 2017 Dec;17(1):925.
- 64. Buck C, Loyen A, Foraita R, Van Cauwenberg J, De Craemer M, Mac Donncha C, et al. Factors influencing sedentary behaviour: A system based analysis using Bayesian networks within DEDIPAC. PLoS One [Internet]. 2019 Jan;14(1). Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85060828366&doi=10.1371%2Fjournal.pone.0211546&partnerID=40&md5=5d9e5740b0 5b7da5598d0d069ce8c31c
- 65. Buman MP, Hekler EB, Haskell WL, Pruitt L, Conway TL, Cain KL, et al. Objective Light-Intensity Physical Activity Associations With Rated Health in Older Adults. Am J Epidemiol [Internet]. 2010 Nov 15;172(10):1155–65. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/856771652?accountid=15115
- 66. Dalton ED. Explication of the relationship between depressive symptoms, stress, and health behaviors in young adults [Internet]. Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering. University of California, Los Angeles; 2018. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgi-bin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1960503598?accountid=15115
- 67. Diener E. Subjective well-being. Psychol Bull [Internet]. 1984 May;95(3):542–75.
 Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/614360509?accountid=15115
- Diener E, Emmons RA, Larsen RJ, Griffin S. The Satisfaction With Life Scale. J Pers Assess [Internet]. 1985;49(1):71–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16367493

- 69. Chatterjee K, Chng S, Clark B, Davis A, De Vos J, Ettema D, et al. Commuting and wellbeing: a critical overview of the literature with implications for policy and future research. Transp Rev. 2020;40(1):5–34.
- Pfister T, Matthews CE, Wang Q, Kopciuk KA, Courneya K, Friedenreich C. Comparison of two accelerometers for measuring physical activity and sedentary behaviour. BMJ Open Sport Exerc Med. 2017;3(1):1–8.
- 71. Stiglic N, Viner RM. Effects of screentime on the health and well-being of children and adolescents: a systematic review of reviews. BMJ Open. 2019 Jan;9(1):e023191.
- Dodge R, Daly A, Huyton J, Sanders L. The challenge of defining wellbeing. Int J Wellbeing. 2012;2(3):222–35.
- Clark JL, Algoe SB, Green MC. Social Network Sites and Well-Being: The Role of Social Connection. Curr Dir Psychol Sci. 2018;27(1):32–7.
- 74. Yildirim C, Sumuer E, Adnan M, Yildirim S. A growing fear: Prevalence of nomophobia among Turkish college students. Inf Dev. 2016;32(5):1322–31.
- 75. International Journal of Wellbeing. Editorial Policies [Internet]. [cited 2020 Jun 13].
 Available from: https://www.internationaljournalofwellbeing.org/index.php/ijow/about/editorialPolicies#c ustom-0

Chapter 3

3 Study 2 – Exploring the relationship between sedentary behavior and subjective well-being: A cross-sectional study

3.1 Rationale

Sedentary behaviors (SB) are any set of behaviors that are (1) waking, (2) expend ≤ 1.5 METs, and (3) are performed in a sitting, lying, or reclining posture¹ and encompass behaviors in a variety of different domains/settings (e.g., meals, transportation, occupation). Over the last decade, numerous systematic reviews have documented the link between excessive SB and higher rates of all-cause mortality, diabetes, heart disease, hypertension, and depression².

Notably, the bulk of SB research has examined this relationship through a pathogenic perspective of health that evaluates a person's health status through the presence or absence of disease markers/factors. Through a pathogenic lens, a person with symptoms of Type II Diabetes (e.g., elevated resting blood glucose, impaired glucose tolerance) would be considered unhealthy, as the presence of disease markers contraindicates health. By contrast, a salutogenic approach is concerned with the relationship between health, stress, and coping³. Through this lens, a person exhibiting symptoms of Type II Diabetes may yet be considered healthy if they report favorably on salutogenic outcomes, such as subjective well-being (SWB) or perceived wellness.

Despite being distinct from pathogenesis, salutogenic outcomes are often correlated with health⁴, and hence, have important implications for traditional health and disease outcomes. For example, mental health markers, such as symptoms of depression and anxiety, are often correlated with negative affect – a salutogenic outcome. Salutogenic outcomes may illuminate factors that influence or inform a patient's health status, independent of markers/symptoms of disease (e.g., social determinants of health, satisfaction with life). Recent work has demonstrated correlations between perceived wellness and health-related quality of life in older adults⁵. Additionally, higher levels of SWB have been associated with longevity and may also be predictive of cardiovascular disease⁶.

SWB falls under the salutogenic conceptualization of health, and generally encompasses one's own assessment of their lives and psychological functioning⁴. Specifically, SWB can be

divided into two distinct philosophies: hedonic well-being and eudaimonic well-being. Hedonic well-being posits one's happiness and pleasure as the primary indicators of well-being and is constituted by positive and negative affect (i.e., mood) and life satisfaction (i.e., a global cognitive measure of one's own life compared to an imagined ideal⁴). Eudaimonic well-being posits that seeking pleasure and happiness do not always equate to improvements in well-being; rather, well-being arises from experiencing the actualization of one's true self and the values associated⁴. Because the two types of SWB capture similar, but unique, concepts, there is often value in including instruments that capture both hedonic and eudaimonic well-being when examining SWB; some instruments have been designed to capture both (e.g., Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale⁷, or WEMWBS).

Given the significant amount of time the average person spends engaged in SBs, determining the strength and direction of any potential relationship(s) between SB and SWB has implications for health outcomes and interventions. Work by Maher and colleagues found no predictive capability of subject-level variability in positive affect on levels of SB⁸. Conversely, work by Elavsky and colleagues found an inverse association between concurrent positive affect and SB⁹. Similarly, work by Edwards & Loprinzi demonstrated a detrimental effect on life satisfaction after experimentally increasing SB for 1 week¹⁰. Further research has suggested that there may be no relationship between SWB and SB¹¹ or that the relationship between SB and SWB may be attenuated by physical activity (PA)¹².

The abovementioned research underscores the tenet that relations between SB and outcomes of SWB are inconsistent at this time. A limitation of much of the previous research investigating this relationship lies in the measurement of both of these constructs. Measurement of SWB in relation to SB in prior work has generally focused on only one outcome of SWB^{8,9}.

Similarly, previous studies that have examined SB and SWB often examine either proxies of SB (e.g., screen time) or only total SB¹¹. Evidence suggests that specific domains of SB may uniquely impact health outcomes, distinct from total accumulated sitting⁸. Levels of SB are often higher in populations with inherently sedentary occupations, such as university students¹³. Assessing SWB as a complete concept (i.e., affect, life satisfaction, *and* overall SWB) in relation to total *and* domain-specific SB may illuminate potential mechanisms for the SB and SWB relationship. To the authors' knowledge, no prior work has examined the relationship between both total and domain-specific SB and salient concepts of SWB. Hence, the purpose of this study is to investigate the nature of these relationships within a university student population.

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Design/Sample Size Calculation

A cross-sectional survey study was conducted. To the authors' knowledge, no prior study has examined domain-specific SB in relation to affect, life satisfaction, and overall SWB. Hence, a priori sample size calculation was performed assuming a small correlation (i.e., r = 0.1) between outcomes of interest. Based on a correlation size estimate of r = 0.1, two-tailed $\alpha = 0.05$, and $\beta =$ 0.80, a sample size of 779 participants was acquired¹⁴. After accounting for attrition, a final sample size of 1000 participants was deemed appropriate.

3.2.2 Participants

University students from across Canada were invited to participate in this study. Inclusion criteria included (a) being a full-time university student attending a university, (b) being 18 years of age or older, (c) being able to read and write in English, and (d) having access to a computer/smartphone with internet. Exclusion criteria included only part-time enrollment or currently on a leave of absence from full-time studies at university.

3.2.3 Recruitment

University students were recruited through posters distributed around the host institution's university campus, verbal advertisement during lectures at the host institution, and through online university groups on Facebook.

3.2.4 Data Imputation

All datapoints within outcomes of interest that fell below the 5th percentile or exceeded the 95th percentile were deemed to be outliers. A Winsorisation technique was applied to any outliers in the data; data points under the 5th percentile or over the 95th percentile were replaced with the value of the 5th percentile and 95th percentile, respectively¹⁵.

3.2.5 Measures

3.2.5.1 Sedentary Behavior

3.2.5.1.1 Past 7 days self-compared SB (i.e., total sitting, number of breaks, duration of breaks)

Assessed through three items on a 5-point Likert scale, with a score of 1 indicating 'Much less than normal', 3 indicating 'About the same', and 5 indicating 'Much more than normal'.

3.2.5.1.2 Past 7 days domain-specific SB

Assessed using the modified SIT-Q 7d questionnaire¹⁶. The original SIT-Q 7d instrument¹⁷ is a self-reported questionnaire that measures time spent sitting in various activities in a number of domains of activity over the past 7 days. Participants estimate their sitting time on both an average weekday (WY) and weekend day (WD) by selecting the option that best reflects how much time they spent sitting. The modified version of the SIT-Q 7d also assesses the number, frequency, and duration of breaks from sitting in specific domains. These modifications to the base questionnaire have shown adequate test–retest reliability (r = 0.564- 0.740, ICC = 0.562-0.740, p = .05, n = 21) and face validity among a university student population¹⁶. The full modified SIT-Q 7d can be found in *Appendix C*.

3.2.5.1.3 Past 7 days average weekday SB

Assessed through a single question on the IPAQ-S7S (i.e., 'During the last 7 days, how much time did you spend sitting on a weekday?'). Participants were asked to specify both an hour(s) per day and minute(s) per day estimate.

3.2.5.2 Subjective Well-Being

3.2.5.2.1 Past 7 days positive and negative affect

Assessed through the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule¹⁸ (PANAS). Participants were asked to indicate the extent to which they felt an emotion/feeling over the last 7 days on a 5-point Likert scale. Separate sum scores (range: 10-50) for positive and negative affect. The PANAS has been shown to be valid and reliable measure of affect in this population¹⁸.

3.2.5.2.2 Life satisfaction

Assessed through the Satisfaction with Life Scale¹⁹ (SWLS). The SWLS lists five statements concerning life satisfaction and asks participants to indicate the degree they agree/disagree with each statement on a 7-point Likert scale. A total sum score (range: 7-35) is attained, with higher scores representing higher life satisfaction.

3.2.5.2.3 Overall subjective well-being (SWB)

Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale⁷ (WEMWBS). The WEMWBS a 14-item questionnaire containing statements about feelings and thoughts encompassing both hedonic well-being (i.e., affect and life satisfaction) and eudaimonic well-being (e.g., self-actualization). Participants are asked to indicate the box (corresponding to a score of 1-5) that best describes their experience of the statement over the past two weeks. A total score (range: 14-70) is attained by summing the responses, with higher scores representing greater subjective well-being.

3.2.5.3 Covariates

3.2.5.3.1 Demographics

Assessed through a single question (e.g., "What is your..."). Age, preferred gender, current program of study, current year of study, degree pursuing, and ethnicity were collected.

3.2.5.3.2 Past 7 days depression

Centre for Epidemiological Studies Depression Scale²⁰ (CES-D). The CES-D contains 20 statements related to depression. Participants respond to each statement. A total score (range: 0-60) is attained by summing the responses, with higher scores representing greater depressive symptoms.

3.2.5.3.3 State anxiety

State-Trait Anxiety Inventory Form Y-1²¹ (STAI Form Y-1). The STAI Form Y-1 contains 20 statements of feelings assessing state anxiety (i.e., anxiety "at this moment"). Participants are asked to self-report on the degree they agree with the statements. A total score (range: 20-80) is attained), with higher scores representing greater symptoms of anxiety.

3.2.5.3.4 Past 7 days physical activity

International Physical Activity Questionnaire – Short Form 7 Days²² (IPAQ-S7S). Participants estimate how many days in the past week they performed vigorous physical activity, moderate physical activity, and walking, as well as the average time (i.e., hours/day and minutes/day) they spent engaged in these activities. A total weekly activity time for each physical activity intensity was attained.

3.2.6 Procedure

Interested participants followed the link to the online questionnaire, hosted through SoSci Survey²³, which presented the detailed letter of information and online consent. Participants then completed the online questionnaires, beginning with the demographics questionnaire, followed by the comparative sitting questions, modified SIT-Q 7d questionnaire, IPAQ-S7S, PANAS, the SWLS, the WEMBWS, the CES-D, and the STAI Form Y-1. Following the questionnaire participants could follow a link to a separate webpage to enter their email into a draw for one of twenty \$30 gift cards.

3.2.7 Statistical Analysis

Analysis was computed using IBM SPSS software (version 25). Domain-specific SB question options were recoded to represent the upper limit (i.e., more sedentary) of that option, in order to signify the most conservative estimate of SB (e.g., '15-30 min' recoded to 0.5 hours), and to account for non-linear intervals between response options.

Bivariate correlations were calculated between SB (i.e., total, comparative, and domainspecific) and outcomes of SWB (i.e., positive/negative affect, life satisfaction, and overall SWB). Significant bivariate relations (p<0.05) were further examined using partial correlations controlling for the potential influence of demographic (i.e., age, current year of study), PA (i.e., vigorous, moderate, and light PA), and mental health (i.e., depression, anxiety) variables. Only variables that showed an association with both SB and SWB served as covariates in the partial correlation analyses. Given our large sample size (n > 40), tests of normality were not performed.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Missing data

Of the 1006 total participants who completed the survey, 7 participants were excluded for not meeting inclusion criteria, and 70 participants had incomplete data for some outcome measure. Independent samples t-test revealed no significant differences in demographic characteristics between those who provided incomplete data and those who provided complete data ($p \ge 0.05$). Hence, data were deemed to be missing at random.

Descriptive characteristics of the study sample are shown in *Table 2*. A total sample size of 999 participants completed the survey.

	<i>M</i> (SD)
Age	20.58 (2.92)
Year of Study	n (%)
First Year Second Year Third Year Fourth Year or Higher	396 (39.6) 271 (27.1) 185 (18.5) 147 (14.7)
Gender	n (%)
Men Women Other	160 (16.3) 821 (83.7) 18 (0.8)
Current Degree Pursuing	n (%)
Undergraduate Masters Doctorate or Professional degree	872 (87.3) 83 (8.3) 44 (4.4)
Current Program of Study	n (%)
Arts & Humanities Engineering Health Sciences Information and Media Studies Science Mathematics	150 (15.0) 70 (7.0) 254 (25.4) 35 (3.5) 250 (25.0) 13 (1.3)

Table 2: Demographic characteristics of the sample (n = 999).

Social Sciences	97 (9.7)
Business and Finance	94 (9.4)
Other	36 (3.6)
Ethnicity	n (%)
European/Caucasian	499 (49.9)
Canadian	49 (4.9)
Jewish	9 (0.9)
Hispanic	14 (1.4)
Asian	333 (33.3)
Black	15 (1.5)
African	8 (0.8)
Middle Eastern	24 (2.4)
West Indian	3 (0.3)
Indigenous	7 (0.7)
Mixed	30 (3.0)
Missing	8

3.3.2 Bivariate Correlations between SB and Outcomes of SWB

Bivariate correlations between SB and outcomes of SWB are described in *Table 3*. With respect to positive affect (n = 999), small significant correlations were seen between 12 variables, ranging from r = -0.133 to 0.100. Positive correlations were observed in 7 variables: self-compared weekly break frequency (p = 0.005) and duration (p = 0.002), WY leisure reading (p = 0.026), number of screen time breaks (p = 0.025) and break duration (p = 0.014), WD socializing (p = 0.033), other activity break number (p = 0.003). Negative correlations were observed in 5 variables: self-compared weekly sitting levels (p < 0.001), WY napping (p = 0.001), WD TV (p = 0.038), screen time break frequency (p = 0.026), and average weekday hours of sitting (p < 0.001).

With respect to negative affect (n = 999), small significant correlations were seen between 24 variables, ranging from r = -0.096 to 0.177. Positive correlations were observed in 21 variables: self-compared weekly sitting levels (p < 0.001), WY (p = 0.010) and WD napping (p < 0.001), WD breakfast (p = 0.030), WY (p = 0.005) and WD TV (p = 0.005), WY (p < 0.001) and WD computer use (p < 0.001), WY (p = 0.012) and WD video gaming (p = 0.015), WY (p < 0.001) and WD leisure reading (p < 0.001), WY (p < 0.001) and WD chores (p < 0.001), WY (p < 0.001) and WD caregiving (p = 0.000), WY (p < 0.001) and WD hobbies (p < 0.001), WY social (p = 0.011), WY (p < 0.001) and WD music listening (p < 0.001). Negative
correlations were observed in 3 variables: self-compared weekly break frequency (p = 0.002) and duration (p = 0.002), and WY sleep duration (p = 0.015).

With respect to life satisfaction (n = 999), small significant correlations were observed between 12 variables, ranging from r = -0.135 to 0.087. Positive correlations were observed in 2 variables: WY sleep duration (p = 0.012), and WD social (p = 0.010). Negative correlations were observed in 10 variables: total transportation (p = 0.005), WY (p = 0.032) and WD TV (p < 0.001), WY (p < 0.001) and WD computer use (p < 0.001), screen time break frequency (p = 0.025), WY (p = 0.005) and WD chores (p = 0.008), WY (p = 0.012) and WD music listening (p = 0.012).

With respect to overall subjective well-being (n = 999), small significant correlations were observed between 15 variables, ranging from r = -0.097 to 0.080. Positive correlations were observed in 7 variables: self-compared weekly break duration (p = 0.023), WY (p = 0.09) and WD sleep duration (p = 0.020), WD social (p = 0.012), screen break number (p = 0.004) and duration (p = 0.025), and other activity break number (p = 0.011). Negative correlations were observed in 8 variables: self-compared weekly sitting (p = 0.012), WD TV (p = 0.033), WY (p =0.014) and WD computer use (p = 0.002), screen break frequency (p = 0.033), WY (p = 0.002) and WD music listening (p = 0.017), and average weekday hours of sitting (p = 0.012).

Table 3: Correlations between outcomes of subjective	well-being, total weekd	ay sitting,
self-compared sitting time, and domain-specific sitting	g time.	

Variable	Positive Affect	Negative Affect	LS	SWB			
Weekday Hours of Sitting (<i>n</i> =775)	131**	.056	091*				
Self-Compared Sitting Time (<i>n</i> =999)							
Weekly Self-Compared Sitting Time	133**	.177**	004	080*			
Weekly Self-Compared Break Frequency from Sitting	.088**	096**	009	.046			
Weekly Self-Compared Break Duration from Sitting	.100**	097**	017	.072*			
WY/WD Sleeping and Napping (<i>n</i> =999)							

Sleep	.053 / .040	080*/009	.087*/ .050	.082** / .074*				
Napping	108**/053	.082**/ .114**	037 /032	058 /045				
WY/WD Meals (<i>n</i> =999)								
Breakfast	.028/ .056	.026 / .069*	.011 / .014	.025 / .040				
Lunch	008 / .001	006 / .037	014 /011	.014 / .003				
Dinner	001 / .038	.013 / .012	012 /011	.023 / .019				
	Transporta	ation (<i>n</i> =580)						
Total Weekly Transportation	038	.030	116**	065				
	Occi	upation						
Total Weekly Student (Occupation) Sitting (<i>n</i> =815)	.010	.021	012	.019				
Weekly Class Time (<i>n</i> =836)	018	.067	050	030				
Student (Occupation) Break Frequency (<i>n</i> =829)	034	046	023	.023				
Student (Occupation) Break Duration (<i>n</i> =826)	023	.068	045	012				
Student (Occupation) Break Number (<i>n</i> =823)	.001	.038	.027	.038				
Total Weekly Occupation 2 Sitting (<i>n</i> =350)	.004	.023	.006	.060				
Occupation 2 Break Frequency (<i>n</i> =346)	.007	016	018	.040				
Occupation 2 Break Duration (<i>n</i> =347)	034	.063	.059	.045				
Occupation 2 Break Number (<i>n</i> =316)	084	.082	007	041				
Total Weekly Occupation 3 Sitting (<i>n</i> =85)	153	.122	142	114				
Occupation 3 Break Frequency	.022	.069	.008	.035				

(<i>n</i> =83)							
Occupation 3 Break Duration (<i>n</i> =84)	.038	022	.025	.017			
Occupation 3 Break Number (<i>n</i> =67)	-232	.223	.193	.086			
WY/WD Screen Time (<i>n</i> =999)							
TV	038 /066*	.081*/ .088*	068*/111**	046 /068*			
Computer Use	037 /038	.142**/ .133**	118**/135**	078*/097**			
Video Games	.052 / .026	.080*/ .077*	055 /053	.022 / .011			
Screen Time Break Frequency	071*	.056	073*	067*			
Screen Time Break Duration	.078*	029	.012	.071*			
Screen Time Break Number	.076*	033	.007	.092**			
	WY/WD Other	Activities (<i>n</i> =999)					
Reading	.071*/ .053	.130*/ .124**	.010 / .000	006 /024			
Chores	.008 / .014	.147**/ .130**	089**/084**	043 /039			
Caregiving	.049 / .044	.119**/ .161**	020 /061	005 /035			
Hobbies	.001 / .024	.125**/ .128**	043 /050	031 /036			
Social	.055 / .067*	.081*/ .060	.011 / .082**	.031 / .080*			
Music Listening	028 /015	.121**/ .142**	079*/079**	097**/075*			
Miscellaneous	.045 / .039	.030 / .024	.000 /013	.037 / .019			
Other Activities Break Frequency	027	.015	015	015			
Other Activities Break Duration	.014	.015	.035	.016			
Other Activities Break Number	.095**	007	.053	.080*			

*p<0.05, **p<0.01 (2-tailed).

WY = Weekday, WD = Weekend day, LS = Life Satisfaction, SWB = Subjective Well-Being.

Data with a backslash (x/y) represent weekday and weekend values, respectively.

3.3.3 Partial Correlations between SB and SWB

Partial correlations between significant correlations SB and outcomes of SWB controlling for mental health and demographics are described in *Table 4*. With respect to positive affect, 3 significant partial correlations were observed, ranging from r = -0.126 to 0.120. Specifically, small positive correlations were observed when controlling for depression, anxiety, and total weekly hours of vigorous PA on the relationship between positive affect and: self-compared weekly break duration (p = 0.027) and WY leisure reading (p = 0.001). A small negative correlation was observed when controlling for vigorous PA and moderate PA on the relationship between positive affect and average weekday sitting (p = 0.001).

With respect to negative affect, 8 significant partial correlations were observed, ranging from r = -0.068 to 0.108. Specifically, small positive correlations were observed when controlling for depression and anxiety on the relationship between negative affect and: selfcompared weekly sitting time (p = 0.001), WY computer use (p = 0.009), WY leisure reading (p = 0.006), WY chores (p = 0.045), and WD chores (p = 0.038). A small negative and positive correlation was also observed when controlling for just depression on the relationship between negative affect and weekly self-compared break frequency (p = 0.037) and WY socializing (p = 0.017), respectively.

With respect to life satisfaction, 2 significant partial correlations were observed, ranging from r = -0.087 to -0.072. Specifically, small negative correlations were observed when controlling for depression and anxiety on the relationship between life satisfaction and: WY computer use (p = 0.044), and WD computer use (p = 0.013).

With respect to overall SWB, only 1 significant partial correlation was observed. Specifically, a small positive correlation was observed when controlling for age on the relationship between SWB and screen time break frequency (p = 0.002).

Table 4: Partial correlations between outcomes of subjective well-being and time spent sitting in sedentary activities, controlling for mental health, physical activity, and demographics.

Variable	Positive Affect d, ax, v, m, w	Negative Affect ^{d,} ax, v, a	LS ^{d, ax, v}	SWB ^{d, ax, v, a}			
Self-Compared Weekly Sitting							
Weekly Self-Compared Sitting Time ^{d, ax, m, w}	030 ^{d, ax, m, w} (n = 564, p = .475)	$.108^{** d, ax}$ (<i>n</i> = 924, <i>p</i> = .001)		$057^{d, ax}$ (<i>n</i> = 924, <i>p</i> = .082)			
Weekly Self-Compared Break Frequency from Sitting ^{d, w}	.006 ^{d, w} (n = 633, p = .872)	$068*_{\rm d}$ (<i>n</i> = 948, <i>p</i> = .037)					
Weekly Self-Compared Break Duration from Sitting _{d, ax}	.073* ^{d, ax} ($n = 924, p = .027$)	$044^{d, ax}$ (<i>n</i> = 924, <i>p</i> = .177)		$.023^{d, ax}$ ($n = 924, p = .484$)			
	Sleeping and Napping						
Sleep WY ^{d, ax}		$026^{d, ax}$ (<i>n</i> = 924, <i>p</i> = .421)	$.040^{d, ax}$ (<i>n</i> = 924, <i>p</i> = .218)	$.006^{d, ax}$ ($n = 924, p = .847$)			
Sleep WD ^{d, ax}				$.035^{d, ax}$ ($n = 924, p = .288$)			
Napping WY ^{d, a}	060^{d} (<i>n</i> = 948, <i>p</i> = .066)	$002^{d, a}$ ($n = 924, p = .957$)					
Napping WD ^d		$.049^{d}$ (<i>n</i> = 948, <i>p</i> = .135)					
	\$	Screen Time					
TV WY ^{d, v}	.015 ^{d, v} ($n = 845, p = .653$)	$.001^{d, v}$ (<i>n</i> = 845, <i>p</i> = .980)	$.006^{d, v}$ (<i>n</i> = 845, <i>p</i> = .864)				
TV WD ^{d, ax, v}	$009^{d, ax, v}$ ($n = 822, p = .796$)	$.022^{d, ax, v}$ ($n = 822, p = .525$)	$062^{d, ax, v}$ ($n = 822, p = .079$)	$.036^{d, ax, v}$ ($n = 822, p = .296$)			
Computer Use WY d, ax, v, m		.091** ^{d, ax, v}	070*d, ax, v	.020 ^{d, ax, v}			

		(n = 822, p = .009)	(n = 822, p = .044)	(n = 822, p = .569)
Computer Use WD ^{d, ax, v}		.063 ^{d, ax, v}	087* ^{d, ax, v}	011 ^{d, ax, v}
		(n = 822, p = .069)	(n = 822, p = .013)	(n = 822, p = .745)
Screen Time Break	019 ^{d,v,m,w}		032 ^{d, v}	.002 ^{d, v}
W)	(n = 563, p = .654)		(n = 845, p = .350)	(n = 845, p = .943)
Screen Time Break Number				.099**a
(A, G, DT, M, W)				(n = 996, p = .002)
	Ot	ther Activities		
D ooding WV ^d , ax, m	.120** ^{d, ax, m}	.090** ^{d, ax}		
Reading w 1	(n = 822, p = .001)	(n = 924, p = .006)		
Deading WD d. ax. m. a		.074* ^{d, ax, a}		
Reading wD		(n = 924, p = .024)		
Charge WW dax		.066* ^{d, ax}	035 ^{d, ax}	
Chores w Y ^d , at		(n = 924, p = .045)	(n = 924, p = .282)	
Channes WD d ax m		.068* ^{d, ax}	038 ^{d, ax}	
Chores wD ^{-a, au, au}		(n = 924, p = .038)	(n = 924, p = .245)	
Conceiving WW da		.043 ^{d, a}		
Caregiving w Y ","		(n = 947, p = .188)		
Conscision a WD d a		.059 ^{d, a}		
Caregiving wD		(n = 947, p = .070)		
Hobbing WV d. a		.048 ^{d, a}		
Hobbles w I		(n = 947, p = .140)		
Hobbies WD ^d		.042 ^d		
		(<i>n</i> = 948, <i>p</i> = .191)		
Social WV ^d		$.077^{*d}$		
		(<i>n</i> = 948, <i>p</i> = .017)		
Music Listening WV ^{d, ax, v, a,}		.028 ^{d, ax, v, a}	004 ^{d, ax, v}	.028 ^{d, ax, v, a}
ys		(n = 821, p = .417)	(n = 822, p = 0.916)	(n = 821, p = 0.421)

Music Listening WD ^{d, ax, v, a,}		$.046^{d, ax, v, a}$ ($n = 821, p = .183$)	$.004^{d, ax, v}$ ($n = 822, p = .902$)	$.054^{d, ax, v, a}$ (<i>n</i> = 821, <i>p</i> = .120)
Total Weekly Sitting ^{v, m}	$126^{**v, m}$ (<i>n</i> = 651, <i>p</i> = .001)			064° (<i>n</i> = 716, <i>p</i> = .087)

p*<0.05, *p*<0.01 (2-tailed).

Covariates: ^d = Depression, ^{ax} = Anxiety, ^v = Weekly Vigorous PA, ^m = Weekly Moderate PA, ^w = Weekly Walking, ^a = Age, ^{ys} = Year of Study.

WY = Weekday, WD = Weekend day, LS = Life Satisfaction, SWB = Subjective Well-Being.

3.4 Discussion

This study explored the presence and nature of relationships that exist between SB outcomes (i.e., self-compared, domain-specific, average weekday) and outcomes of SWB (i.e., affect, life satisfaction, overall SWB). Given that outcomes of SWB can be influenced by virtually all behaviors, it was hypothesized that certain domains of sitting and/or sitting behaviors may uniquely impact these outcomes. Our results indicate the presence of several relationships between domains of SB outcomes and outcomes of SWB. Furthermore, many of these relationships remained significant after accounting for mental health (i.e., anxiety, depression), PA, and demographics. These results expand upon our understanding of the relationship between SB and outcomes of SWB.

Many of the small significant correlations between positive affect and SB outcomes can be explained relatively intuitively. Positive relationships observed between WY leisure reading and WD socializing and positive affect likely reflect the positive affectual nature of these activities. Conversely, negative correlations between WY napping, WD TV, and positive affect suggests that these activities are less affectively rewarding, which is supported by the similarly sized positive correlations between these variables and negative affect. Our observed correlation with average weekday hours of sitting and positive affect is line with the bulk of previous research examining affect and SB, which denotes poorer affective responses predicted by greater sitting time^{9,24}. Notably, half of the significant relationships among positive affect encompassed elements of breaks from sitting, suggesting that more frequent and longer breaks from sitting

during screen time and other activities may influence positive affect, which is supported by previous acute paradigms²⁵, and occupational interventions²⁶.

While some of the relationships with negative affect mirror those found with positive affect, many are unique to negative affect. For example, WY and WD computer use, videogaming, chores, caregiving, hobbies, and music listening were all positively associated with negative affect. All forms of screen time (i.e., TV, computer use, videogaming) were positively associated with negative affect. Associations with computer use (and mobile phone use) may be explained, in part, to device-related anxiety. Being unable to access or engage with a smartphone is linked to feelings of anxiety and distress among university students²⁷. Another explanation is that, as university students, engaging in these leisure activities may elicit feelings of guilt, nervousness, or distress when recalled, despite eliciting potential positive affectual responses (e.g., WY/WD videogaming).

Taken together, our work supports the presence of a relationship between affect and SB outcomes. Specifically, there appears to be relationships between positive affect, negative affect, and certain domains of SB, supporting the proposed contextual nature of this relationship⁸. Additionally, our work provides further evidence for the importance of breaks from sitting for positive and negative affect, as compared to previous research primarily examining breaks from sitting from a physiological perspective²⁸ or productivity viewpoint²⁹.

Life satisfaction, of all the outcomes of SWB, had fewest small significant associations with outcomes of SB. This is not surprising, since life satisfaction is described as "global cognitive judgements of satisfaction with one's life"¹⁹ it is reasonably less likely to be influenced by individual behaviors or as frequently as week-to-week (particularly by habitual behaviors like SBs). Only WY sleep duration and WD socializing were positively associated with life satisfaction, further supporting the notion that life satisfaction is a more stable construct than affect, only being associated with largely established influences on SWB³⁰. There was no observed relationship between both self-compared sitting and average weekday sitting and life satisfaction. Recent research supports our finding of no association between sedentary time and satisfaction with life³¹. Work by Maher and colleagues offer an explanation for these null findings, suggesting that within-subject differences of daily SB, but not between-subject differences, influence life satisfaction in both university students³¹. This theory is further

supported by experimental pilot work by Edwards and Loprinzi; the authors experimentally increased SB for 1-week among university students, after which participants reported a significant decrease in self-reported life satisfaction¹⁰. Of the negative relationships we observed, most can be explained by the context of the activity. Total time spent sitting in transportation, for instance, is supported by research linking duration of commuting to lower life satisfaction, especially among sedentary modes of commuting³². In terms of screen time, negative associations between life satisfaction, computer use and TV mirror previous research examining screen time and life satisfaction. Yan et al., found that only leisure-based screen activities (i.e., TV, social networking sites, and videos) were negatively associated with life satisfaction among Chinese adolescents, but not 'receiving news' or 'study materials'³³; the authors propose the use of screen-based devices for studying may neutralize their negative effects. Our work supports this hypothesis, since we did not observe any negative (or otherwise) relationships between outcomes of SWB and any occupational SB (e.g., studying, class, etc.), which included screen-based SBs related to their occupation.

The modest relationships between overall SWB and SB outcomes generally followed the trends previously observed for positive affect and life satisfaction. Namely, greater WY/WD sleep duration were positively correlated with overall SWB, while TV, computer use, and average weekday sitting were negatively correlated. Screen watching has been previously explored and results coincide with our findings, in that greater time spent watching screens is associated with lower overall SWB³⁴. Further parallels exist with regard to breaks from sitting and overall SWB, reinforcing the potential importance of breaking up sitting time, particularly during leisure activities, for SWB. The similarities in observations between hedonic measures of well-being (i.e., affect and life satisfaction) and overall SWB is not surprising; the WEMWBS instrument is designed to capture both hedonic well-being and eudaimonic well-being⁷. Our observed relationship between average weekday sitting and overall SWB does not align with recent work by Okely and colleagues, which did not find any association between overall SWB and SB³⁵. Notably, the authors examined a geriatric population; given overall SWB is considered a measure of societal progress⁷, these two distinct age groups should reasonably differ in the activities and behaviors that influence their overall SWB.

With respect to partial correlations, each outcome of SWB exhibited a modest, significant correlation with depression, anxiety, and total weekly vigorous PA. Given how elements of outcomes of SWB and mental health often intersect (e.g., depression and negative affect), the observed associations are expected. Likewise, vigorous PA has demonstrated relationships with life satisfaction and affect³⁶. As such, partial correlations between SB outcomes and outcomes of SWB, accounting for mental health and vigorous PA, were attenuated. Nearly 80% of previously significant correlations between SB outcomes and outcomes of SWB were no longer significant, with the majority of these accounting for both depression and anxiety. Of the partial correlations that remained significant, nearly all of them (i.e., 11/14) were related to affect, particularly negative affect. Specifically, correlations with average weekday sitting, self-compared SB measures, computer use, and other activities generally persisted, suggesting that relationships between these SBs and affect cannot be entirely explained by mental health and/or vigorous PA. The persistence of a significant partial correlation between positive affect and average weekday sitting, accounting for vigorous PA, supports work by Elavsky et al.⁹, and Zenk et al.²⁴, which suggests that greater SB may predict lower future positive affect. In addition, the positive partial correlation between negative affect and self-compared weekly sitting, accounting for depression and anxiety, further support the potential role of within-individual differences in SB on negative affect. The lack of partial correlations between more global measures of SWB (i.e., life satisfaction, overall SWB), when accounting for depression and anxiety, may represent the overlap between the salutogenic and pathogenic models of health. As life satisfaction and overall SWB are likely less malleable to change in the short-term – similar to feelings of depression and anxiety – it may be that mental health or life satisfaction/overall SWB mirror the other; improvement(s) in life satisfaction may be more likely to improve symptoms of depression/anxiety than improvements in affect.

Overall, our work holds important implications for future work. The modest partial correlations between outcomes of SWB and SB, accounting for mental health and PA, confirm the related, but distinct models of salutogenic and pathogenic health. Furthermore, the presence of multiple relationships between outcomes of SWB and SB outcomes adds support for the complex, contextual nature of these associations³⁷. Intervention work looking to reduce SB should consider which domains of SB they are looking to modify, as specific domains may contribute more positively to outcomes of SWB (e.g., socializing) than others (e.g., screen-time).

Additionally, SB interventions that can leverage the potential boon to SWB that breaks from sitting may provide should be considered³⁸. Finally, the presence of unique correlations between WY and WD within the same activities highlights the importance of considering the temporal context of these relationships, in addition to behavioral context.

Our work is not without limitations. Owing to our cross-sectional design, we are unable to determine causal relationships between our outcomes of interest. For example, does engaging in more screen time result in poorer feelings of SWB, or do worsen outcomes of SWB elicit greater screen time? Experimental work manipulating SB, akin to the pilot work by Edwards and Loprinzi¹⁰, is warranted to explicate this relationship further. Likewise the self-report nature of our survey is limited in accurately capturing SB, given adults typically self-report about 2 hours less SB than they capture objectively³⁹, and university students may report a larger discrepancy¹³. While there is currently no objective instruments (to our knowledge) that can distinguish between domains of SBs, there are devices - such as the ActivPAL4 - which can accurately and reliably capture overall SB⁴⁰. Finally, while our work is the first to examine the relationships between outcomes of SWB and SB while accounting for mental health, PA, and demographics, there are additional measures that may account for variance among these relationships. For example, daily and chronic stress has been shown to be linked to maladaptive health behaviors like physical inactivity⁴¹. A dedicated measure of eudaimonic well-being (e.g., Subjective Vitality Scale⁴²) would also be a valuable to include. Inclusion of these variables can contribute further to our understanding of SB and outcomes of SWB.

In sum, small, significant relationships between SB outcomes and outcomes of SWB are unique, contextual to time and type of activity, and some are distinct from mental health and PA. Self-compared sitting, breaks from sitting, screen time, and other activities are associated with both emotional aspects of SWB (i.e., positive and negative affect) as well as more global, cognitive measures of SWB (i.e., life satisfaction and overall SWB). Some significant partial correlations in average weekday sitting, self-compared sitting, screen-time, and other activities remained after accounting for mental health and PA. Research exploring the causal nature of these relationships experimentally is warranted.

3.4.1 Funding sources

The following trial was funded by a Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Insight Development Grant under award number: 430-2018-00886.

3.5 References

 Tremblay MS, Aubert S, Barnes JD, Saunders TJ, Carson V, Latimer-Cheung AE, et al. Sedentary Behavior Research Network (SBRN)—Terminology Consensus Project process and outcome. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act [Internet]. 2017 Jun 10;14:17. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgi-

bin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1915376139?accountid=15115

- De Rezende LFM, Lopes MR, Rey-Lopez JP, Matsudo VKR, Luiz ODC. Sedentary behavior and health outcomes: An overview of systematic reviews. PLoS One. 2014;9(8).
- 3. Mittelmark MB, Sagy S, Eriksson M, Bauer GF, Pelikan JM, Lindström B, et al. The Handbook of Salutogenesis. Handb Salut. 2016;1–461.
- Ryan RM, Deci EL. On Happiness and Human Potentials: A Review of Research on Hedonic and Eudaimonic Well-Being. Annu Rev Psychol [Internet]. 2001 Feb 1;52(1):141–66. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141
- 5. Foottit J, Anderson D. Associations between perception of wellness and health-related quality of life, comorbidities, modifiable lifestyle factors and demographics in older Australians. Australas J Ageing [Internet]. 2012 Mar 1;31(1):22–7. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1741-6612.2011.00526.x
- 6. Williams RB, Schneiderman N. Resolved: Psychosocial Interventions Can Improve Clinical Outcomes in Organic Disease (Pro). Psychosom Med [Internet]. 2002;64(4). Available from: https://journals.lww.com/psychosomaticmedicine/Fulltext/2002/07000/Resolved_Psycho social_Interventions_Can_Improve.2.aspx
- Tennant R, Hiller L, Fishwick R, Platt S, Joseph S, Weich S, et al. The Warwick-Edinburgh mental well-being scale (WEMWBS): Development and UK validation. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2007;5:1–13.
- Maher JP, Dzubur E, Nordgren R, Huh J, Chou C-PP, Hedeker D, et al. Do fluctuations in positive affective and physical feeling states predict physical activity and sedentary time? Psychol Sport Exerc [Internet]. 2019 Mar;41:153–61. Available from:

http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=sph&AN=134215000&site=ehost -live

- Elavsky S, Kishida M, Mogle JA. Concurrent and lagged relations between momentary affect and sedentary behavior in middle-aged women. Menopause-The J North Am Menopause Soc. 2016 Aug;23(8):919–23.
- Edwards MK, Loprinzi PD. Experimentally increasing sedentary behavior results in decreased life satisfaction. Heal Promot Perspect [Internet]. 2017;7(2):88–94. Available from: http://journals.tbzmed.ac.ir/HPP/Abstract/HPP_4087_20160608014807
- Okely JA, Cukic I, Shaw RJ, Chastin SF, Dall PM, Deary IJ, et al. Positive and negative well-being and objectively measured sedentary behaviour in older adults: evidence from three cohorts. BMC Geriatr. 2019 Jan;19(1):28.
- Puig-Ribera A, Martinez-Lemos I, Gine-Garriga M, Gonzalez-Suarez AM, Bort-Roig J, Fortuno J, et al. Self-reported sitting time and physical activity: interactive associations with mental well-being and productivity in office employees. BMC Public Health. 2015 Jan;15:72.
- Moulin MS, Truelove S, Burke SM, Irwin JD. Sedentary time among undergraduate students: A systematic review. J Am Coll Health. 2019 Sep;1–8.
- Faul F, Erdfelder E, Lang A-G, Buchner A. G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. Behav Res Methods. 2007;39(2):175–91.
- Duan B. The robustness of trimming and Winsorization when the population distribution is skewed. Dissertation Abstracts International, Volume: 59-09, Section: B,. Tulane University; 1998.
- Sui W, Prapavessis H. Testing the face validity and reliability of a modified SIT-Q 7 day recall questionnaire measuring sedentary time and break frequency & duration. J Sport Exerc Psychol. 2016;(38):S262.
- Wijndaele K, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Godino JG, Lynch BM, Griffin SJ, Westgate K, et al. Reliability and validity of a domain-specific last 7-d sedentary time questionnaire. Med

Sci Sports Exerc. 2014;

- Watson D, Clark LA, Tellegen A. Development and Validation of Brief Measures of Positive and Negative Affect: The PANAS Scales. J Pers Soc Psychol. 1988;54(6):1063– 70.
- Diener E, Emmons RA, Larsen RJ, Griffin S. The Satisfaction With Life Scale. J Pers Assess [Internet]. 1985;49(1):71–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16367493
- Radloff LS. The CES-D Scale: A Self-Report Depression Scale for Research in the General Population. Appl Psychol Meas [Internet]. 1977 Jun 1;1(3):385–401. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1177/014662167700100306
- Spielberger CD, Gorsuch RL, Lushene R, Vagg PR, Jacobs GA. Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press; 1983.
- Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjöström M, Bauman AE, Booth ML, Ainsworth BE, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: 12-Country reliability and validity. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2003;35(8):1381–95.
- Leiner DJ. SoSci Survey (Version 2.5.00-i) [Computer software] [Internet]. 2014. Available from: http://www.soscisurvey.com
- 24. Zenk SN, Horoi I, Jones KK, Finnegan L, Corte C, Riley B, et al. Environmental and personal correlates of physical activity and sedentary behavior in African American women: An ecological momentary assessment study. Women Health [Internet]. 2017 Apr;57(4):446–62. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1888775209?accountid=15115
- 25. Finch LE, Tomiyama AJ, Ward A. Taking a Stand: The Effects of Standing Desks on Task Performance and Engagement. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017 Aug;14(8).
- Mailey EL, Rosenkranz SK, Ablah E, Swank A, Casey K. Effects of an Intervention to Reduce Sitting at Work on Arousal, Fatigue, and Mood Among Sedentary Female Employees: A Parallel-Group Randomized Trial. J Occup Environ Med. 2017 Dec;59(12):1166–71.

- 27. Yildirim C, Sumuer E, Adnan M, Yildirim S. A growing fear: Prevalence of nomophobia among Turkish college students. Inf Dev. 2016;32(5):1322–31.
- 28. Hawari NS, Al-Shayji I, Wilson J, Gill JM. Frequency of Breaks in Sedentary Time and Postprandial Metabolic Responses. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2016;48(12):2495–502.
- 29. Sui W, Smith ST, Fagan MJ, Rollo S, Prapavessis H. The effects of sedentary behaviour interventions on work-related productivity and performance outcomes in real and simulated office work: A systematic review. Appl Ergon [Internet]. 2019;75:27–73. Available from: http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0003687018303569
- Ness TEB, Saksvik-Lehouillier I. The Relationships between Life Satisfaction and Sleep Quality, Sleep Duration and Variability of Sleep in University Students. J Eur Psychol Students. 2018;9(1):28–39.
- Maher JP, Doerksen SE, Elavsky S, Conroy DE. Daily satisfaction with life is regulated by both physical activity and sedentary behavior. J Sport Exerc Psychol. 2014 Apr;36(2):166–78.
- 32. Chatterjee K, Chng S, Clark B, Davis A, De Vos J, Ettema D, et al. Commuting and wellbeing: a critical overview of the literature with implications for policy and future research. Transp Rev. 2020;40(1):5–34.
- 33. Yan H, Zhang R, Oniffrey TM, Chen G, Wang Y, Wu Y, et al. Associations among Screen Time and Unhealthy Behaviors, Academic Performance, and Well-Being in Chinese Adolescents. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017 Jun;14(6).
- Hamer M, Yates T, Kampert LB, Clemes SA, Shankar A, Sherar L. Association of after school sedentary behaviour in adolescence with mental wellbeing in adulthood. Prev Med (Baltim) [Internet]. 2016;87:6–10. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ypmed.2016.02.021
- 35. Okely JA, Cukic I, Shaw RJ, Chastin SF, Dall PM, Deary IJ, et al. Positive and negative well-being and objectively measured sedentary behaviour in older adults: evidence from three cohorts. BMC Geriatr [Internet]. 2019 Jan 30;19(1):1–10. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cin20&AN=134377201&site=eh

ost-live

- 36. Wicker P, Frick B. Intensity of physical activity and subjective well-being: an empirical analysis of the WHO recommendations. J Public Health (Oxf). 2017 Jun;39(2):e19–26.
- O'Neill C, Dogra S. Different Types of Sedentary Activities and Their Association With Perceived Health and Wellness Among Middle-Aged and Older Adults: A Cross-Sectional Analysis. Am J Heal Promot. 2016;30(5):314–22.
- Sui W, Prapavessis H. Standing Up for Student Health: An Application of the Health Action Process Approach for Reducing Student Sedentary Behavior—Randomised Control Pilot Trial. Appl Psychol Heal Well-Being. 2018;10(1):87–107.
- 39. Prince SA, Cardilli L, Reed JL, Saunders TJ, Kite C, Douillette K, et al. A comparison of self-reported and device measured sedentary behaviour in adults: A systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act. 2020;17(1):1–17.
- 40. Kim Y, Barry VW, Kang M. Validation of the ActiGraph GT3X and activPAL accelerometers for the assessment of sedentary behavior. Meas Phys Educ Exerc Sci [Internet]. 2015 Jul;19(3):125–37. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgi-bin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1710262016?accountid=15115
- 41. Dalton ED. Explication of the relationship between depressive symptoms, stress, and health behaviors in young adults [Internet]. Dissertation Abstracts International: Section B: The Sciences and Engineering. University of California, Los Angeles; 2018. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgi-bin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1960503598?accountid=15115
- Ryan RM, Frederick C. On Energy, Personality, and Health: Subjective Vitality as a Dynamic Reflection of Well-Being. Journal Personal. 1997;65(September 1997):28–31.

Chapter 4

4 Study 3 – Assessing the preliminary effectiveness of an acute sedentary behavior reducing intervention on outcomes of subjective well-being – A randomized pilot trial

4.1 Rationale

Sedentary behavior (SB) describes any behavior that is (i) waking, (ii) expends ≤ 1.5 Metabolic Equivalents (METs), and (iii) is performed in a sitting, lying, or reclining posture. Sedentary behaviors encompass the vast majority of behaviors performed in nearly every domain of daily life; from meals, to commuting, to occupations, and screen time, for instance. Daily levels of SB for Canadian adults average over 9.5 hours per day¹ which conservatively account for nearly 97% of waking time when assuming 8 hours of sleep and 30 minutes of daily physical activity (PA). Time spent sedentary is even higher among populations whose occupation obligates them to sit; university students, for instance, report upwards of 11 hours of SB a day².

Given that most individuals spend the bulk of their waking time engaged in SBs, particular focus has been devoted to studies investigating the health consequences of excessive SB. For example, multiple systematic reviews demonstrate a link between chronic excessive SB and heart disease, type 2 diabetes, hypertension, some cancers, and all-cause mortality³. Similarly, experimental studies examining the acute effects of prolonged SB demonstrate improved postprandial metabolic outcomes among participants who broke up their sitting with standing or light-intensity walking⁴. Notably, the majority of studies examining SB have examined health through a pathogenic lens, whereby health is defined as the absence of disease/markers of disease⁵. Conversely, relatively fewer studies have examined SB and health through a salutogenic lens, whereby health encompasses "positive health conceptions, such as quality of life, flourishing, and well-being"⁶, particularly subjective well-being (SWB).

Subjective well-being, as defined by Diener et al., is "a broad category of phenomena that includes people's emotional responses, domain satisfactions, and global judgements of life satisfaction", which is assessed through outcomes of affect (positive and negative) and life

satisfaction⁷. This operationalization of SWB by Diener et al.⁷, is considered hedonic well-being, whereby optimal SWB is attained through maximizing happiness⁸. An interfacing conceptualization of SWB is eudaimonic well-being, whereby optimal SWB is attained through fulfillment of purpose and self-realization⁸. While constructs of both hedonic well-being and eudaimonic well-being are correlated, they represent distinct philosophies regarding SWB. As such, holistic conceptualization and assessment of SWB should include outcomes of both hedonic and eudaimonic well-being⁸. While a distinct concept from traditional health outcomes, outcomes of SWB demonstrate medium-to-large sized correlations with objective and subjective health outcomes⁹. With respect to SB specifically, capturing SWB is particularly useful among younger populations for whom the distal health consequences associated with long-term excessive sitting (e.g., chronic disease risk) are less relevant.

Previous works examining the relationship between SWB and SB demonstrate mixed results. Among studies examining affect and SB, some work has found no association¹⁰ while other work suggests greater SB can predict lower positive affect¹¹. Similarly, relationships between life satisfaction and SB demonstrate either null^{12,13} or weak negative relationships, whereby previous day life satisfaction negatively predicted subsequent self-reported SB^{14,15}. Some experimental work has been conducted to explicate the SB and SWB relationship^{16–19}.

Overall, results from experimental studies suggest that greater SB results in lower positive affect¹⁹, greater negative affect^{17,18}, and lower life satisfaction²⁰. However, all of these studies experimentally increased SB, in that participants in the treatment group were encouraged to sit more and move as little as possible for a period of four days¹⁹ to two weeks¹⁸. Previous work suggests that within-person changes from one's typical SB (not between-person) are predictive of changes in outcomes of SWB^{14,21,22}. Thus, the effect of experimentally decreasing SB on outcomes of SWB may not necessarily mirror the effects of experimentally increasing SB; hence, experimental work aimed at decreasing SB is needed.

Additionally, experimental works examining SB and SWB have not consistently measured SB as is currently defined²³. For example, Endrighi and colleagues used an ActiGraph accelerometer in order to capture 'sedentary time'¹⁸; however, since ActiGraph is hip-worn and cannot distinguish between postures, it more accurately captures inactivity than sedentary time.

Similarly, work by Edwards and Loprinzi used a pedometer to capture step count as a proxy measure of inactivity^{16,17}. Only Duvivier and colleagues used an inclinometer (e.g., ActivPAL3) in order to objectively capture SB¹⁹; however, their intervention period was only 4 days, which may not have been long enough to capture changes in as habitual a behavior as SBs. Previous evidence alludes to differences between weekday and weekend SBs among especially sedentary individuals²⁴, highlighting the need to capture SB for at least a 7-day period.

Issues with previous works are further confounded when considering their lack of measurement of domain-specific SB. Domain-specific SB, or the SB accumulated in different contexts of sitting (e.g., sitting during meals, occupation, screen time, etc.), demonstrate stronger, and often opposite, associations with outcomes of SWB than total SB^{25,26}. These domain-specific effects also vary based on certain demographic characteristics, which may not be captured through aggregate data. For example, among older adults, TV watching is positively associated with life satisfaction^{25,26}; conversely, these behaviors either demonstrate a negative association²⁷ or null relationship²⁸ among adults. Thus, measurement of domain-specific sitting may reveal unique relationships with outcomes of SWB, independent of total sitting.

Overall, previous work has been limited by either cross-sectional design^{11,13,28} or solely SBincreasing manipulation, invalid measurement of SB, and lack of delineation between total and domain-specific sitting behaviors. Hence, there is the need for a study that experimentally decreases SB and assesses SB, including objective and domain-specific SB, to evaluate the effect of SB on outcomes of SWB.

Notably, the use of explicit behavioral theory is absent among SB-inducing studies. Work by Glanz and Bishop suggests that interventions that are developed around a theoretical foundation are more effective than atheoretical interventions²⁹. With respect to SB, the Health Action Process Approach³⁰ (HAPA) model for behavior change has shown suitability. Specifically, the HAPA postulates that intentions to perform behaviors do not always elicit said behavior – dubbed the 'intention-behavior gap'. However, targeting constructs of action planning and coping planning can facilitate the relationship from intention to behavior³⁰, thus improving the effectiveness of an intervention. The HAPA model has already been successfully applied to a SB-reducing context in university students³¹ and office workers²⁹. Therefore, a randomized pilot study was conducted to experimentally explore whether an intervention designed to decrease SB will lead to improvements in SWB. Randomized pilot trials, according to the conceptual framework developed by Eldridge and colleagues, are small-scale studies that reflect the design of a future RCT and are conducted to assess whether a larger trial can be done³². The main objective of this randomized controlled pilot trial was to determine the preliminary effectiveness of a HAPA-based behavioral intervention to decrease SB among sedentary university students, in order to inform a future randomized controlled trial (RCT). A secondary objective of this pilot study was to explore whether any changes in SB outcomes were related to changes in outcomes of SWB.

4.2 Methods

Trial reporting is guided by the CONSORT 2010 Statement for reporting randomized control trials³³. A completed CONSORT checklist can be found in *Appendix D*.

4.2.1 Trial Design

A three-week (baseline, intervention, follow-up), single-blinded, parallel-group (equal allocation ratio [1:1]), randomized-controlled trial (RCT) was conducted. No changes to trial protocol, eligibility criteria, or planned statistical analyses were made after trial commencement.

4.2.2 Participants

A convenience sample of university students from the host institution were recruited to participate in this study through posters distributed around university campus, verbal advertisement during lectures, and through online university groups on Facebook. Eligible participants were (a) full-time university students attending the host institution, (b) aged 18 years of age or older, (c) who were able to read and write in English, (d) had access to a computer/smartphone with internet, and (e) objectively reported ≥7 hours of sedentary time per day over the baseline week, via ActivPAL4 inclinometer. Exclusion criteria were (a) part-time enrollment or currently on a leave of absence from full-time studies at university, (b) individuals self-reporting a mental illness, and (c) individuals currently reporting a physical disability that would prevent them from walking.

4.2.3 Setting

The study took place at a mid-sized (~30,000 students) post-secondary institution in Ontario, Canada during the 2019-2020 academic year.

4.2.4 Intervention

4.2.4.1 Treatment

Participants randomly allocated to the intervention group were told they would receive theorydriven behavioral counseling, with the goal of co-developing strategies aimed at (1) decreasing their weekly SB by 1-2 hours (based upon their current SB and how realistic they thought a 1 or 2 hour reduction was), as well as (2) increasing their daily step count to $\geq 10,000$ steps/day, over the next week only. Behavioral counseling was guided by the HAPA³⁰, which postulates the relationship between intention to perform a behavior and the performance of the behavior/action (i.e., the intention-behavior gap) is mediated by the creation of a specific 'when, where, and how' plan (i.e., action planning) and the planned anticipation of barriers that may arise when enacting said plan (i.e., coping planning). Application of the HAPA model to manipulate SB in this population has been described in previous work³¹.

Upon being told their activity goals, participants were prompted to think about strategies to reduce their SB and increase steps/day, followed by the researcher stating: "strategies that we come up with should be two things: 1. they should be specific, so that you're not thinking about when, where, or how you're going to do them, or who you're going to do them with; and 2. strategies should be realistic *for you*, because if *you* don't find them realistic, you're probably not going to do them". Participants were then asked if they had any strategies that they could immediately think of. Prompts for behavioral strategies were used if the participant could not think of any strategy, and generally revolved around reducing SB in a particular domain of SB (e.g., transportation, occupation, etc.).

Creation of behavioral strategies was guided by the FITT principle³⁴, adapted to a SB context; where F represented the frequency per week that a strategy would be enacted (e.g., 3-4 times per week [Monday, Wednesday, Friday], every hour of sitting); I represented the intensity/length of time that a strategy be performed for (e.g., 20 minutes, 5 minute break from

sitting, 3000 steps); the first T represented the time of day that the behavior will be performed (e.g., 6PM, mornings [8-11], during studying); and the second T represented the type (i.e., modality) of behavior performed (e.g., standing, walking, weightlifting).

Finally, upon creation of a strategy and its FITT specifics, an accompanying coping strategy (or strategies) was prompted via the researcher stating: "With any new strategy that we may try and implement, there are inevitably barriers that would prevent us from enacting the strategy. Can you think of any barriers or reasons that you might not perform this strategy? What could you do or plan for so that you could still perform the strategy, despite these barriers?". Coping strategies often focused on practical steps, like setting an alarm or reminding a friend to work out together.

Proceeding creation of a complete strategy, participants were asked if they thought the strategy was specific and realistic enough, as a fidelity check. Upon agreement, participants were prompted to think about any other strategies that could help them achieve the SB and step count goals for the next week.

As an example, if a participant suggested that they could break up their sitting while studying, then the researcher would prompt the participant by asking, for instance: "How many days a week do you think you could realistically break up your sitting while studying? Which days specifically?" to assess frequency; "Realistically, how long would a break from studying be?" to assess intensity; "When do you usually study?" to assess time; and "What do you want to be doing during these breaks? Standing? Moving?" to assess type. When prompted for barriers, the participant might mention that they might be too engaged with studying that they would forget to stand/move every hour. Hence, a coping strategy might be to set an alarm at the beginning of a study session to go off every hour. Additionally, if taking a break from studying may be too distracting, then a coping strategy may also involve continuing to study but in a nonsedentary posture, like standing.

Strategies also often included using the native step counter app on their smartphone (e.g., Health on iOS, Google Fit on Google devices) to self-monitor their daily step count. At the end of the session, participants were encouraged to try each strategy at least once, and to try to adjust strategies if unperceived barriers arise. Additionally, participants were advised to place the completed counseling form somewhere where they would regularly see it. On average, participants co-developed 3-4 strategies. Behavioral counseling session typically took 30-45 minutes, and took place face-to-face in the researcher's lab.

4.2.4.2 Control

Participants randomly allocated to the control group received no specific instructions to modify their behavior. If prompted for further instruction, the researcher would encourage the participant to continue their normal behavior.

4.2.5 Outcomes

No changes to trial outcomes were made after the trial commenced.

4.2.5.1 Objectively measured SB/PA.

The ActivPAL4 inclinometer³⁵ was used to track the objective PA and SB of participants. Recent consensus work surrounding the definition of SB²³ has highlighted the importance of the postural distinction (e.g., standing vs. sitting) and activity threshold of SB (i.e., ≤ 1.5 METs), as compared to non-SBs (e.g., PA). The ActivPAL devices have demonstrated accuracy in distinguishing and tracking sitting/lying, standing, and movement behaviors³⁶; classifying activity intensity categories in healthy adults³⁷; and exhibits equivalent or improved performance to previously validated accelerometers^{38,39}.

A 7-day 24-hour continuous wear protocol was used. The ActivPAL4 was attached to the center of the right thigh, halfway between the superior iliac spine of the hip and the patella. Participants did not take off the device during bathing or water-based activities. Days were based upon start and end wear times of the device, according to the device. A minimum of 6 valid days (i.e., 144 hours) of wear time was required to be included in analysis, based upon weeklong protocols of other activity tracking studies^{40,41}. Once data was collected off the device, data were visualized through graphs and scanned for abnormalities (e.g., excessively large volumes or high intensities of activity).

4.2.5.1.1 Average daily steps.

Measured as steps per day.

4.2.5.1.2 Average daily standing time.

Measured as standing minutes per day.

4.2.5.1.3 Average daily stepping time.

Measured as stepping minutes per day. Weighted average daily sleep time was subtracted from the raw stepping time from the inclinometer.

4.2.5.1.4 Average daily sitting time.

Measured as sitting minutes per day. Daily sitting time was calculated as: (((average daily weekday sedentary time*5) + (average weekend sedentary time*2)) / 7) – (((average weekday sleep*5) + (average weekend sleep*2)) / 7).

4.2.5.1.5 Average daily sit-to-stand transitions.

Measured as number of sit-to-stand transitions per day.

4.2.5.2 Self-reported SB.

4.2.5.2.1 Past 7 days self-compared SB.

Assessed through three items on a 5-point Likert scale, with a score of 1 indicating 'Much less than normal', 3 indicating 'About the same', and 5 indicating 'Much more than normal'. Self-compared weekly sitting, self-compared weekly break number, and self-compared weekly break duration were assessed through the questions "In the last 7 days, my amount of sitting was...", "In the last 7 days, my number of breaks from sitting were...", and "In the last 7 days, my duration of breaks from sitting were...", respectively.

4.2.5.2.2 Past 7 days domain-specific SB.

Assessed using the modified SIT-Q 7d questionnaire⁴². The original SIT-Q 7d instrument⁴³ is a self-reported questionnaire that measures time spent sitting in various activities in a number of domains of activity over the past 7 days (i.e., sleep and naps, meals, transportation, screen time, occupation(s), and other activities). Participants estimate their sitting time on either a weekday (WY) or a weekend day (WD). Domain-specific SB question options were recoded to represent

the upper limit (i.e., more sedentary) of that option, in order to signify the most conservative estimate of SB (e.g., '15-30 min recoded to 0.5 hours).

For the domain of sleep, participants input, over the past week, what time they went to sleep and what time they woke up, on an average WY and WD, as well as how long they napped on an average WY and WD, with options of 'No daily napping', '1-15 min', '15-30 min', '30-45 min', '45 min – 1 hour' and 'More than 1 hour a day'. An average WY sleep time and WD sleep time was calculated using respective sleep and wake times differences.

For the domain of meals, participants indicated, over the past week, how long they sat for each meal (i.e., breakfast, lunch, dinner) on an average WY and WD, with options of 'None', '1-10 min', '10-20 min', '20-30 min', '30-45 min', '45 min – 1 hour', and 'More than 1 hour a day'.

For the domain of transportation, participants indicated, over the past week, how many days and how much time per day they spent sitting while traveling: to and from occupation(s), as part of occupation(s), and apart from occupation(s). Options for time spent sitting during transportation included: 'None', '1-15 min', '30-45 min', '45 min – 1 hour', '1-1.5 hours', '1.5-2 hours', '2-2.5 hours', '2.5-3 hours', '3-4 hours', '4-5 hours', '5-6 hours', '6-7 hours', and 'More than 7 hours'. A total weekly transportation measure was calculated by summing the products of days and time spent sitting during transportation in each of the questions.

For the domain of occupation, participants indicated, over the past week, whether they had any occupation(s), and if so, how many days and the average time they spent sitting while engaged in that occupation. Options for time spent sitting in an occupation included: 'None', '1- 15 min', '15-30 min', '30 min – 1 hour', '1-2 hours', '2-3 hours', '3-4 hours', '4-5 hours', '5-6 hours', '6-7 hours', '7-8 hours', and 'More than 8 hours'. If the occupation selected was 'Study', then an additional question asked participants how many hours of class they attended in the last 7 days. A total weekly sitting time for each occupation was calculated by summing the products of days and time spent sitting during said occupation.

For the domain of screen time, participants indicated, over the past week, how long they spent sitting while engaged in each screen time (i.e., watching TV, leisure computer/phone use,

videogaming) on an average WY and WD, with options of 'None', '1-15 min', '15-30 min', '30 min - 1 hour', '1-2 hours', '2-3 hours', ' 3-4 hours', '4-5 hours', '5-6 hours', '6-7 hours', and 'More than 7 hours'.

For the domain of other activities, participants indicated, over the past week, how long the spent sitting while engaged in each other activity (i.e., music listening, leisure reading, caregiving, hobbies, socializing, chores, and miscellaneous activities) on an average WY and WD, with options of 'None', '1-15 min', '15-30 min', '30 min - 1 hour', '1-2 hours', '2-3 hours', ' 3-4 hours', '4-5 hours', '5-6 hours', '6-7 hours', and 'More than 7 hours'.

The modified version of the SIT-Q 7d also assesses the number of breaks (e.g., 'In the last 7 days, on average', how many times did you interrupt your sitting time while engaged in screen time?') and break frequency and duration from sitting in the domains of occupation, screen time, and other activities (e.g., 'In the last 7 days, on average', how often did you interrupt your sitting time while engaged in screen time?'). Participants estimate break frequency and duration by selecting a range of time that best reflects how frequent/long their breaks during that particular activity, with options of 'N/A – did not sit', 'Less than every 30 min', 'Every 30-45 min', 'Every 45-60 min', 'Every 1-1.5 hours', 'Every 1.5-2 hours', 'Every 2-3 hours', 'Every 3-4 hours', 'Every 4-5 hours', 'Over every 5 hours', and 'No interruption' for break frequency; and options of 'N/A – no breaks taken', 'Less than 30 sec', '30 sec – 1 minute', '1-2 min', '2-3 min', '3-4 min', '4-5 min', '5-10 min', '10-15 min', '15-30 min', and 'More than 30 min'.

4.2.5.2.3 Past 7 days total weekday SB

Assessed through a single question on the International Physical Activity Questionnaire – Short Form 7 days⁴⁴ (IPAQ-S7S) (i.e., 'During the last 7 days, how much time did you spend sitting on a weekday?'). Participants were asked to specify both an hour(s) per day and minute(s) per day estimate. A total weekly sitting estimate was calculated by multiplying responses by seven.

4.2.5.3 Outcomes of SWB.

4.2.5.3.1 Past 7 days positive and negative affect

Assessed through the Positive and Negative Affect Schedule⁴⁵ (PANAS). The PANAS lists 20 words that describe different emotions and feelings. Participants were asked to indicate the

extent to which they felt each emotion/feeling over the last 7 days on a 5-point Likert scale, with 1 indicating 'very slightly or not at all' and 5 indicating 'extremely'. Separate scores (range: 10-50) for positive and negative affect are attained by summing items assessing positive and negative affect, respectively. The PANAS has been shown to be valid and reliable measure of affect in this population⁴⁵.

4.2.5.3.2 Life satisfaction

Assessed through the Satisfaction with Life Scale⁴⁶ (SWLS). The SWLS lists five statements concerning life satisfaction and asks participants to indicate the degree they agree/disagree with each statement on a 7-point Likert scale, with 1 indicating 'Strongly disagree', 4 indicating 'Neither agree nor disagree', and 7 indicating 'Strongly agree'. A total score (range: 7-35) is attained by summing the responses, with higher scores representing higher life satisfaction.

4.2.5.3.3 Eudaimonic well-being

Assessed through the Subjective Vitality Scale⁴⁷ (SVS). The SVS consists of 7 statements on a 7point Likert scale that evaluate subjective vitality (i.e., state of feeling alive and alert). Participants indicate how true they find each statement, ranging from '1 - Not at all true' to '7 – Very true'. A shorter, more validated, 6 question version of the SVS⁴⁸ developed by Bostic, Rubio, & Hood was used in the present work.

4.2.5.3.4 Overall SWB

Assessed through the Warwick-Edinburgh Mental Well-Being Scale⁴⁹ (WEMWBS). The WEMWBS is a 14-item questionnaire containing statements about feelings and thoughts encompassing both hedonic well-being (i.e., affect and life satisfaction) and eudaimonic wellbeing (e.g., meaning and self-actualization). Participants are asked to indicate the box (corresponding to a score of 1-5) that best describes their experience of the statement over the past two weeks, with a score of 1 indicating 'None of the time' and 5 indicating 'All of the time'. A total score (range: 14-70) is attained by summing the responses, with higher scores representing greater subjective well-being.

4.2.5.4 Secondary Outcomes

4.2.5.4.1 Demographics

Assessed through a single question (e.g., "What is your..."). Age, preferred gender, current program of study, current year of study, degree pursuing, and ethnicity were collected. Past 7 days physical activity was also assessed using the IPAQ-S7S⁴⁴. The IPAQ-S7S is a self-reported questionnaire that measures the volume and intensity of physical activity a participant has done in the last 7 days. Participants estimate how many days they performed vigorous physical activity, moderate physical activity, and walking, as well as the average time (i.e., hours/day and minutes/day) they spent engaged in these activities. A total weekly activity score for each physical activity intensity was attained through the product of how many days that exercise was performed, and average hours spent in performing said intensity of exercise.

4.2.6 Procedure

Interested participants met with the researcher, who presented the detailed and blinded letter of information and online consent. Participants were aware of a potential behavioural counseling session but were not told at which visit it would be occurring. Eligible and consenting participants then completed the demographics questionnaire and then were fitted with the ActivPAL4 inclinometer. Participants then scheduled their second visit for seven days after the initial meeting. At the beginning of the second visit, the ActivPAL4 was removed and SB levels for inclusion were verified. Participants were asked if they had any issues with the ActivPAL4 device (e.g., wear issues, skin irritation, etc.) when the device was removed during this session (and each subsequent visit). Upon confirmation of eligibility, participants were assigned to either the treatment or control group. Participants then completed the online questionnaires, beginning with the self-compared sitting questions, and followed by the modified SIT-Q 7d questionnaire, IPAQ-S7S, PANAS, the SWLS, the SVS, and the WEMBWS. After the questionnaires, participants in the treatment group received the single behavioral counseling session, while those in the control group received no behavioral instructions. Participants in both groups were then refitted with a new ActivPAL4 device and scheduled their third visit for a week later. During the third visit, the ActivPAL4 device was removed and both groups completed the questionnaires for the second time. Afterwards, a new ActivPAL4 device was refit and participants were given no

specific behavioral instructions (treatment group participants were told to "do whatever you want" if the researcher was asked for instructions), and the fourth visit was scheduled for a week in the future. During the fourth visit, ActivPAL4 devices were removed from participants, and all participants completed the questionnaires for the third time. A researcher then debriefed all participants. Participants received a \$30 gift card for their participation.

4.2.7 Sample Size Calculation

Due to the pilot nature of the present trial, no formal sample size calculation was used. Rather, the sample size of previous acute length SB studies was used as a guideline for sample size. Hence, a sample size of 30 was deemed appropriate for an initial pilot.

4.2.8 Randomization

Block randomization was used to allocate participants to either intervention or control groups in a 1:1 ratio with a fixed block size of 36 participants (i.e., 18 intervention and 18 control, accounting for a 20% attrition rate). The random number sequence was generated through the list randomizer on RANDOM.org⁵⁰. Allocation was not concealed to the researchers. The same researcher generated the random allocation sequence, enrolled participants, and assigned participants to groups.

4.2.9 Blinding

Participants were blinded to the intervention content and assignment. The study was advertised as a "behavior change study" in recruitment materials, in the letter of information/consent, and in participant correspondence.

4.2.10 Statistical Analysis

Independent-samples *t*-tests were used to compare baseline demographic characteristics and primary outcome variables between groups to determine adequate group randomization.

A series of 2 (treatment vs. control) × 3 (time: visit 2, visit 3, visit 4) repeated measures ANOVAs were used to identify any time by group interaction effects and was accompanied by partial eta squared (η_p^2) and observed power values.

Bivariate correlations were computed for intervention-baseline differences (i.e., visit 3 – visit 2) between SB outcomes and outcomes of SWB to affirm relationships between these outcomes. Specifically, correlations were computed for both residual change and absolute change.

Analysis was computed using IBM SPSS software (version 23). Statistical significance was set at .05.

4.2.11 Data Imputation

A Winsorization technique was applied to the data; data points over the 95th percentile and underneath the 5th percentile in each group were replaced with the value of the 95th percentile and 5th percentile, respectively. Winsorization has demonstrated validity as a method for dealing with outliers⁵¹. A total of 63 data points (1.00% of possible data points) were imputed this way.

4.3 Results

4.3.1 Missing Data

Two participants who were assessed for eligibility were excluded. One participant was excluded for not meeting the SB inclusion threshold (i.e., reported <7 hours/day of SB), while the other participant chose not to participate citing the time commitment. Participants were considered to have "dropped out" if they did not complete the second or third visit of the study. Only one participant dropped out from the study, from the control arm, citing that they did not want to wear the device as it was becoming itchy and uncomfortable. Hence a total of 31 participants were included in data analysis; all 31 participants were included in primary and post-hoc analyses. Flow of participants and dropouts is shown in *Figure 3*.



CONSORT 2010 Flow Diagram



Figure 3: CONSORT flow of participants diagram.

4.3.2 Recruitment

Participants were recruited during the Fall 2019 and Winter 2020 academic terms at the host institution (i.e., September 2019 to February 2020). The study was stopped after planned sample size of completed participants was reached (i.e., 30). Notably the final two participants finished the study on the same day; hence, 31 participants included for analysis.

4.3.3 Group Equivalency

Sample characteristics are presented in *Table 5*. Significant group differences at baseline were observed for average daily steps, average daily stepping time, WY sleep time, and WY napping, whereby the treatment group reported significantly higher in all outcomes (ps > 0.05). No other significant differences between groups at baseline were found.

	M(SD)
Age	19.45 (2.68)
Gender	n (%)
Men	12 (38.7)
Women	19 (61.3)
Year of Study	n (%)
First Year	13 (41.9)
Second Year	11 (35.5)
Third Year	2 (6.5)
Fourth Year or Higher	4 (12.9)
Missing	1 (3.2)
Current Degree Pursuing	n (%)
Undergraduate	30 (96.8)
Doctorate or Professional degree	1 (3.2)
Current Program of Study	n (%)
Engineering	2 (6.5)
Health Sciences	19 (61.3)
Information and Media Studies	2 (6.5)

Table 5: Demographic characteristics. (n=31)

Science	5 (16.1)
Social Sciences	2 (6.5)
Business and Finance	1 (3.2)
Ethnicity	n (%)
European/Caucasian	7 (22.6)
Canadian	2 (6.5)
Hispanic	1 (3.2)
Asian	14 (45.2)
Black	3 (9.7)
Physical Activity (hours per week)	<i>M</i> (SD)
Walking $(n = 26)$	4.93 (4.12)
Moderate intensity $(n = 30)$	0.90 (1.33)
Vigorous intensity	2.35 (2.79)

4.3.4 Descriptive Data

Descriptive data for objectively-measured SB outcomes is presented in *Table 6*. Descriptive data for self-compared SB, average weekday sitting, and domain-specific SB are presented in *Table 7*. Descriptive data for outcomes of SWB are presented in *Table 8*.

 Table 6: Means, standard deviations, and 95% confidence intervals for objectively

 measured sedentary behaviors throughout the study.

	Treatment $(n = 17)$			Control $(n = 14)$		
Time	Mean	SD	95% CI	Mean	SD	95% CI
Average Daily Steps (st			eps/day)			
Baseline	9252.54	1925.78	[8262.40, 10242.78]	7328.67	2325.12	[5986.18, 8671.15]
Intervention	11028.20	2836.38	[9569.87, 12486.53]	8485.20	3020.25	[6741.36, 10229.05]
Follow-up	9689.50	2714.05	[8294.06, 11084.93]	7478.33	2969.84	[5763.59, 9193.06]
Average Daily Standing Time (minutes/day)						
Baseline	188.74	47.03	[164.56, 212.92]	189.06	62.63	[152.90, 225.22]
Intervention	192.32	41.25	[171.12, 213.53]	190.55	60.23	[155.77, 225.32]

Follow-up	189.81	53.64	[162.23, 217.39]	216.70	72.45	[174.87, 258.53]
			Average Daily Stepping T	ime (minutes/day)		
Baseline	108.75	24.42	[96.20, 121.31]	85.53	22.48	[72.55, 98.51]
Intervention	125.31	33.79	[107.93, 142.68]	96.50	30.70	[78.78, 114.23]
Follow-up	112.54	31.35	[96.42, 128.66]	89.00	31.91	[70.58, 107.42]
Average Daily Sitting Time (minutes/day)						
Baseline	660.11	80.26	[618.84, 701.37]	731.20	92.96	[677.52, 784.87]
Intervention	655.57	83.80	[612.48, 698.66]	722.96	105.47	[662.06, 783.86]
Follow-up	651.36	81.78	[609.31, 693.41]	707.85	71.69	[666.46, 749.24]
Average Daily Sit-to-Stand Transitions (number/day)						
Baseline	50.31	14.20	[43.01, 57.61]	44.79	13.87	[36.78, 52.80]
Intervention	48.84	11.99	[42.67, 55.00]	43.22	12.56	[35.97, 50.48]
Follow-up	49.43	11.99	[43.26, 55.59]	45.04	13.80	[37.07, 53.01]

Bold text indicates significant differences between groups at baseline (p < 0.05)

Table 7: Means, standard deviations, and 95% confidence intervals for self-compared, average weekday, and domain-specific self-reported sedentary behaviors throughout the study.

Treatment $(n = 17)$			Control $(n = 14)$				
Time	Mean	SD	95% CI		Mean	SD	95% CI
Self-Compared Weekly Sitting							
Baseline	3.47	0.62	[3.15, 3.79]		3.29	0.91	[2.76, 3.81]
Intervention	2.82	1.13	[2.24, 3.41]		3.50	0.76	[3.06, 3.94]
Follow-up	3.18	0.81	[2.76, 3.59]		3.21	1.12	[2.57, 3.86]
Self-Compared Weekly Break Frequency							
Baseline	2.94	0.83	[2.52, 3.37]		2.79	0.70	[2.38, 3.19]

Intervention		3.89	0.34	[3.72, 4.07]	2.86	1.03	[2.26, 3.45]
Follow-up		3.29	0.77	[2.90, 3.69]	2.64	0.63	[2.28, 3.01]
Self-Compared Break Duration							
Baseline		3.08	0.60	[2.77, 3.39]	2.93	0.47	[2.67, 3.20]
Intervention		3.71	0.59	[3.40, 4.01]	2.71	0.91	[2.19, 3.24]
Follow-up		3.29	0.59	[2.99, 3.60]	2.93	0.47	[2.66, 3.20]
Average Weekday Sitting Time (hours/day)							
Baseline ^{†¶}		8.39	2.97	[6.81, 9.97]	7.42	1.79	[6.28, 8.56]
Intervention ^{‡¶}		7.83	2.54	[6.42, 9.24]	8.46	2.44	[6.91, 10.01]
Follow-up ^{‡¶}		7.25	2.30	[5.97, 8.53]	8.17	2.68	[6.46, 9.87]
Average WY/WD Sleep (hours/day)							
Baseline	WY	7.77	0.82	[7.35, 8.20]	7.05	1.10	[6.42, 7.67]
	WD	8.50	1.16	[7.90, 9.10]	7.46	1.25	[6.74, 8.18]
Intervention	WY	7.71	1.00	[7.20, 8.23]	6.15	1.33	[6.15, 7.69]
	WD	8.35	0.91	[7.88, 8.82]	7.86	0.91	[7.33, 8.38]
Follow-up	WY	7.85	1.05	[7.31, 8.39]	6.85	1.00	[6.27, 7.43]
	WD	8.63	0.94	[8.15, 9.12]	7.82	1.35	[7.04, 8.60]
Average WY/WD Napping (hours/day)							
Baseline	WY	0.25	0.35	[0.07, 0.43]	0.64	0.52	[0.34, 0.94]
	WD	0.19	0.35	[0.02, 0.38]	0.05	0.14	[-0.03, 0.14]
Intervention	WY	0.32	0.49	[0.07, 0.58]	0.46	0.57	[0.13, 0.79]
	WD	0.25	0.45	[0.02, 0.48]	0.38	0.59	[0.03, 0.72]
Follow-up	WY	0.18	0.28	[0.03, 0.32]	0.30	0.46	[0.04, 0.57]
	WD	0.26	.42	[0.04, 0.47]	0.32	0.51	[0.02, 0.62]
Meals: Average WY/WD Time Spent Sitting During Breakfast (hours/day)							
Baseline	WY	0.21	0.17	[0.12, 0.29]	0.27	0.17	[0.17, 0.37]
	WD	0.34	0.12	[0.28, 0.41]	0.34	0.27	[0.18, 0.49]
Intervention	WY	0.17	0.12	[0.11, 0.23]	0.27	0.25	[0.13, 0.42]
--------------------------	----	--------------	----------------	--------------------------	-----------------------	-------------	---------------
	WD	0.25	0.14	[0.17, 0.32]	0.29	0.20	[0.17, 0.40]
Follow-up	WY	0.21	0.16	[0.12, 0.29]	0.26	0.30	[0.08, 0.43]
	WD	0.25	0.17	[0.17, 0.34]	0.31	0.26	[0.16, 0.46]
		Meals	: Average WY	/WD Time Spent Sitting	g During Lunch (hours	s/day)	
Baseline	WY	0.43	0.17	[0.35, 0.52]	0.50	0.28	[0.34, 0.66]
	WD	0.48	0.23	[0.36, 0.59]	0.52	0.30	[0.34, 0.69]
Intervention	WY	0.36	0.17	[0.27, 0.44]	0.40	0.18	[0.30, 0.51]
	WD	0.45	0.18	[0.35, 0.54]	0.48	0.31	[0.29, 0.66]
Follow-up	WY	0.35	0.11	[0.30, 0.41]	0.44	0.25	[0.30, 0.58]
	WD	0.41	0.14	[0.34, 0.48]	0.45	0.34	[0.26, 0.65]
		Meals	Average WY	/WD Time Spent Sitting	During Dinner (hour	s/day)	
Baseline	WY	0.47	0.22	[0.36, 0.59]	0.61	0.37	[0.39, 0.82]
	WD	0.50	0.22	[0.39, 0.62]	0.70	0.39	[0.47, 0.92]
Intervention	WY	0.41	0.23	[0.29, 0.52]	0.65	0.49	[0.36, 0.93]
	WD	0.53	0.25	[0.41, 0.66]	0.71	0.39	[0.48, 0.94]
Follow-up	WY	0.45	0.14	[0.38, 0.52]	0.57	0.44	[0.32, 0.83]
	WD	0.51	0.21	[0.34, 0.62]	0.64	0.43	[0.39, 0.89]
	Tr	ansportation	: Average Wee	ekly Time Spent Sitting	During Transportatior	n (hours/we	eek)
Baseline		8.93	8.58	[4.51, 13.34]	5.30	3.66	[3.19, 7.42]
Intervention		4.94	6.62	[1.54, 8.35]	6.98	7.29	[2.77, 11.12]
Follow-up		4.43	5.51	[1.59, 7.26]	4.46	3.54	[2.42, 6.51]
		Occupati	ion: Average V	Weekly Time Spent Sittin	ng During Class (hour	rs/week)	
Baseline [†]		14.75	3.59	[12.84, 16.66]	12.00	5.28	[8.95, 15.05]
$Intervention^{\dagger}$		15.63	4.73	[13.10, 18.15]	12.00	4.93	[9.15, 14.85]
Follow-up [‡]		14.73	4.86	[12.04, 17.42]	11.29	6.71	[7.41, 15.16]
		Occupa	tion: Average	Weekly Time Spent Sitt	ing as a Student (hou	rs/day)	

$Baseline^{\dagger}$		5.69	1.89	[4.68, 6.69]	4.79	2.22	[3.50, 6.07]
Intervention [†]		5.19	1.60	[4.33, 6.04]	4.86	2.14	[3.62, 6.09]
$Follow$ - up^{\dagger}		5.00	2.03	[3.92, 6.08]	4.86	1.88	[3.77, 5.94]
		Occupat	ion: Average	Number of Breaks from	Sitting as a Student (r	number)	
$Baseline^{\dagger}$		7.63	5.98	[4.44, 10.81]	6.54	7.07	[2.45, 10.62]
Intervention [‡]		5.27	3.63	[3.25, 7.28]	4.50	3.52	[2.47, 6.54]
$Follow$ - up^{\dagger}		6.13	4.00	[4.00, 8.26]	5.86	5.65	[2.59, 9.12]
		Occupation	n: Average Br	eak Frequency from Sitt	ing as a Student (ever	y x hours)	
$Baseline^{\dagger}$		0.92	0.37	[0.72, 1.12]	0.98	0.42	[0.74, 1.22]
$Intervention^{\dagger}$		1.44	1.80	[0.48, 2.40]	1.48	1.08	[0.86, 2.10]
$Follow$ - $up^{\dagger \diamond}$		0.94	0.58	[0.63, 1.25]	1.72	1.64	[0.73, 2.71]
		Occupa	ation: Average	e Break Duration from S	itting as a Student (mi	inutes)	
$Baseline^{\dagger}$		10.31	6.61	[6.79, 13.84]	9.21	7.47	[4.90, 13.53]
$Intervention^{\dagger}$		8.19	5.59	[5.21, 11.17]	8.86	9.97	[3.10, 14.61]
$Follow$ - up^{\dagger}		5.94	3.96	[3.83, 8.05]	5.96	5.98	[2.51, 9.42]
		Screen Time	: Average WY	//WD Time Spent Sitting	g While Watching TV	(hours/day	7)
Baseline	WY	2.12	1.43	[1.38, 2.85]	3.04	2.06	[1.85, 4.23]
	WD	2.38	1.41	[1.66, 3.11]	3.29	1.86	[2.21, 4.36]
Intervention	WY	1.75	1.04	[1.22, 2.28]	2.32	1.73	[1.32, 3.32]
	WD	2.25	1.28	[1.56, 2.91]	2.50	2.30	[1.17, 3.83]
Follow-up	WY	1.69	0.99	[1.18, 2.20]	1.61	1.11	[0.97, 2.25]
	WD	2.31	1.29	[1.65, 2.97]	1.89	1.24	[1.18, 2.61]
S	creen T	Time: Average	e WY/WD Tir	ne Spent Sitting While U	Jsing A Computer/Sm	artphone (l	hours/day)
Baseline	WY	2.50	1.32	[1.82, 3.18]	3.07	1.49	[2.21, 3.93]
	WD	3.06	1.68	[2.12, 3.92]	3.21	1.97	[2.08, 4.35]
Intervention	WY	2.07	1.40	[1.35, 2.80]	2.32	1.32	[1.56, 3.09]
	WD	2.41	1.45	[1.67, 3.16]	2.75	1.97	[1.62, 3.89]

Follow-up	WY	1.91	1.00	[1.40, 2.43]	2.68	1.32	[1.91, 3.44]
	WD	2.12	1.31	[1.45, 2.79]	2.46	1.39	[1.66, 3.27]
	Scr	een Time: Av	erage WY/W	D Time Spent Sitting Wh	ile Playing Video Ga	ames (hours	/day)
Baseline	WY	0.26	0.73	[-0.12, 0.62]	0.12	0.29	[-0.60, 0.27]
	WD	0.40	1.14	[-0.19, 0.99]	0.04	0.13	[-0.04, 0.11]
Intervention	WY	0.00	0.00	[0.00, 0.00]	0.05	0.12	[-0.02, 0.11]
	WD	0.04	0.11	[-0.02, 0.96]	0.05	0.17	[-0.05, 0.14]
Follow-up	WY	0.00	0.00	[0.00, 0.00]	0.18	0.54	[-0.13, 0.49]
	WD	0.00	0.00	[0.00, 0.00]	0.07	0.27	[-0.08, 0.23]
		Screen Time:	Average Nur	nber of Breaks from Sitti	ing During Screen Ti	me (number	.)
Baseline		7.18	6.98	[3.59, 10.76]	6.00	7.41	[1.72, 10.28]
Intervention		4.97	2.90	[3.47, 6.46]	5.79	4.84	[2.99, 8.58]
Follow-up		6.00	3.37	[4.27, 7.73]	5.43	5.36	[2.33, 8.52]
	S	creen Time: A	verage Break	Frequency from Sitting	During Screen Time	(every x ho	urs)
Baseline		1.41	0.59	[1.12, 1.72]	1.36	1.01	[0.78, 1.94]
Intervention [†]		1.03	0.50	[0.77, 1.30]	1.50	1.30	[0.75, 2.25]
Follow-up		1.00	0.31	[0.84, 1.16]	1.12	0.86	[0.61, 1.60]
		Screen Time	e: Average Br	reak Duration from Sittin	g During Screen Tim	e (minutes)	
Baseline		8.41	8.57	[4.00, 12.82]	9.71	11.83	[2.88, 16.55]
Intervention		5.35	3.79	[3.40, 7.30]	12.64	20.29	[0.93, 24.36]
Follow-up		4.41	2.90	[2.92, 5.90]	6.57	7.88	[2.02, 11.12]
	O	ther Activities	: Average W	Y/WD Time Spent Sitting	g While Leisure Read	ing (hours/	day)
Baseline	WY	0.53	0.98	[0.02, 1.04]	0.46	0.59	[0.13, 0.80]
	WD	0.45	0.72	[0.08, 0.82]	0.32	0.41	[0.09, 0.56]
Intervention	WY	0.87	1.38	[0.16, 1.58]	0.63	1.05	[0.02, 1.23]
	WD	0.78	1.16	[0.18, 1.38]	0.63	1.14	[-0.03, 1.28]
Follow-up	WY	0.53	1.02	[0.00, 1.05]	0.68	1.27	[-0.05, 1.41]

	WD	0.41	0.75	[0.02, 0.79]	0.98	1.61	[0.05, 1.91]
	(Other Activitie	s: Average W	Y/WD Time Spent Sitti	ng While Doing Chor	es (hours/d	lay)
Baseline	WY	0.22	0.49	[-0.03, 0.47]	0.48	0.79	[0.02, 0.93]
	WD	0.35	0.72	[-0.02, 0.72]	0.34	0.59	[-0.03, 0.68]
Intervention	WY	0.13	0.18	[0.04, 0.23]	0.25	0.57	[-0.08, 0.58]
	WD	0.12	0.18	[0.03, 0.21]	0.23	0.46	[-0.04, 0.50]
Follow-up	WY	0.13	0.27	[-0.01, 0.27]	0.06	0.18	[-0.04, 0.16]
	WD	0.17	0.37	[-0.02, 0.37]	0.08	0.18	[-0.02, 0.19]
		Other Activit	ies: Average	WY/WD Time Spent Sit	ting While Caregiving	; (hours/da	y)
Baseline	WY	0.00	0.00	[0.00, 0.00]	0.04	0.09	[-0.02, 0.09]
	WD	0.00	0.00	[0.00, 0.00]	0.06	0.16	[-0.03, 0.15]
Intervention	WY	0.00	0.00	[0.00, 0.00]	0.00	0.00	[0.00, 0.00]
	WD	0.00	0.00	[0.00, 0.00]	0.12	0.40	[-0.12, 0.34]
Follow-up	WY	0.00	0.00	[0.00, 0.00]	0.05	0.12	[-0.02, 0.11]
	WD	0.00	0.00	[0.00, 0.00]	0.07	0.27	[-0.08, 0.23]
		Other Activi	ties: Average	WY/WD Time Spent Si	tting During Hobbies	(hours/day	<i>i</i>)
Baseline	WY	0.66	0.64	[0.33, 0.99]	0.50	0.58	[0.17, 0.84]
	WD	0.96	0.85	[0.52, 1.39]	0.48	0.71	[0.07, 0.89]
Intervention	WY	0.66	0.68	[0.31, 1.01]	0.23	0.46	[-0.04, 0.50]
	WD	0.77	0.85	[0.33, 1.20]	0.16	0.36	[-0.05, 0.37]
Follow-up	WY	0.37	0.54	[0.09, 0.65]	0.32	0.61	[-0.03, 0.67]
	WD	0.53	0.78	[0.13, 0.93]	0.39	0.74	[-0.03, 0.82]
		Other Activit	ies: Average	WY/WD Time Spent Sit	ting While Socializing	g (hours/da	ny)
Baseline	WY	1.44	1.07	[0.89, 1.99]	1.66	1.62	[0.73, 2.59]
	WD	1.91	1.23	[1.28, 2.54]	2.52	2.15	[1.27, 3.76]
Intervention	WY	1.35	0.77	[0.96, 1.75]	1.04	0.99	[0.46, 1.61]
	WD	1.94	1.14	[1.35, 2.53]	1.71	1.90	[0.62, 2.81]
Follow-up	WY	1.29	0.64	[0.97, 1.62]	1.73	1.18	[1.05, 2.41]

	WD	1.52	1.22	[0.89, 2.14]	1.64	1.55	[0.75, 2.54]
	Oth	er Activities:	Average WY	/WD Time Spent Sitting	While Listening to M	lusic (hour	s/day)
Baseline	WY	0.89	1.31	[0.22, 1.57]	0.88	1.38	[0.08, 1.67]
	WD	0.79	1.04	[0.26, 1.33]	0.75	1.23	[0.04, 1.46]
Intervention	WY	0.52	0.68	[0.17, 0.86]	0.52	0.79	[0.06, 0.98]
	WD	0.59	0.75	[0.20, 0.98]	0.64	0.98	[0.08, 1.21]
Follow-up	WY	0.44	0.53	[0.17, 0.71]	0.43	0.82	[-0.05, 0.90]
	WD	0.50	0.75	[0.11, 0.87]	0.45	0.82	[-0.02, 0.92]
	Ot	her Activities:	Average WY	//WD Time Spent Sitting	g During Other Activi	ties (hours	/day)
Baseline	WY	0.19	0.35	[0.01, 0.37]	0.04	0.13	[-0.04, 0.11]
	WD	0.13	0.33	[-0.04, 0.30]	0.10	0.37	[-0.12, 0.32]
Intervention	WY	0.02	0.06	[-0.02, 0.05]	0.30	0.72	[-0.11, 0.72]
	WD	0.02	0.06	[-0.02, 0.05]	0.07	0.27	[-0.08, 0.23]
Follow-up	WY	0.23	0.48	[-0.02, 0.48]	0.12	0.30	[-0.06, 0.29]
	WD	0.30	0.55	[0.02, 0.58]	0.21	0.70	[-0.20, 0.61]
	Ot	her Activities:	Average Nur	nber of Breaks from Sitt	ing During Other Act	ivities (nur	nber)
Baseline		4.24	5.67	[1.32, 7.15]	4.43	7.73	[-0.04, 8.89]
Intervention		2.24	5.06	[-0.36, 4.84]	3.21	3.21	[1.36, 5.07]
Follow-up		3.49	7.33	[-0.28, 7.26]	1.21	2.46	[-0.20, 2.63]
	Othe	r Activities: A	verage Break	Frequency from Sitting	During Other Activiti	es (every x	t hours)
<i>Baseline</i> [‡] ¤		0.77	0.73	[0.36, 1.17]	1.54	2.16	[0.17, 2.91]
Intervention [¶]	0	0.96	1.12	[0.20, 1.72]	2.04	1.94	[0.87, 3.21]
Follow-up [§] ≠		1.23	0.61	[0.82, 1.64]	2.69	2.33	[0.74, 4.64]
	C	Other Activities	s: Average Br	eak Duration from Sittir	ng During Other Activ	ities (minu	ites)
Baseline		8.32	14.24	[1.00, 15.65]	2.93	3.50	[0.91, 4.95]
Intervention		3.21	4.06	[1.12, 5.29]	8.29	16.70	[-1.36, 17.93]
Follow-up		5.47	14.17	[-1.82, 12.77]	2.71	4.53	[0.10, 5.33]

Bold text indicates significant differences between groups at baseline (p < 0.05)

[†] = Treatment group (n = 16), [‡] = Treatment group (n = 15), [¶] = Treatment group (n = 12), [§] = Treatment group (n = 11), [◊] = Control group (n = 13), [¤] = Control group (n = 12), [§] = Control group (n = 8)

Control (n = 14)Treatment (n = 17)Time SD 95% CI Mean SD 95% CI Mean Positive Affect 31.29 [28.04, 34.55] **Baseline** 6.33 30.86 7.48 [26.54, 35.18] [29.26, 35.68] 27.93 Intervention 32.47 6.25 8.48 [23.03, 32.83]Follow-up 32.06 7.08 [28.42, 35.70] [26.15, 35.56] 30.86 8.151 Negative Affect 20.76 23.00 Baseline 8.36 [16.47, 25.06] 7.17 [18.86, 27.14] 5.99 Intervention 19.76 [16.69, 22.84] 20.79 6.85 [16.83, 24.74] [13.91, 22.68] [15.70, 23.88] Follow-up 18.29 8.53 19.79 7.08 Life Satisfaction 23.88 22.36 6.88 Baseline 6.78 [20.40, 27.37][18.39, 26.33] Intervention 24.76 6.95 [21.19, 28.34] 21.21 7.45 [16.91, 25.52] Follow-up 24.59 7.91 [20.52, 28.66] 21.36 7.21 [17.20, 25.52] Subjective Vitality Baseline 26.18 7.70 [22.22, 30.14] 24.14 5.46 [20.99, 27.30]27.24 6.24 [24.03, 30.44] 22.93 [17.92, 27.93] Intervention 8.67 Follow-up 27.71 6.76 [24.23, 31.18] 25.50 6.81 [21.57, 29.43] **Overall Subjective Well-Being** Baseline 48.47 8.02 [44.34, 52.60] 48.00 8.49 [43.10, 52.90]

Table 8: Means, standard deviations, and 95% confidence intervals for outcomes of subjective well-being throughout the study.

Intervention	50.76	7.60	[46.86, 54.67]	44.29	13.46	[36.51, 52.06]
Follow-up	50.82	7.73	[46.85, 54.80]	47.21	10.45	[41.18, 53.25]

Bold text indicates significant differences between groups at baseline (p < 0.05)

4.3.5 Interaction Effects and Main Effects

4.3.5.1 Objectively-Measured Sedentary Behavior

Interaction effects and main effects for objectively-measured SB outcomes are presented in *Table 9*.

4.3.5.1.1 Average daily steps.

No significant interaction effect was observed for average daily steps (p > 0.05). A significant main effect of time was observed ($p \le 0.05$), indicating both groups increased their step count from baseline to intervention and then decreased their step count to baseline levels at follow-up. A secondary repeated-measures ANOVA accounting for baseline differences as a covariate indicated similar results.

4.3.5.1.2 Average daily standing time.

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for average daily standing time (p > 0.05). However, a medium-sized interaction effect was trending in favor of the treatment group ($\eta_p^2 = 0.161$, p = 0.085), whereby the treatment group stood for more minutes/week.

4.3.5.1.3 Average daily stepping time.

No significant interaction effect was observed for average daily stepping time (p > 0.05). A significant main effect of time was observed ($p \le 0.05$), indicating both groups increased their stepping time from baseline to intervention and then decreased their stepping time to baseline levels at follow-up. A secondary repeated-measures ANOVA accounting for baseline differences as a covariate indicated similar results.

4.3.5.1.4 Average daily sitting time

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for average daily sitting time ($p \le 0.05$).

4.3.5.1.5 Average daily sit-to-stand transitions

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for average daily sit-tostand transitions ($p \le 0.05$).

4.3.5.1.6 Self-Compared Sedentary Behavior

Interaction effects and main effects for self-compared SB outcomes are presented in Table 10.

4.3.5.1.7 Self-compared weekly sitting

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for self-compared weekly sitting (p > 0.05).

4.3.5.1.8 Self-compared weekly break frequency

No significant interaction effect was observed for self-compared weekly break frequency. However, a medium-sized interaction effect was trending in favor of the treatment group ($\eta_p^2 = 0.166$, p = 0.083), whereby the treatment group perceived themselves taking more breaks than typical, as compared to the control group. A significant main effect of time was observed ($p \le 0.05$), indicating both groups perceived themselves taking more breaks from sitting than typical from baseline to intervention and then perceived a decrease in their breaks from sitting at follow-up.

4.3.5.1.9 Self-compared weekly break duration

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for self-compared weekly sitting (p > 0.05). However, a medium-sized interaction effect was trending in favor of the treatment group ($\eta_p^2 = 0.183$, p = 0.059), whereby the treatment group perceived themselves taking longer breaks than typical, as compared to the control group.

4.3.5.2 Average Weekday Sitting

Interaction effects and main effects for average weekday sitting are presented in *Table 10*. No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for average weekday sitting (p > 0.05).

4.3.5.3 Domain-Specific Sedentary Behavior

Interaction effects and main effects for domain-specific SB are presented in Table 9.

4.3.5.3.1 WY/WD sleep

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for WY sleep or WD sleep time (*ps* > 0.05). A secondary repeated-measures ANOVA accounting for baseline differences for WY sleep revealed a significant interaction effect (*F*(1,28) = 5.125, *p* = 0.031, Wilk's Λ = 0.85, $\eta_p^2 = 0.155$, $1 - \beta = 0.590$), indicating a significant difference between groups whereby the treatment group increased their sleep time from intervention to follow-up. No interaction effect was seen for WD sleep when accounting for baseline differences.

4.3.5.3.2 WY/WD napping

No significant interaction effect was observed for WY or WD napping (ps > 0.05). However, a medium-sized interaction effect for WY napping was trending in favor of the control group ($\eta_p^2 = 0.183$, p = 0.059), whereby the control group reported more WY napping than the treatment group. A significant main effect of time was also observed for both WY and WD napping ($ps \le 0.05$), indicating both groups reported higher WY napping and less WD napping at baseline, then reported a decrease in their WY napping and higher WD napping at follow-up. A secondary repeated-measures ANOVA accounting for baseline differences in WY napping as a covariate indicated similar results.

4.3.5.3.3 WY/WD breakfast

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for WY breakfast or WD breakfast (ps > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.4 WY/WD lunch

No significant interaction effect was observed for WY lunch or WD lunch (ps > 0.05). A significant main effect of time was observed for WY lunch ($p \le 0.05$), indicating both groups decreased the time sitting while eating lunch from baseline to intervention.

4.3.5.3.5 WY/WD dinner

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for WY dinner or WD dinner (ps > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.6 Total transportation

No significant interaction effect was observed for WY lunch or WD lunch (p > 0.05). A significant main effect of time was observed for total transportation ($p \le 0.05$), indicating both groups decreased the time sitting during transportation from intervention to follow-up.

4.3.5.3.7 Total weekly class

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for total weekly class (p > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.8 Average daily time spent sitting as a student

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for average weekly time spent sitting as a student (p > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.9 Average number of breaks from sitting as a student

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for average number of breaks from sitting as a student (p > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.10 Average frequency of breaks from sitting as a student

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for average frequency of breaks from sitting as a student (p > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.11 Average duration of breaks from sitting as a student

No significant interaction effect was observed for average number of breaks from sitting as a student (p > 0.05). A significant main effect of time was observed for average duration of breaks from sitting as a student ($p \le 0.05$), indicating both groups decreased the duration of their breaks from sitting as a student from baseline to intervention to follow-up.

4.3.5.3.12 WY/WD TV

No significant interaction effect was observed for WY TV or WD TV (ps > 0.05). However, a medium-sized interaction effect for WD TV was trending in favor of the control group ($\eta_p^2 = 0.163$, p = 0.083), whereby the control group perceived themselves taking longer breaks than typical, as compared to the control group. A significant main effect of time was also observed for both WY and WD TV ($ps \le 0.05$), indicating both groups reported a decrease in WY and WD TV time from baseline to intervention to follow-up.

4.3.5.3.13 WY/WD computer/smartphone use

No significant interaction effect was observed for WY or WD computer/smartphone use (ps > 0.05). A significant main effect of time was observed for WD computer/smartphone use ($p \le 0.05$), indicating both groups reported less time sitting while using a computer or smartphone from baseline to intervention to follow-up.

4.3.5.3.14 WY/WD video gaming

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for total weekly class (ps > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.15 Average number of breaks from sitting during screen time

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for average number of breaks from sitting during screen time (p > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.16 Average frequency of breaks from sitting during screen time

No significant interaction effect was observed for average frequency of breaks from sitting during screen time (p > 0.05). A significant main effect of time was observed for average

frequency of breaks from sitting during screen time ($p \le 0.05$), indicating both groups decreased the frequency of their breaks from sitting during screen time from baseline to follow-up.

4.3.5.3.17 Average duration of breaks from sitting during screen time

No significant interaction effect was observed for average duration of breaks from sitting during screen time (p > 0.05). A significant main effect of time was observed for average duration of breaks from sitting during screen time ($p \le 0.05$), indicating both groups decreased the duration of their breaks from sitting during screen time from baseline to follow-up.

4.3.5.3.18 WY/WD leisure reading

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for WY or WD leisure reading (ps > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.19 WY/WD chores

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for WY or WD sitting during chores (ps > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.20 WY/WD caregiving

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for WY or WD caregiving (ps > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.21 WY/WD hobbies

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for WY or WD hobbies (ps > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.22 WY/WD socializing

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for WY or WD socializing (ps > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.23 WY/WD music listening

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for WY or WD music listening (ps > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.24 WY/WD other activities

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for WY or WD other activities (ps > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.25 Average number of breaks from sitting during other activities

A significant large interaction effect was observed for average number of breaks from sitting during other activities ($\eta_p^2 = 0.253$, p = 0.017). Post-hoc analyses did not reveal any significant differences between groups at any time points (ps > 0.008). No significant main effect of time was observed (p > 0.05).

4.3.5.3.26 Average frequency of breaks from sitting during other activities

No significant interaction effect was observed for average frequency of breaks from sitting during other activities (p > 0.05). A significant main effect of time was observed for average frequency of breaks from sitting during other activities ($p \le 0.05$), indicating both groups decreased the frequency of their breaks from sitting during other activities from baseline to follow-up.

4.3.5.3.27 Average duration of breaks from sitting during other activities

No significant interaction effect or main effect of time was observed for average duration of breaks from sitting during other activities (p > 0.05).

 Table 9: Repeated-measures interaction effects and main effects of time for sedentary

 behavior outcomes and outcomes of subjective well-being.

		F	Hyp. df	Err. df	р	Λ	${\eta_p}^2$	1 - β
	Objectively-l	Measured Se	edentary Beh	avior				
Average daily steps	Interaction	0.428	2	28	0.656	0.97	0.030	0.113
	Main effect	10.572	2	28	<0.001	0.57	0.430	0.980
Average daily standing time	Interaction	2.693	2	28	0.085	0.84	0.161	0.490
	Main effect	10.572	2	28	0.141	0.57	0.131	0.395

Average daily stepping time	Interaction	0.369	2	28	0.695	0.97	0.026	0.103
	Main effect	7.492	2	28	0.002	0.65	0.349	0.917
Average daily sitting time	Interaction	0.155	2	28	0.857	0.99	0.011	0.072
	Main effect	0.624	2	28	0.543	0.96	0.043	0.144
Average daily sit-to-stand transitions	Interaction	0.144	2	28	0.893	0.94	0.061	0.192
	Main effect	1.184	2	28	0.321	0.92	0.078	0.238
	Self-Com	pared Sedent	ary Behavi	or				
Self-compared weekly sitting	Interaction	2.286	2	28	0.120	0.86	0.140	0.425
	Main effect	0.490	2	28	0.618	0.97	0.034	0.122
Self-compared weekly break frequency	Interaction	2.780	2	28	0.079	0.83	0.166	0.503
	Main effect	3.783	2	28	0.035	0.79	0.213	0.641
Self-compared weekly break duration	Interaction	3.131	2	28	0.059	0.82	0.183	0.555
	Main effect	1.067	2	28	0.358	0.93	0.071	0.218
	Average	e Weekday S	itting Time	;				
Average Weekday Sitting Time	Interaction	1.725	2	24	0.199	0.87	0.126	0.326
	Main effect	0.504	2	28	0.610	0.96	0.040	0.123
Domair	n-Specific Seder	ntary Behavio	or – Sleepii	ng and Na	pping			
WY Sleep	Interaction	0.136	2	28	0.873	0.99	0.010	0.069
	Main effect	1.218	2	28	0.311	0.92	0.080	0.244
WD Sleep	Interaction	0.201	2	28	0.819	0.99	0.014	0.078
	Main effect	0.471	2	28	0.629	0.97	0.033	0.119
WY Napping	Interaction	2.572	2	28	0.094	0.85	0.155	0.471
	Main effect	5.175	2	28	0.012	0.73	0.270	0.784
WD Napping	Interaction	1.691	2	28	0.203	0.89	0.108	0.325
	Main effect	3.606	2	28	0.040	0.80	0.205	0.619
	Domain-Specif	fic Sedentary	Behavior -	- Meals				
WY breakfast	Interaction	0.706	2	28	0.502	0.95	0.048	0.157

	Main effect	0.185	2	28	0.832	0.99	0.013	0.076
WD breakfast	Interaction	0.370	2	28	0.694	0.97	0.026	0.103
	Main effect	2.290	2	28	0.120	0.86	0.120	0.426
WY lunch	Interaction	0.276	2	28	0.761	0.98	0.019	0.089
	Main effect	3.763	2	28	0.036	0.79	0.212	0.639
WD lunch	Interaction	0.013	2	28	0.987	1.00	0.001	0.052
	Main effect	0.858	2	28	0.435	0.94	0.058	0.182
WY dinner	Interaction	1.797	2	28	0.184	0.89	0.114	0.343
	Main effect	0.266	2	28	0.768	0.98	0.019	0.088
WD dinner	Interaction	0.211	2	28	0.811	0.99	0.015	0.080
	Main effect	0.664	2	28	0.523	0.96	0.045	0.150
Do	omain-Specific Se	edentary Beh	avior – Tra	ansportatio	on			
Total weekly transportation	Interaction	2.432	2	28	0.106	0.85	0.148	0.449
	Martin affected	2 060	2	28	0.031	0 78	0 220	0 662
	Main effect	5.900	4	20	0.031	0.70	0.220	0.002
I	Domain-Specific	Sedentary Be	2 ehavior – C	20 Occupation	0.031	0.78	0.220	0.002
I Total weekly class	Main effect Domain-Specific Interaction	Sedentary Be 0.139	2 ehavior – C 2	26 Occupation 26	0.871	0.99	0.220	0.069
I Total weekly class	Main effect Domain-Specific Interaction Main effect	Sedentary Be 0.139 0.825	2 ehavior – C 2 2	26 Occupation 26 26	0.871 0.450	0.99	0.011	0.069
Total weekly class Average daily time spent sitting as a	Main effect Domain-Specific Interaction Main effect Interaction	3.900 Sedentary Be 0.139 0.825 0.592	2 ehavior – C 2 2 2	26 26 26 27	0.871 0.450 0.560	0.99 0.94 0.96	0.011 0.060 0.042	0.069 0.176 0.138
Total weekly class Average daily time spent sitting as a student	Main effect Domain-Specific Interaction Main effect Interaction Main effect	Sedentary Be 0.139 0.825 0.592 0.362	$\frac{2}{2}$	26 26 26 27 27	0.871 0.450 0.560 0.700	0.99 0.94 0.96 0.97	0.011 0.060 0.042 0.026	0.069 0.176 0.138 0.102
Total weekly class Average daily time spent sitting as a student Average number of breaks from sitting as a student	Main effect Domain-Specific Interaction Main effect Interaction Main effect Interaction	Sedentary Be 0.139 0.825 0.592 0.362 0.137	2 ehavior – C 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	26 26 26 27 27 27 26	0.871 0.450 0.560 0.700 0.873	0.99 0.94 0.96 0.97 0.99	0.011 0.060 0.042 0.026 0.010	0.069 0.176 0.138 0.102 0.069
Total weekly class Average daily time spent sitting as a student Average number of breaks from sitting as a student	Main effect Domain-Specific Interaction Main effect Interaction Main effect Interaction Main effect Interaction Main effect	Sedentary Be 0.139 0.825 0.592 0.362 0.137 1.630	2 ehavior – C 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	26 26 26 27 27 27 26 26	0.871 0.450 0.560 0.700 0.873 0.215	0.99 0.94 0.96 0.97 0.99 0.89	0.011 0.060 0.042 0.026 0.010 0.111	0.069 0.176 0.138 0.102 0.069 0.312
I Total weekly class Average daily time spent sitting as a student Average number of breaks from sitting as a student Average frequency of breaks from sitting as a student	Main effect Domain-Specific Interaction Main effect Interaction Main effect Interaction Main effect Interaction Main effect Interaction	Sedentary Be 0.139 0.825 0.592 0.362 0.137 1.630 1.083	2 ehavior – C 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	26 26 26 27 27 27 26 26 26	0.871 0.450 0.560 0.700 0.873 0.215 0.353	0.99 0.94 0.96 0.97 0.99 0.89 0.92	0.011 0.060 0.042 0.026 0.010 0.111 0.077	0.069 0.176 0.138 0.102 0.069 0.312 0.219
I Total weekly class Average daily time spent sitting as a student Average number of breaks from sitting as a student Average frequency of breaks from sitting as a student	Main effect Domain-Specific Interaction Main effect Interaction Main effect Interaction Main effect Interaction Main effect	3.900 Sedentary Be 0.139 0.825 0.592 0.362 0.137 1.630 1.083 2.177	2 ehavior – C 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	26 26 26 27 27 27 26 26 26 26	0.871 0.450 0.560 0.700 0.873 0.215 0.353 0.134	0.99 0.94 0.96 0.97 0.99 0.89 0.92 0.86	0.011 0.060 0.042 0.026 0.010 0.111 0.077 0.143	0.069 0.176 0.138 0.102 0.069 0.312 0.219 0.404
I Total weekly class Average daily time spent sitting as a student Average number of breaks from sitting as a student Average frequency of breaks from sitting as a student Average frequency of breaks from sitting as a student Average duration of breaks from sitting as a student	Main effectInteractionMain effectInteractionMain effectInteractionMain effectInteractionMain effectInteractionMain effectInteractionMain effectInteractionMain effectInteractionMain effectInteractionMain effectInteraction	Sedentary Be 0.139 0.825 0.592 0.362 0.137 1.630 1.083 2.177 0.359	$ \frac{2}{2} $	26 26 26 27 27 26 26 26 26 26 26 27	0.871 0.450 0.560 0.700 0.873 0.215 0.353 0.134 0.702	0.99 0.94 0.96 0.97 0.99 0.89 0.92 0.86 0.97	0.011 0.060 0.042 0.026 0.010 0.111 0.077 0.143 0.026	0.069 0.176 0.138 0.102 0.069 0.312 0.219 0.404 0.102
I Total weekly class Average daily time spent sitting as a student Average number of breaks from sitting as a student Average frequency of breaks from sitting as a student Average frequency of breaks from sitting as a student Average duration of breaks from sitting as a student	Main effect Domain-Specific Interaction Main effect	3.960 Sedentary Be 0.139 0.825 0.592 0.362 0.137 1.630 1.083 2.177 0.359 6.483	$ \begin{array}{c} 2\\ \hline 2\\ $	23 Decupation 26 26 27 27 26 26 26 26 26 26 27 27 27 27	0.871 0.450 0.560 0.700 0.873 0.215 0.353 0.134 0.702 0.005	0.99 0.94 0.96 0.97 0.99 0.89 0.92 0.86 0.97 0.68	0.011 0.060 0.042 0.026 0.010 0.111 0.077 0.143 0.026 0.324	0.069 0.176 0.138 0.102 0.069 0.312 0.219 0.404 0.102 0.871
Image: Total weekly class Average daily time spent sitting as a student Average number of breaks from sitting as a student Average frequency of breaks from sitting as a student Average duration of breaks from sitting as a student Average duration of breaks from sitting as a student	Main effect Interaction Main effect Domain-Specific S	Sedentary Be 0.139 0.825 0.592 0.362 0.137 1.630 1.083 2.177 0.359 6.483 Sedentary Be	$\frac{2}{2}$ $\frac{2}$	26 26 26 27 27 27 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 27 27 27 27 27 27 27	0.871 0.450 0.560 0.700 0.873 0.215 0.353 0.134 0.702 0.005	0.99 0.94 0.96 0.97 0.99 0.89 0.92 0.86 0.97 0.68	0.011 0.060 0.042 0.026 0.010 0.111 0.077 0.143 0.026 0.324	0.069 0.176 0.138 0.102 0.069 0.312 0.219 0.404 0.102 0.871

	Main effect	4.345	2	28	0.023	0.76	0.237	0.706
WD TV	Interaction	2.722	2	28	0.083	0.84	0.163	0.494
	Main effect	3.400	2	28	0.048	0.80	0.195	0.592
WY computer/smartphone use	Interaction	0.978	2	28	0.388	0.94	0.065	0.203
	Main effect	3.212	2	28	0.055	0.81	0.187	0.566
WD computer use/smartphone use	Interaction	0.062	2	28	0.940	1.00	0.004	0.058
	Main effect	3.706	2	28	0.037	0.79	0.209	0.632
WY video gaming	Interaction	1.523	2	28	0.236	0.90	0.098	0.296
	Main effect	1.554	2	28	0.229	0.90	0.100	0.302
WD video gaming	Interaction	2.231	2	28	0.126	0.86	0.137	0.416
	Main effect	0.681	2	28	0.514	0.95	0.046	0.153
Average number of breaks from	Interaction	2.270	2	28	0.122	0.86	0.140	0.422
	Main effect	1.317	2	28	0.284	0.91	0.086	0.261
Average break frequency from sitting	Interaction	2.484	2	27	0.102	0.85	0.155	0.455
	Main effect	4.055	2	27	0.029	0.77	0.231	0.672
Average break duration from sitting	Interaction	0.767	2	28	0.474	0.95	0.052	0.167
auring screen time	Main effect	4.248	2	28	0.024	0.77	0.233	0.695
Dor	main-Specific Se	edentary Beha	avior – Oth	er Activit	ies			
WY leisure reading	Interaction	0.351	2	28	0.707	0.98	0.024	0.101
	Main effect	1.00	2	28	0.381	0.92	0.067	0.206
WD leisure reading	Interaction	1.561	2	28	0.228	0.90	0.100	0.303
	Main effect	2.137	2	28	0.137	0.87	0.132	0.401
WY chores	Interaction	1.757	2	28	0.191	0.89	0.111	0.337
	Main effect	3.266	2	28	0.053	0.81	0.189	0.574
WD chores	Interaction	1.396	2	28	0.264	0.91	0.091	0.274
	Main effect	1.862	2	28	0.174	0.88	0.117	0.354
WY caregiving	Interaction	1.645	2	28	0.211	0.90	0.105	0.317
	Main effect	1.645	2	28	0.211	0.90	0.105	0.317

WD caregiving	Interaction	1.880	2	28	0.171	0.88	0.118	0.357
	Main effect	1.880	2	28	0.171	0.88	0.118	0.357
WY hobbies	Interaction	1.146	2	28	0.332	0.92	0.076	0.231
	Main effect	1.593	2	28	0.221	0.90	.102	0.308
WD hobbies	Interaction	1.827	2	28	0.179	0.89	0.115	0.349
	Main effect	1.581	2	28	0.224	0.90	0.101	0.306
WY socializing	Interaction	1.097	2	28	0.348	0.93	0.073	0.223
	Main effect	1.062	2	28	0.359	0.93	0.071	0.221
WD socializing	Interaction	0.809	2	28	0.455	0.95	0.055	0.174
	Main effect	2.689	2	28	0.085	0.84	0.161	0.489
WY music listening	Interaction	0.003	2	28	0.997	1.00	0.000	0.050
	Main effect	2.534	2	28	0.097	0.85	0.153	0.465
WD music listening	Interaction	0.114	2	28	0.893	0.99	0.008	0.066
	Main effect	1.219	2	28	0.311	0.92	0.080	0.244
WY other activities	Interaction	2.361	2	28	0.113	0.86	0.144	0.437
	Main effect	0.317	2	28	0.731	0.98	0.022	0.095
WD other activities	Interaction	0.536	2	28	0.591	0.96	0.037	0.130
	Main effect	2.244	2	28	0.125	0.86	0.138	0.418
Average number of breaks from	Interaction	4.737	2	28	0.017	0.75	0.253	0.745
sitting during other activities	Main effect	1.369	2	28	0.271	0.91	0.089	0.270
Average break frequency from sitting	Interaction	0.375	2	13	0.695	0.95	0.055	0.098
during other activities	Main effect	3.937	2	13	0.046	0.62	0.377	0.601
Average break frequency from sitting	Interaction	2.481	2	28	0.102	0.85	0.151	0.457
during other activities	Main effect	0.311	2	28	0.735	0.98	0.022	0.095
	Outcomes	s of Subjectiv	e Well-Bei	ng				
Positive affect	Interaction	1.524	2	28	0.235	0.90	0.098	0.296
	Main effect	0.679	2	28	0.515	0.95	0.046	0.153
Negative affect	Interaction	0.109	2	28	0.897	0.99	0.008	0.065

	Main effect	3.887	2	28	0.032	0.78	0.217	0.654
Life satisfaction	Interaction	2.293	2	28	0.120	0.86	0.141	0.426
	Main effect	0.049	2	28	0.952	1.00	0.003	0.057
Subjective vitality	Interaction	1.205	2	28	0.315	0.92	0.079	0.241
	Main effect	3.068	2	28	0.062	0.82	0.180	0.546
Overall subjective well-being	Interaction	3.209	2	28	0.064	0.82	0.178	0.540
	Main effect	0.927	2	28	0.408	0.94	0.062	0.194

Bold text indicates a significant effect (p < 0.05).

 $\Lambda =$ Wilks' Lambda, $\eta_p^2 =$ partial eta squared, $1 - \beta =$ observed power.

4.3.6 Residual Change and Absolute Differences Correlations

4.3.6.1 Objectively-Measured Sedentary Behavior

Correlations between changes in objectively-measured SB outcomes and change in outcomes of SWB are presented in *Table 10*.

Change in average daily standing time was not significantly correlated with change in any outcome of SWB, but demonstrated a trending positive correlation with residual change in positive affect and subjective vitality and with absolute change for subjective vitality and overall SWB (0.10 > ps > 0.05).

Change in average daily sitting time was significantly negatively correlated absolute change in subjective vitality and both residual change and absolute change in overall SWB ($ps \le 0.05$). Additionally, change in average daily sitting time demonstrated a trending negative correlation with residual change in subjective vitality (0.10 > p > 0.05).

No significant correlations were observed between changes in any other objectivelymeasured SB outcomes and outcomes of SWB.

	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10
1. Average daily steps		.512	.973	555	075	056	.109	059	.082	.025
2. Average daily standing time	.528		.527	857	.322†	.239	130	.005	.316†	.341†
3. Average daily stepping time	.974	.555		623	.002	036	.088	023	.093	.052
4. Average daily sitting time	601	800	675		265	192	.108	067	357	380
5. Average daily sit-to-stand transitions	.063	.252	.147	293		.297	078	.074	.131	.048
6. Positive affect	.028	.302†	.027	222	.150		346†	.390	.557	.561
7. Negative affect	.237	116	.227	.008	.120	455		315†	330†	384
8. Life satisfaction	097	.002	064	123	.069	.406	483		.613	.701
9. Subjective vitality	.095	.348†	.095	349†	.131	.586	494	.629		.792
10. Overall subjective well- being	.000	.287	.030	397	.056	.597	549	.701	.790	

Table 10: Pearson correlation matrix between residuals and absolute differences* of objective SB outcomes and outcomes of SWB. (n = 31)

*Correlations between residuals are presented below the line; correlations between absolute differences are presented above the line.

Bold text indicates a significant correlation (p < 0.05); bold, italicized text indicates a significant correlation (p < 0.01). [†] = trending correlation (0.10 > p > 0.05)

4.3.6.2 Self-Compared Sedentary Behavior

Correlations between changes in self-compared SB outcomes and change in outcomes of SWB are presented in *Table 11*.

Change in self-compared weekly sitting time was not significantly correlated with change in any outcome of SWB but demonstrated a trending negative correlation with residual change and absolute change in overall SWB (0.10 > ps > 0.05).

Residual change in self-compared weekly break frequency was significantly positively correlated with life satisfaction and overall SWB ($ps \le 0.05$). Additionally, self-compared weekly break frequency demonstrated a trending correlation with residual change in positive affect and absolute change in life satisfaction.

Change in self-compared weekly break duration was significantly positively correlated with residual change in life satisfaction, as well as absolute change in positive affect, life satisfaction, subjective vitality, and overall SWB ($ps \le 0.05$). Additionally, self-compared weekly break duration demonstrated a trending correlation with residual change in positive affect, subjective vitality, and overall SWB (0.10 > ps > 0.05).

Average Weekday Sitting

Correlations between changes in average weekday sitting and change in outcomes of SWB are presented in *Table 11*.

Significant negative correlations were observed between changes in average weekday sitting and both residual change and absolute change in life satisfaction ($ps \le 0.05$). Additionally, change in average weekday sitting demonstrated a trending negative correlation with residual change in overall SWB and absolute change in subjective vitality (0.10 > ps > 0.05).

	1	2	3	4^{\ddagger}	5	6	7	8	9
1. Self-compared weekly sitting		440	473	.393	286	.017	298	238	319†
2. Self-compared weekly break frequency	251		.600	428	.277	089	.323†	.144	.206
3. Self-compared weekly break duration	326†	.768		349†	.450	125	.486	.402	.392
4. Average weekday sitting [‡]	.317	263	061		236	008	531	376†	320
5. Positive affect	036	.307†	.353†	203		346†	.390	.557	.561
6. Negative affect	050	298	194	.110	455		315†	330†	384
7. Life satisfaction	297	.360	.419	475	.406	483		.613	.701
8. Subjective vitality	164	.279	.331†	312	.586	494	.629		.792
9. Overall subjective well- being	330 [†]	.360	.328†	377†	.597	549	.701	.790	

Table 11: Pearson correlation matrix between residuals and absolute differences* of selfcompared and average weekday SB and outcomes of SWB. (n = 31)

*Correlations between residuals are presented below the line; correlations between absolute differences are presented above the line.

Bold text indicates a significant correlation (p < 0.05); bold, italicized text indicates a significant correlation (p < 0.01). [†] = trending correlation (0.10 > p > 0.05), [‡] = (n = 27)

4.3.6.3 Domain-Specific Sedentary Behavior

Correlations between changes in domain-specific SB and change in outcomes of SWB are presented in *Table 12*.

With respect to sleep, change in WY sleep time was significantly correlated residual change in subjective vitality and overall SWB, as well as absolute change in subjective vitality ($p \le 0.05$). Change in WD sleep time was not significantly correlated with change in any SWB

outcomes. Change in WY napping was significantly positively correlated with absolute change in positive affect ($p \le 0.05$). Additionally, change in WY sleep time demonstrated a trending positive correlation with subjective vitality (0.10 > p > 0.05). Change in WD napping was significantly negatively correlated with residual change and absolute change in negative affect ($ps \le 0.05$).

With respect to meals, change in WY lunch was significantly negatively correlated with residual change in overall SWB ($p \le 0.05$). Additionally, change in WY lunch demonstrated a trending negative correlation with absolute change in overall SWB (0.10 > p > 0.05). No significant correlations were observed among change in other meal-related sitting behavior.

With respect to transportation, no significant correlations were observed between change in total transportation and change in any outcome of SWB.

With respect to occupational sitting, change in total class time demonstrated a trending positive correlation with absolute change in subjective vitality (0.10 > p > 0.05). Change in average duration of breaks from sitting as a student was significantly positively correlated with both residual change and absolute change in positive affect ($ps \le 0.05$). No significant correlations were observed between change in any other occupational SB outcome or any outcome of SWB.

With respect to screen time, change in WY TV was significantly negatively correlated with residual change in subjective vitality, as well as absolute change in positive affect and subjective vitality ($ps \le 0.05$). Additionally, a trending negative correlation was observed between change in WY TV and change in overall SWB (0.10 > p > 0.05). Change in WY computer was significantly negatively correlated with both residual change and absolute change in negative affect ($ps \le 0.05$). Change in average number of breaks during screen time was significantly negatively correlated with residual change in life satisfaction ($p \le 0.05$). Change in average duration of breaks from sitting during screen time was significantly positively correlated with residual change in negative affect, as well as significantly negatively correlated with residual change in overall SWB and absolute change in subjective vitality and overall SWB ($ps \le$ 0.05). Additionally, change in average duration of breaks from sitting during screen time demonstrated a trending negative correlation with residual change in life satisfaction and subjective vitality, as well as absolute change in positive affect and life satisfaction (0.10 > ps > 0.05).

With respect to other activities, change in WY chores was significantly positively correlated with absolute change in positive affect and significantly negatively correlated with change in negative affect ($ps \le 0.05$). Additionally, change in WY chores demonstrated a trending negative correlation with absolute change in negative affect and trending positive correlations with residual change in subjective vitality and absolute change in life satisfaction (0.10 > ps > 0.05). Change in WY caregiving demonstrated a trending positive correlation with absolute change in overall SWB (0.10 > p > 0.05). Change in WD caregiving was significantly positively correlated with absolute change in overall SWB ($p \le 0.05$). Change in WD socializing was significantly positively correlated with absolute change in positive affect ($p \le 0.05$). Change in WY music listening was significantly positively associated with absolute change in life satisfaction ($p \le 0.05$). Additionally, change in WY music listening demonstrated a trending negative correlation with absolute change in negative affect and trending positive correlations with absolute change in life satisfaction and overall SWB (0.10 > ps > 0.05). Change in WY other activities was significantly negatively correlated with absolute change in positive affect (p \leq 0.05). Additionally, change in WY other activities demonstrated a trending negative correlation with residual change in overall SWB (0.10 > p > 0.05). Change in average number of breaks from sitting during other activities was significantly positively correlated with absolute change in subjective vitality ($p \le 0.05$). Additionally, change in average number of breaks from sitting during other activities demonstrated a trending positive relationship with both residual and absolute change in positive affect, as well as a trending negative relationship with residual change in negative affect (0.10 > ps > 0.05). Change in average duration of breaks from sitting during other activities was significantly positively correlated with both residual change and absolute change in positive affect ($ps \le 0.05$).

Table 12: Pearson correlations between residuals and absolute differences of domainspecific SBs and outcomes of SWB. (n = 31)

	Positiv	e affect	Negativ	ve affect	Li satisfa	fe action	Subje vita	ective ulity	Overa	ll SWB
Sedentary behavior	<i>R</i> . <i>C</i> .	<i>A.C.</i>	<i>R.C.</i>	<i>A.C.</i>	<i>R.C.</i>	<i>A.C.</i>	<i>R.C.</i>	<i>A.C.</i>	<i>R</i> . <i>C</i> .	<i>A.C.</i>
Do	main-Spe	ecific Sed	lentary Be	ehavior –	Sleeping	and Nap	ping			
WY sleep	.005	.075	046	066	.263	.267	.349†	.415	.485	.473
WD sleep	083	037	.030	136	.049	118	093	112	021	072
WY napping	.202	.394	096	078	052	024	014	.014	.031	.051
WD napping	068	067	377	395	015	011	.016	.031	.204	.184
	Don	nain-Spec	cific Sede	entary Bel	havior – 1	Meals				
WY breakfast	023	065	.001	.125	.090	.157	.271	.318†	.132	.230
WD breakfast	278	033	.057	083	110	100	005	.069	155	015
WY lunch	200	180	.235	.291	290	267	110	020	436	304†
WD lunch	.038	.061	.141	.191	.176	.173	.138	.179	083	022
WY dinner	079	069	.008	.002	.079	.079	.205	.223	034	020
WD dinner	004	.073	070	.029	.132	.179	.050	.140	142	012
	Domain	-Specific	Sedentar	y Behavi	or – Tran	sportation	n			
Total transportation	.025	.044	183	204	.105	.032	.137	.159	.162	.113
	Domai	n-Specifi	c Sedenta	ary Behav	vior – Oc	cupation				
Total class time	.142	.207	075	151	.086	.057	.255	.330†	.150	.153
Average weekly time spent sitting as a student	118	190	058	086	072	086	182	167	211	244

Average number of breaks from sitting as a student $(n = 29)$.070	.171	.199	173	157	.030	240	.141	149	.130
Average frequency of breaks from sitting as a student (n = 30)	073	260	.086	.182	040	048	.056	038	021	018
Average duration of breaks from sitting as a student (n = 30)	.397	.432	184	208	.079	.082	.049	.065	002	029

Domain-Specific Sedentary Behavior - Screen Time

WY TV	207	436	.081	.092	074	096	507	615	227	313†
WD TV	.138	092	224	.009	.192	.139	160	269	.049	050
WY computer/smartphone use	.182	.272	396	395	.149	.267	107	113	.078	.110
WD computer/smartphone use	.228	.116	245	140	.017	.074	162	174	.012	014
WY videogaming	264	.089	005	211	.048	.127	065	.234	147	.091
WD videogaming	140	.026	.099	139	.004	.110	119	.200	050	.078
Average number of breaks from sitting during screen time	220	.021	.203	165	541	221	193	.072	263	.036
Average frequency of breaks from sitting during screen time (n = 30)	157	181	202	272	.191	.165	056	088	033	026
Average duration of breaks from sitting during screen time	184	305†	.411	.156	355†	349†	352†	431	364	446

Domain-Specific Sedentary Behavior - Other Activities

WY leisure reading	034	.004	.097	190	214	205	202	200	103	135
WD leisure reading	.038	.045	.103	276	220	202	149	125	072	101
WY chores	.174	.415	353†	489	.258	.303†	.333†	.268	.223	.218
WD chores	.290	.203	299	298	.188	.125	.241	018	.069	014

WY caregiving	-	.050	-	154	-	.277	-	.244	-	.332†
WD caregiving	.110	.115	271	274	077	.066	.042	.183	.220	.399
WY hobbies	013	.076	042	112	008	.056	175	168	.038	.007
WD hobbies	.009	122	.163	.105	013	.013	205	128	058	045
WY socializing	.091	.260	144	240	042	.129	054	.236	060	.101
WD socializing	.093	.403	.123	.042	069	.156	.050	.279	.006	.195
WY music listening	.148	.232	012	307†	.091	.339†	.105	.425	.008	.304†
WD music listening	.024	.107	.198	177	.004	.179	.041	.261	013	.206
WY other activities	251	366	.254	.105	272	216	112	074	302†	288
WD other activities	129	211	167	.035	241	131	216	077	260	.003
Average number of breaks from sitting during other activities	.336†	.337†	352†	205	.099	.166	.297	.473	.128	.235
Average frequency of breaks from sitting during other activities $(n = 21)$	248	.066	163	074	.012	.177	007	.152	.216	.350
Average duration of breaks from sitting during other activities	.455	.373	206	228	.004	074	.291	.206	.202	.119

Bold text indicates a significant correlation (p < 0.05); bold, italicized text indicates a significant correlation (p < 0.01). SWB = subjective well-being, R.C. = residual correlation, A.C. = absolute difference correlation, [†] = trending correlation ($0.10 \ge p \ge 0.05$).

4.3.7 Adverse events

Given the minimal risk associated with the intervention and subsequent behaviors, data regarding adverse events/harms were not formally collected. However, anecdotally, no participants noted any adverse events or harms.

4.4 Discussion

This randomized pilot trial assessed the preliminary effectiveness of an acute behavioral intervention to reduce the SB and in turn improve the SWB of sedentary university students. This trial also examined relationships between changes in SB outcomes and outcomes of SWB from baseline to intervention.

4.4.1 Intervention effectiveness – Reducing sedentary behavior

Overall, the intervention was unable to significantly decrease objectively-measured SB, relative to the control group. Specifically, no significant interaction effects were demonstrated for average daily steps or average daily stepping time, average daily standing time, average daily stating time, or average daily sit-to-stand transitions. However, a trending medium-sized interaction effect of average daily standing time favored the treatment group – the expected direction of change. Low observed power statistics provide evidence that the trial was underpowered to observe changes in these objectively-measured SB outcomes. An informal sample size calculation suggests that a sample size of 64 participants would be necessary to see significant changes in objectively-measured average standing time. Generally, from baseline to intervention to follow-up, both groups decreased their sitting time and increased their standing time. Notably, significant main effects of time were observed for average number of steps and stepping time, indicating both groups increased their number of steps/stepping time from baseline to intervention and then returned to baseline levels at follow-up.

Interaction effects for self-reported SB resembled objectively-measured SB, in that no significant interaction effects were demonstrated, including average weekday sitting; the exception was average number of breaks from other activities, which favored the treatment group. However, trending associations among multiple self-reported variables (i.e., self-compared break frequency and duration, transportation) favoring the treatment group indicate the potential influence of the intervention.

The (lack of) effectiveness of the current SB-reducing intervention presents a stark contrast to the effectiveness of previous SB-inducing studies. Endrighi and colleagues reported a significant 31.48 min/day (95% CI: [-57.64, -5.32]) increase in 'sedentary time' over a 2-week period as measured by accelerometer¹⁸. Duvivier and colleagues noted an even higher reduction

(5.9 hours/day, 95% CI: [5.75, 6.05]) in daily sitting time with a 4-day intervention as measured by accelerometer¹⁹. Most recently, Edwards & Loprinzi reported a significant -2826.53 steps/day (95% CI: [1835.33, 3817.73]) change from baseline over a 1-week intervention¹⁶. Conversely, the present work observed a 6.21 min/day (95% CI: [-23.19, 35.61]) decrease in sitting time for the treatment group over a 1-week intervention.

Despite the disparity among intervention effectiveness between our work and previous studies, comparisons between the two are misleading and inappropriate. Firstly, the present study used inclinometry to measure SB, compared to the use of accelerometers in the previously mentioned work to measure 'sedentary time' (i.e., PI). Using PI (via accelerometers) as a proxy for SB is inaccurate; accelerometry cannot distinguish between sitting and standing. Moreover, standard accelerometer activity cut-offs for sedentary time (i.e., <100 counts per minute) are not sensitive enough to capture postural changes⁵², and vary drastically based on customized cut-offs and analysis algorithm⁵³. Hence, inclinometry remains the gold standard for valid and reliable measurement of SB⁵⁴. Secondly, inducing SB likely warrants a different approach to intervention than reducing SB. Specifically, previous experimental studies reported participants were simply 'instructed' to modify their behaviour (i.e., restrict PA, replace standing and movement with sitting). The ease of the intended behavior change among these studies may be attributed to the habitual nature of SB. Behavior modification through rewarding/reinforcing the habit behavior are less likely to encounter traditional barriers to behavior change (e.g., motivation, selfefficacy). Inversely, given the difficulty in changing habits, like SB, behavioral interventions aimed to counter habits require a consequent complexity to achieve success (e.g., reduce SB⁵⁵). Furthermore, the current work recruited already sedentary individuals (i.e., ≥7 hours/day of sitting time) - a sample likely with a strengthened SB habit. Hence, it is reasonable to expect the drastic contrast in effectiveness between these types of interventions that we observed.

The ineffectiveness of the present intervention to reduce SB can be explained by several reasons. One reason is the intervention was not strong enough to elicit change in SB. The current intervention was theory-driven; specifically, intervention development was informed by the HAPA model for behavior change. As such, the intervention was aimed at improving the action planning and coping planning associated with the SB change so as to facilitate intentions to behavior. Further, the action plan itself was coached by the FITT principle³⁴, allowing for further

specificity to encourage effectiveness and adherence. The action planning was built off the specified goal of reducing daily SB by 1-2 hours/day, as well as achieving a daily step goal of \geq 10000 steps/day. According to the taxonomy of behavior change techniques by Michie and colleagues⁵⁶, the present intervention utilized (i) goal setting (behavior), (ii) action planning, (iii) problem solving, (iv) review of behavioral goals, and (v) mental rehearsal of successful performance. Additionally, participants were encouraged to self-monitor their step count through a smartphone app, if applicable – a form of (vi) self-monitoring (behavior). These specific strategies have shown success in previous SB interventions⁵⁷, while HAPA-based SB interventions, specifically, have shown success^{31,58}.

However, these strategies alone may not have been sufficient to elicit change in behavior. Inclusion of components of previously successful SB interventions, such as prompts and cues, are likely to improve the present intervention's strength. Complementing traditional behavior change strategies with prompts and feedback helps to address the lack of cognitive awareness associated with habitual behaviors, like SB⁵⁹. Similarly, tailoring said prompts to the participant's action plan act as an additional strategy to facilitate behavior change⁵⁶. Previous work utilizing SMS-delivered prompts and cues has shown success in reducing SB among university students⁶⁰ and office workers⁵⁸.

Another potential reason for the infirmity of the present intervention is the length of the intervention. While SB-inducing studies have demonstrated that 4 days to 2 weeks is sufficient time to significantly increase SB, this acute an intervention period may not be sufficiently long enough to see reductions in SB. Previous work utilizing this intervention in a university student population did not observe differences in SB outcomes between groups until after the third week of intervention, following the follow-up behavioral session³¹. These findings allude to the value of longer intervention periods and follow-up behavioral sessions. Longer intervention periods may be necessary to observe changes in habitual changes in SB. Longer intervention periods can also help capture trends in sitting within our particular population, as university students anecdotally report more SB during exam and assignment periods. Additionally, follow-up behavioral sessions can promote the use of feedback, review of previous behavior, and habit formation as behavioral strategies. Given the weekly collection protocol for the ActivPAL4

device, a follow-up behavioral session could be implemented the week proceeding the first behavioral session.

A final proposed reason for the ineffectiveness of the current intervention is how often SB was assessed. The present work assessed self-reported SB through a 7-day recall questionnaire⁴². However, previous work suggests that daily changes in SB have impacts on outcomes of SWB^{14,15}. Additionally, given the 'invisible' nature of SB⁶¹, recalling average weekly behaviors can be difficult, particularly when considering multiple domains of SB. Short-term recalls of SB, such as previous day recalls, demonstrate strong correlations with inclinometry⁶². Hence, adapting present instruments into previous-day recall questionnaires can provide a more accurate depiction of SB and help to capture relationships between daily changes in SB and outcomes of SWB. Alternatively, the use of ecological momentary assessments (EMA) have also shown potential for measuring SB since they provide context about the SB being performed at the time of assessment, and can be more easily corroborated with objectively-measured SB data⁶³.

In sum, the effectiveness of the present intervention to reduce SB may have been hindered, owing to the habitual nature of SB, combined with the lack of prompts or cues, short intervention period, and 7-day recall period. Future iterations of this intervention should seek to integrate prompts/cues, adopt longer intervention periods with follow-up sessions for feedback, and capture SB through daily diaries or EMA.

4.4.2 Intervention effectiveness – Improving subjective well-being

Trends among SB outcomes were also mirrored by life satisfaction and overall SWB; both of these outcomes demonstrated trending medium-sized interaction effects favoring the treatment group. Similar to objectively-measured SB, low observed power statistics provide evidence that the trial was underpowered to observe changes in these outcomes of SWB. An informal sample size calculation suggests that a sample size of 54 participants would be necessary to see significant changes in overall SWB. By contrast, positive affect, negative affect, and subjective vitality were not significantly different between groups, indicating the intervention was ineffective in modifying these outcomes of SWB. The lack of change observed in affect may be explained by its measurement. Specifically, state affect was collected in the current study, as it

was hypothesized to be more sensitive to changes in SB than trait affect. However, given the 7day recall of the SB measures, changes in state affect elicited by changes in SB may not be captured through weekly recall; rather, daily recall measurements or EMA may be necessary to capture these relationships^{14,15}. Conversely, weekly recall questionnaires may be adequate for capturing less fluctuant outcomes of SWB, like life satisfaction and overall SWB; however, this reasoning does not appear to extend to eudaimonic well-being (i.e., subjective vitality). The distinctive differences between hedonic and eudaimonic well-being may contribute to the ineffectiveness of the intervention to modify subjective vitality. Hedonic well-being may be more sensitive to acute behavior change in general due to most behaviors eliciting an affective response. By contrast, eudaimonic well-being is concerned with self-actualization and purpose⁸, and as such, may be less sensitive to acute novel behavior change. Furthermore, some research suggests that eudaimonic well-being improves the likelihood of practicing preventive health behaviors⁶⁴, suggesting the current directionality of the intervention is inappropriate.

Overall, trending interaction effects for life satisfaction and overall SWB provide weak evidence for the effectiveness of the present intervention to modify outcomes of SWB. More frequent outcome assessment, through past-day recall and EMA, may provide a clarity regarding the effectiveness of the present intervention for modifying state affect.

4.4.3 Correlations between change in SB and SWB outcomes

The secondary objective of this randomized pilot trial was to examine whether changes in SB outcomes were related to changes in outcomes of SWB, with the aim of corroborating relationships between these variables with previous research. Correlations observed in the present study largely reflect previously established relationships. Notable comparisons include the null association between change in number of sit-to-stand transitions and change in overall SWB⁶⁵, a negative association between change in reported average weekday sitting time and change in life satisfaction¹⁵, and a null association between change in self-reported average weekday sitting time and change in negative affect¹⁰. The trending relationship between change in reported average weekday sitting time and overall SWB also echoes findings of the previous cross-sectional study.

However, multiple correlations identified were not in line with previous findings. For example, objectively-measured change in daily sitting time was significantly negatively correlated with overall SWB, in contrast to the null findings by Okely and colleagues⁶⁵. WY computer/smartphone use was also significantly negatively correlated with negative affect, contrary to evidence demonstrating positive relationships between negative affect and computer use^{66,67}, including the previous cross-sectional work. Notably, the previous research mentioned were cross-sectional, hence, the relationships identified in the present work highlight potential within-subject relationships between these outcomes. Significant and trending relationships between change in self-compared SB outcomes and multiple outcomes of SWB present further evidence supporting this point, as does some longitudinal work¹⁵.

Some unique relationships were also observed. With respect to objectively-measured outcomes of SB, favorable relationships with changes in outcomes of SWB were observed with changes in daily standing time, but not sit-to-stand transitions. This evidence, combined with self-compared and domain-specific break data, suggest that break duration may be more meaningful for outcomes of SWB than break frequency or number of breaks. Similarly, significant and trending moderate-strength correlations between self-compared SB outcomes and outcomes of SWB in the previous cross-sectional study and existing literature^{15,21,22} underscore the influence of within-subject differences and self-compared SB (i.e., compared to typical SB).

Given the relatively small sample size of this randomized pilot trial, significant and trending correlations were likely only observed for the largest correlations. Previous cross-sectional research indicates that many relationships between outcomes of SWB and domain-specific SB are small in size (i.e., $r \ge 0.1$). As such, the present work is also underpowered to observe these small potential relationships as statistically significant. However, current relationships between change in outcomes do underscore the role of within-subject changes in SB and their associations with outcomes of SWB, as is highlighted by the previous cross-sectional study and existing literature^{14,15,21,22}.

4.4.4 Interplay between intervention effectiveness and change correlations

Interplay between intervention effectiveness and change in outcome correlations provide insight into the variables of interest. Specifically, trending/significant interaction effects for SB and SWB, coupled with a trending/significant change correlation suggests that the intervention is successful (or approaching success) in changing the outcomes and that the two outcomes are related, which may be indicative of causation through one outcome. Inversely, non-significant interaction effects coupled with non-significant change correlations indicate that both outcomes are insufficiently affected by the intervention and are not related, which can signal the lack of a causal relationship between these outcomes or a lack of power. Additionally, non-significant interaction effects paired with significant change correlations infers a relationship between outcomes, but insufficient strength in the intervention to elicit change in one (or more) outcomes, confounding the interpretation of causality. Similarly, significant/trending interaction effects and non-significant change correlations indicate that both outcomes have been changed but exhibit no relationship with each other, suggesting that the outcomes are independent of each other. Ultimately, shedding light on which scenario is most likely can inform the outcomes of focus of future research experimental research.

Applied to the current trial, average daily standing time, self-compared weekly break frequency, and self-compared break duration all exhibited trending interaction effects and trending/significant change correlations with overall SWB, reinforcing these SB outcomes as targets for intervention. With respect to outcomes with non-significant interaction effects but trending/significant change correlations, average daily sitting time, self-compared weekly sitting, duration of breaks from sitting in multiple domains, and self-reported weekday sitting time all warrant investigation in a sufficiently powered intervention. Overall, interplay between interaction effects and change correlations further compound the importance of examining objectively-measured sitting and standing, self-compared SB, and breaks from sitting as salient outcomes to target and modify with future behavioral interventions.

4.4.5 Limitations

One limitation of the present work was the low sample size. Although sample size calculations are not typically part of pilot studies, the low observed power statistics and trending correlation *p* values indicate that the current work was underpowered, without accounting for Bonferroni corrections for repeated measures (an additional limitation). Drawing on previous studies that were successful in reducing SB using a similar HAPA-based intervention^{31,58}, future iterations of the present work should aim for a sample size of 50-60 participants (i.e., 25-30 participants per group). The lack of allocation blinding to the researcher presents as another limitation. Although efforts were made by the researcher to allocate randomly, the lack of concealment may have impacted the delivery of the study. Utilizing third-party sequence blinding and sealed envelopes can ensure sequence and allocation concealment.

4.4.6 Generalizability

Given the pilot nature of the present trial, the generalizability of these findings is limited. Future work is aimed at improving the preliminary effectiveness of the intervention. Interpretation regarding the generalizability of findings must be preceded by a full-scale RCT.

4.4.7 Interpretation

Overall, the present randomized pilot trial provides evidence that the current behavioral intervention was for the most part ineffective in reducing the SB of a sample of university students over a 1-week period. While previous research utilizing a HAPA-based SB intervention have shown success, those studies utilized longer intervention periods, follow-up sessions, and prompts/cues. The addition of these components into the current intervention may relay greater effectiveness in reducing SB in this population. Weak evidence exists that the current intervention enhanced SWB. Correlations observed between changes in SB outcomes and outcomes of SWB largely reflect previous evidence; notable outcomes of interest include self-compared SB outcomes, break frequency and duration, and objectively-measured SB.

4.4.8 Registration and protocol

The following trial and associated protocol are registered at ClinicalTrials.gov under ClinicalTrials.gov ID: NCT03694951 and Protocol ID: 112399, respectively.

4.4.9 Funding sources

The following trial was funded by a Social Sciences and Humanities Research Council of Canada Insight Development Grant under award number: 430-2018-00886.

4.5 References

- Colley RC, Garriguet D, Janssen I, Craig CL, Clarke J, Tremblay MS. Physical activity of Canadian adults: Accelerometer results from the 2007 to 2009 Canadian Health Measures Survey. Stat Canada. 2011;22(1).
- Moulin MS, Truelove S, Burke SM, Irwin JD. Sedentary time among undergraduate students: A systematic review. J Am Coll Health. 2019 Sep;1–8.
- 3. De Rezende LFM, Lopes MR, Rey-Lopez JP, Matsudo VKR, Luiz ODC. Sedentary behavior and health outcomes: An overview of systematic reviews. PLoS One. 2014;9(8).
- 4. Benatti FB, Larsen SA, Kofoed K, Nielsen ST, Harder-Lauridsen NM, LyngbÆk MP, et al. Intermittent Standing but not a Moderate Exercise Bout Reduces Postprandial Glycemia. Med Sci Sports Exerc [Internet]. 2017;49(11):2305–14. Available from: https://www.scopus.com/inward/record.uri?eid=2-s2.0-85021088146&doi=10.1249%2FMSS.00000000001354&partnerID=40&md5=4a74a5e 43753dd2de12d0de9599ac4bc
- Lindstrom B, Eriksson M. Salutogenesis. J Epidemiol Community Heal [Internet]. 2005 Jun 1;59(6):440–2. Available from: http://jech.bmj.com/cgi/doi/10.1136/jech.2005.034777
- Mittelmark MB, Bauer GF. The Meanings of Salutogenesis. In: The Handbook of Salutogenesis [Internet]. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2017. p. 7–13. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/978-3-319-04600-6_2
- Diener E, Suh EM, Lucas RE, Smith HL. Subjective well-being: Three decades of progress. Psychol Bull [Internet]. 1999;125(2):276–302. Available from: http://doi.apa.org/getdoi.cfm?doi=10.1037/0033-2909.125.2.276
- Ryan RM, Deci EL. On Happiness and Human Potentials: A Review of Research on Hedonic and Eudaimonic Well-Being. Annu Rev Psychol [Internet]. 2001 Feb 1;52(1):141–66. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.psych.52.1.141
- 9. Ngamaba KH, Panagioti M, Armitage CJ. How strongly related are health status and subjective well-being? Systematic review and meta-analysis. Eur J Public Health
[Internet]. 2017 Oct 1;27(5):879–85. Available from: http://academic.oup.com/eurpub/article/27/5/879/3916886/How-strongly-related-arehealth-status-and

- Wrosch C, Sabiston CM. Goal adjustment, physical and sedentary activity, and well-being and health among breast cancer survivors. Psychooncology [Internet]. 2013 Mar;22(3):581–9. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cin20&AN=104243502&site=eh ost-live
- Hogan CL, Catalino LI, Mata J, Fredrickson BL. Beyond emotional benefits: Physical activity and sedentary behaviour affect psychosocial resources through emotions. Psychol Health [Internet]. 2015 Mar;30(3):354–69. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1655758910?accountid=15115
- Withall J, Stathi A, Davis M, Coulson J, Thompson JL, Fox KR. Objective Indicators of Physical Activity and Sedentary Time and Associations with Subjective Well-Being in Adults Aged 70 and Over. Int J Environ Res Public Health [Internet]. 2014 Jan;11(1):643. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1534846885?accountid=15115
- Vallance JK, Boyle T, Courneya KS, Lynch BM. Accelerometer-assessed physical activity and sedentary time among colon cancer survivors: associations with psychological health outcomes. J Cancer Surviv. 2015 Sep;9(3):404–11.
- Maher JP, Conroy DE. Daily Life Satisfaction in Older Adults as a Function of (In)Activity. Journals Gerontol Ser B [Internet]. 2017 Jul 1;72(4):593–602. Available from: http://dx.doi.org/10.1093/geronb/gbv086
- Maher JP, Doerksen SE, Elavsky S, Conroy DE. Daily satisfaction with life is regulated by both physical activity and sedentary behavior. J Sport Exerc Psychol. 2014 Apr;36(2):166–78.
- Edwards MK, Loprinzi PD. Experimentally increasing sedentary behavior results in decreased life satisfaction. Heal Promot Perspect [Internet]. 2017;7(2):88–94. Available

from: http://journals.tbzmed.ac.ir/HPP/Abstract/HPP_4087_20160608014807

- Edwards MK, Loprinzi PD. Effects of a Sedentary Behavior-Inducing Randomized Controlled Intervention on Depression and Mood Profile in Active Young Adults. Mayo Clin Proc. 2016 Aug;91(8):984–98.
- Endrighi R, Steptoe A, Hamer M. The effect of experimentally induced sedentariness on mood and psychobiological responses to mental stress. Br J Psychiatry. 2016 Mar;208(3):245–51.
- Duvivier BMFM, Schaper NC, Koster A, van Kan L, Peters HPF, Adam JJ, et al. Benefits of Substitution Sitting with Standing and Walking in Free-living Conditions for Cardiometabolic Risk Markers, cognition and Mood in Overweight Adults. Front Physiol. 2017 Jun;8.
- 20. Edwards MK, Loprinzi PD. Experimentally increasing sedentary behavior results in decreased sleep quality among young adults. Ment Health Phys Act. 2017;12(2):132–40.
- Elavsky S, Kishida M, Mogle JA. Concurrent and lagged relations between momentary affect and sedentary behavior in middle-aged women. Menopause-The J North Am Menopause Soc. 2016 Aug;23(8):919–23.
- 22. Zenk SN, Horoi I, Jones KK, Finnegan L, Corte C, Riley B, et al. Environmental and personal correlates of physical activity and sedentary behavior in African American women: An ecological momentary assessment study. Women Health [Internet]. 2017 Apr;57(4):446–62. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1888775209?accountid=15115
- 23. Tremblay MS, Aubert S, Barnes JD, Saunders TJ, Carson V, Latimer-Cheung AE, et al. Sedentary Behavior Research Network (SBRN)—Terminology Consensus Project process and outcome. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act [Internet]. 2017 Jun 10;14:17. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1915376139?accountid=15115
- 24. Evenson KR, Wen F, Metzger JS, Herring AH. Physical activity and sedentary behavior patterns using accelerometry from a national sample of United States adults. Int J Behav

Nutr Phys Act [Internet]. 2015 Feb 15;12:13. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgibin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1661991948?accountid=15115

- Ku P-W, Fox KR, Chen L-J. Leisure-Time Physical Activity, Sedentary Behaviors and Subjective Well-Being in Older Adults: An Eight-Year Longitudinal Research. Soc Indic Res [Internet]. 2016;127(3):1349–61. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s11205-015-1005-7
- O'Neill C, Dogra S. Different Types of Sedentary Activities and Their Association With Perceived Health and Wellness Among Middle-Aged and Older Adults: A Cross-Sectional Analysis. Am J Heal Promot. 2016;30(5):314–22.
- Depp CA, Schkade DA, Thompson WK, Jeste D V. Age, affective experience, and television use. Am J Prev Med. 2010 Aug;39(2):173–8.
- Yang H, Oliver MB. Exploring the effects of television viewing on perceived life quality: A combined perspective of material value and upward social comparison. Mass Commun Soc. 2010;13(2):118–38.
- 29. Glanz K, Bishop DB. The Role of Behavioral Science Theory in Development and Implementation of Public Health Interventions. Annu Rev Public Health [Internet]. 2010 Mar;31(1):399–418. Available from: http://www.annualreviews.org/doi/10.1146/annurev.publhealth.012809.103604
- Schwarzer R. Modeling Health Behavior Change: How to Predict and Modify the Adoption and Maintenance of Health Behaviors. Appl Psychol [Internet]. 2008 Jan 30;57(1):1–29. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1464-0597.2007.00325.x
- Sui W, Prapavessis H. Standing Up for Student Health: An Application of the Health Action Process Approach for Reducing Student Sedentary Behavior-Randomised Control Pilot Trial. Appl Psychol Health Well Being. 2018 Mar;10(1):87–107.
- 32. Eldridge SM, Lancaster GA, Campbell MJ, Thabane L, Hopewell S, Coleman CL, et al. Defining Feasibility and Pilot Studies in Preparation for Randomised Controlled Trials: Development of a Conceptual Framework. Lazzeri C, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2016 Mar 15;11(3):e0150205. Available from:

https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0150205

- 33. Moher D, Hopewell S, Schulz KF, Montori V, Gøtzsche PC, Devereaux PJ, et al. CONSORT 2010 explanation and elaboration: Updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. Int J Surg [Internet]. 2012 Mar 23;10(1):28–55. Available from: http://www.bmj.com/cgi/doi/10.1136/bmj.c869
- 34. Burnet K, Higgins S, Kelsch E, Moore JB, Stoner L. The effects of manipulation of Frequency, Intensity, Time, and Type (FITT) on exercise adherence: A meta-analysis. Transl Sport Med [Internet]. 2020 May 10;3(3):222–34. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/tsm2.138
- PAL Technologies. PAL family [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Jul 1]. Available from: http://www.palt.com/pals/
- 36. Grant PM, Ryan CG, Tigbe WW, Granat MH. The validation of a novel activity monitor in the measurement of posture and motion during everyday activities. Br J Sports Med [Internet]. 2006 Dec 1;40(12):992–7. Available from: http://bjsm.bmj.com/cgi/doi/10.1136/bjsm.2006.030262
- Lyden K, Kozey-Keadle S, Staudenmayer J, Freedson PS. The activPALTM Accurately Classifies Activity Intensity Categories in Healthy Adults. Med Sci Sport Exerc [Internet].
 2017 May;49(5):1022–8. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/00005768-201705000-00020
- Godfrey A, Culhane KM, Lyons GM. Comparison of the performance of the activPALTM Professional physical activity logger to a discrete accelerometer-based activity monitor. Med Eng Phys [Internet]. 2007 Oct;29(8):930–4. Available from: https://linkinghub.elsevier.com/retrieve/pii/S1350453306002049
- Harrington DM, Welk GJ, Donnelly AE. Validation of MET estimates and step measurement using the ActivPAL physical activity logger. J Sports Sci [Internet]. 2011 Mar;29(6):627–33. Available from: http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/02640414.2010.549499
- 40. Dillon CB, Fitzgerald AP, Kearney PM, Perry IJ, Rennie KL, Kozarski R, et al. Number

of Days Required to Estimate Habitual Activity Using Wrist-Worn GENEActiv Accelerometer: A Cross-Sectional Study. Buchowski M, editor. PLoS One [Internet]. 2016 May 5;11(5):e0109913. Available from: https://dx.plos.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0109913

- 41. Sasaki JE, Júnior JH, Meneguci J, Tribess S, Marocolo Júnior M, Stabelini Neto A, et al. Number of days required for reliably estimating physical activity and sedentary behaviour from accelerometer data in older adults. J Sports Sci [Internet]. 2018 Jul 18;36(14):1572– 7. Available from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/02640414.2017.1403527
- Sui W, Prapavessis H. Testing the face validity and reliability of a modified SIT-Q 7 day recall questionnaire measuring sedentary time and break frequency & duration. J Sport Exerc Psychol. 2016;(38):S262.
- Wijndaele K, De Bourdeaudhuij I, Godino JG, Lynch BM, Griffin SJ, Westgate K, et al. Reliability and validity of a domain-specific last 7-d sedentary time questionnaire. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2014;
- Craig CL, Marshall AL, Sjöström M, Bauman AE, Booth ML, Ainsworth BE, et al. International physical activity questionnaire: 12-Country reliability and validity. Med Sci Sports Exerc. 2003;35(8):1381–95.
- 45. Watson D, Clark LA, Tellegen A. Development and Validation of Brief Measures of Positive and Negative Affect: The PANAS Scales. J Pers Soc Psychol. 1988;54(6):1063– 70.
- 46. Diener E, Emmons RA, Larsen RJ, Griffin S. The Satisfaction With Life Scale. J Pers Assess [Internet]. 1985;49(1):71–5. Available from: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16367493
- Ryan RM, Frederick C. On Energy, Personality, and Health: Subjective Vitality as a Dynamic Reflection of Well-Being. Journal Personal. 1997;65(September 1997):28–31.
- Bostic TJ, McGartland Rubio D, Hood M. A Validation of the Subjective Vitality Scale Using Structural Equation Modeling. Soc Indic Res [Internet]. 2000;52(3):313–24.

Available from: https://doi.org/10.1023/A:1007136110218

- Tennant R, Hiller L, Fishwick R, Platt S, Joseph S, Weich S, et al. The Warwick-Edinburgh mental well-being scale (WEMWBS): Development and UK validation. Health Qual Life Outcomes. 2007;5:1–13.
- 50. RANDOM.org. List Randomizer [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Jul 1]. Available from: https://www.random.org/lists/
- Duan B. The robustness of trimming and Winsorization when the population distribution is skewed. Dissertation Abstracts International, Volume: 59-09, Section: B,. Tulane University; 1998.
- 52. Koster A, Shiroma EJ, Caserotti P, Matthews CE, Chen KY, Glynn NW, et al. Comparison of Sedentary Estimates between activPAL and Hip- and Wrist-Worn ActiGraph. Med Sci Sport Exerc [Internet]. 2016 Aug;48(8):1514–22. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/00005768-201608000-00011
- 53. Kim Y, Barry VW, Kang M. Validation of the ActiGraph GT3X and activPAL accelerometers for the assessment of sedentary behavior. Meas Phys Educ Exerc Sci [Internet]. 2015 Jul;19(3):125–37. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgi-bin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1710262016?accountid=15115
- 54. Byrom B, Stratton G, Mc Carthy M, Muehlhausen W. Objective measurement of sedentary behaviour using accelerometers. Int J Obes [Internet]. 2016 Nov 1;40(11):1809–12. Available from: http://www.nature.com/articles/ijo2016136
- 55. Gardner B, Rebar AL, Lally P. A matter of habit: Recognizing the multiple roles of habit in health behaviour. Br J Health Psychol [Internet]. 2019 May 4;24(2):241–9. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/bjhp.12369
- 56. Michie S, Richardson M, Johnston M, Abraham C, Francis J, Hardeman W, et al. The Behavior Change Technique Taxonomy (v1) of 93 Hierarchically Clustered Techniques: Building an International Consensus for the Reporting of Behavior Change Interventions. Ann Behav Med [Internet]. 2013 Aug 20;46(1):81–95. Available from: https://academic.oup.com/abm/article/46/1/81-95/4563254

- Manini TM, Carr LJ, King AC, Marshall S, Robinson TN, Rejeski WJ. Interventions to Reduce Sedentary Behavior. Med Sci Sport Exerc [Internet]. 2015 Jun;47(6):1306–10. Available from: http://journals.lww.com/00005768-201506000-00027
- 58. Rollo S, Prapavessis H. A Combined Health Action Process Approach and mHealth Intervention to Increase Non-Sedentary Behaviours in Office-Working Adults—A Randomised Controlled Trial. Appl Psychol Heal Well-Being [Internet]. 2020 Apr 28;aphw.12201. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1111/aphw.12201
- 59. Manini TM, Carr LJ, King AC, Marshall S, Robinson TN, Rejeski WJ. Interventions to Reduce Sedentary Behavior. Med Sci Sport Exerc [Internet]. 2015 Jun;47(6):1306–10. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cin20&AN=109789713&site=eh ost-live
- Cotten E, Prapavessis H. Increasing Nonsedentary Behaviors in University Students Using Text Messages: Randomized Controlled Trial. JMIR mHealth uHealth [Internet].
 2016;4(99):1–11. Available from: http://mhealth.jmir.org/2016/3/e99/
- 61. Gardner B, Flint S, Rebar AL, Dewitt S, Quail SK, Whall H, et al. Is sitting invisible? Exploring how people mentally represent sitting. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act [Internet].
 2019 Dec 12;16(1):85. Available from: https://ijbnpa.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1186/s12966-019-0851-0
- 62. Matthew CE, Kozey-Keadle S, Sampson J, Lyden K, Bowles HR, Moore SC, et al. Validation of a Previous-Day Recall Measure of Active and Sedentary Behaviors. Med Sci Sport Exerc [Internet]. 2013 Aug;45(8):1629–38. Available from: http://journals.lww.com/00005768-201308000-00026
- 63. Romanzini CLP, Romanzini M, Batista MB, Barbosa CCL, Shigaki GB, Dunton G, et al. Methodology Used in Ecological Momentary Assessment Studies About Sedentary Behavior in Children, Adolescents, and Adults: Systematic Review Using the Checklist for Reporting Ecological Momentary Assessment Studies. J Med Internet Res [Internet]. 2019 May 15;21(5):e11967. Available from: https://www.jmir.org/2019/5/e11967/

- Ryff CD. Eudaimonic well-being, inequality, and health: Recent findings and future directions. Int Rev Econ [Internet]. 2017 Jun 30;64(2):159–78. Available from: http://link.springer.com/10.1007/s12232-017-0277-4
- 65. Okely JA, Cukic I, Shaw RJ, Chastin SF, Dall PM, Deary IJ, et al. Positive and negative well-being and objectively measured sedentary behaviour in older adults: evidence from three cohorts. BMC Geriatr [Internet]. 2019 Jan 30;19(1):1–10. Available from: http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=cin20&AN=134377201&site=eh ost-live
- 66. Yang F, Helgason AR, Sigfusdottir ID, Kristjansson AL. Electronic screen use and mental well-being of 10-12-year-old children. Eur J Public Health. 2013 Jun;23(3):492–8.
- 67. Kremer P, Elshaug C, Leslie E, Toumbourou JW, Patton GC, Williams J. Physical activity, leisure-time screen use and depression among children and young adolescents. J Sci Med Sport [Internet]. 2014 Mar;17(2):183–7. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgi-

bin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1544981676?accountid=15115

Chapter 5

5 Overall discussion

The present research program aimed to explore the relationships between indices of SB and outcomes of SWB; to this end, three studies were conducted. Study 1 mapped the current body of literature examining relationships between indices of SB (i.e., objectively-measured SB and PI, self-reported SB and PI, and screen time) and hedonic well-being (i.e., affect, life satisfaction, overall hedonic well-being) through a scoping review. Study 2 explored relationships between both domain-specific and total SB measures and outcomes of SWB among a national sample of university students through a large-scale cross-sectional study. Study 3 aimed to evaluate the preliminary effectiveness of a SB-reducing behavioral intervention among a sample of university students via a randomized pilot trial. Findings from these works add to the burgeoning body of literature examining SB and SWB through examining both total and domain-specific SBs, as well as capturing objective measurements of SB through experimental design. Pertinent findings and implications for each study are described herein.

Findings from the scoping review reveal distinct differences among indices of SB and outcomes of hedonic well-being. Specifically, SB demonstrates mixed associations with outcomes of hedonic well-being. Overall sitting appears to be weakly, detrimentally associated with life satisfaction and positive affect, but not with negative affect or overall hedonic well-being. However, certain domains of sitting demonstrate positive associations with SWB (e.g., socializing, computer use). Conversely, screen time, a domain of SB, demonstrates consistent detrimental associations with negative affect, life satisfaction, and overall hedonic well-being, which suggests that the context of SB may have an independent influence on outcomes of SWB, separate from the volume of sitting itself. Some relationships between PI and outcomes of SWB deviate from relationships observed with SB. In particular, PI is consistently related to poorer life satisfaction and negative affect, which may be attributed to PI instruments capturing the most sedentary of individuals. Overall, findings from the scoping review highlight the dearth of research actually measuring SB – particularly domain-specific SB – rather than an index of SB, like PI. As such, studies examining SB should seek to utilize instruments that capture SB

according to current definitions¹ and in multiple domains and modes (e.g., objectively, self-reported).

Findings from the cross-sectional study illuminate relationships between total and domain-specific SB and outcomes of SWB. Of the relationships examined, several follow trends observed in previous works. For example, detrimental associations were observed between average weekday sitting and positive affect as well as negative affect, life satisfaction, and overall SWB and screen time (i.e., TV watching, computer/smartphone use). By contrast, beneficial relationships were observed between self-compared SB outcomes (i.e., average weekly sitting, break frequency, and break duration) and affect and overall SWB. Unique relationships between breaks from sitting (i.e., number, frequency, duration) and positive affect and overall SWB provide seminal evidence for the importance of breaks from sitting for SWB. Notably, partial correlations reveal many relationships between average weekday sitting, self-compared sitting, and breaks from sitting and outcomes of SWB remain significant, albeit attenuated, after accounting for depression and anxiety; these findings allude to the correlated, but independent, relationships between SWB and mental health measures, and their subsequent relationship(s) with SB. As such, future work should look to include measures of SB.

Results of the randomized pilot trial indicate weak evidence for the effectiveness of the intervention to reduce SB and improve SWB as delivered, among a sample of sedentary university students. Reasons for the inability of the current intervention to change SB include inadequate intervention strength, insufficient intervention length, and inappropriate measurement of self-reported outcomes. Hence, strategies to improve intervention effectiveness include prompts/cues to reinforce intervention goals; lengthening study design to allow for feedback and a follow-up behavioral session; and use of daily diaries, past-day recall, or ecological momentary assessment. Despite the ineffectiveness of the intervention, relationships were observed between changes in SB outcomes and changes in outcomes of SWB. In particular, changes in objectively-measured daily sitting and standing demonstrate significant negative and trending positive relationships with overall SWB, respectively. Similarly directed correlations between self-compared sitting outcomes and breaks from sitting further underscore the potential role of these variables in influencing SB and SWB relationships. Interplay between intervention effectiveness

and change correlations for these variables also reinforce the value in targeting these outcomes for behavior modification in future interventions.

In sum, the present research program elucidated relationships between SB and SWB. These studies reinforce the weak, detrimental association between SB and outcomes of SWB, while also highlighting the contextual, individualized nature of these relationships through selfcompared and domain-specific SB findings. Future research describing SB and SWB relationships should aim to build off the present work by incorporating measures of objectivelymeasured SB, self-reported domain-specific and self-compared SB, and breaks from SB.

5.1 References

 Tremblay MS, Aubert S, Barnes JD, Saunders TJ, Carson V, Latimer-Cheung AE, et al. Sedentary Behavior Research Network (SBRN)—Terminology Consensus Project process and outcome. Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act [Internet]. 2017 Jun 10;14:17. Available from: https://www.lib.uwo.ca/cgi-

bin/ezpauthn.cgi?url=http://search.proquest.com/docview/1915376139?accountid=15115

Appendix A: PRISMA-ScR Checklist

Appendix A: PRISMA-ScR Checklist

SECTION	ITEM	PRISMA-ScR CHECKLIST ITEM	
TITLE			UNPAGE #
Title	1	Identify the report as a scoping review.	13
ABSTRACT			
Structured summary	2	Provide a structured summary that includes (as applicable): background, objectives, eligibility criteria, sources of evidence, charting methods, results, and conclusions that relate to the review questions and objectives.	N/A
INTRODUCTION			
Rationale	3	Describe the rationale for the review in the context of what is already known. Explain why the review questions/objectives lend themselves to a scoping review approach.	13-15
Objectives	4	Provide an explicit statement of the questions and objectives being addressed with reference to their key elements (e.g., population or participants, concepts, and context) or other relevant key elements used to conceptualize the review questions and/or objectives.	15
METHODS		•	
Protocol and registration	5	Indicate whether a review protocol exists; state if and where it can be accessed (e.g., a Web address); and if available, provide registration information, including the registration number.	15
Eligibility criteria	6	Specify characteristics of the sources of evidence used as eligibility criteria (e.g., years considered, language, and publication status), and provide a rationale.	15-16
Information sources*	7	Describe all information sources in the search (e.g., databases with dates of coverage and contact with authors to identify additional sources), as well as the date the most recent search was executed.	16
Search	8	Present the full electronic search strategy for at least 1 database, including any limits used, such that it could be repeated.	16
Selection of sources of evidence†	9	State the process for selecting sources of evidence (i.e., screening and eligibility) included in the scoping review.	16-17
Data charting process‡	10	Describe the methods of charting data from the included sources of evidence (e.g., calibrated forms or forms that have been tested by the team before their use, and whether data charting was done independently or in duplicate) and any processes for obtaining and confirming data from investigators.	17
Data items	11	List and define all variables for which data were sought and any assumptions and simplifications made.	17-18
Critical appraisal of individual sources of evidence§	12	If done, provide a rationale for conducting a critical appraisal of included sources of evidence; describe the methods used and how this information was used in any data synthesis (if appropriate).	N/A
Synthesis of results	13	Describe the methods of handling and summarizing the data that were charted.	18
RESULTS			
Selection of sources of evidence	14	Give numbers of sources of evidence screened, assessed for eligibility, and included in the review, with reasons for exclusions at each stage, ideally using a flow diagram.	19
Characteristics of sources of evidence	15	For each source of evidence, present characteristics for which data were charted and provide the citations.	19-20
Critical appraisal within sources of evidence	16	If done, present data on critical appraisal of included sources of evidence (see item 12).	N/A

SECTION	ITEM	PRISMA-ScR CHECKLIST ITEM	REPORTED ON PAGE #			
Results of individual sources of evidence	17	For each included source of evidence, present the relevant data that were charted that relate to the review questions and objectives.	20-56			
Synthesis of results	hesis of results 18 Summarize and/or present the charting results as they relate to the review questions and objectives.					
DISCUSSION						
Summary of evidence	19	Summarize the main results (including an overview of concepts, themes, and types of evidence available), link to the review questions and objectives, and consider the relevance to key groups.	61-68			
Limitations	20	Discuss the limitations of the scoping review process.	68			
Conclusions	21	Provide a general interpretation of the results with respect to the review questions and objectives, as well as potential implications and/or next steps.	69			
FUNDING						
Funding	22	Describe sources of funding for the included sources of evidence, as well as sources of funding for the scoping review. Describe the role of the funders of the scoping review.	69			

JBI = Joanna Briggs Institute; PRISMA-ScR = Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses extension for Scoping Reviews.

* Where sources of evidence (see second footnote) are compiled from, such as bibliographic databases, social media platforms, and Web sites.

[†] A more inclusive/heterogeneous term used to account for the different types of evidence or data sources (e.g., quantitative and/or qualitative research, expert opinion, and policy documents) that may be eligible in a scoping review as opposed to only studies. This is not to be confused with *information sources* (see first footnote). [‡] The frameworks by Arksey and O'Malley (6) and Levac and colleagues (7) and the JBI guidance (4, 5) refer to the process of data extraction in a scoping review as data charting.

§ The process of systematically examining research evidence to assess its validity, results, and relevance before using it to inform a decision. This term is used for items 12 and 19 instead of "risk of bias" (which is more applicable to systematic reviews of interventions) to include and acknowledge the various sources of evidence that may be used in a scoping review (e.g., quantitative and/or qualitative research, expert opinion, and policy document).

From: Tricco AC, Lillie E, Zarin W, O'Brien KK, Colquhoun H, Levac D, et al. PRISMA Extension for Scoping Reviews (PRISMAScR): Checklist and Explanation. Ann Intern Med. 2018;169:467–473. doi: 10.7326/M18-0850.

Appendix B: Scoping Review Search Strategies

Appendix B: Scoping review search strategies

PubMed: ("sedentary behavior" OR "sedentary behaviour" OR inactivity) AND ("life satisfaction" OR "satisfaction with life" OR "well-being" OR affect OR "wellness" OR "quality of life")

SCOPUS: TITLE-ABS-KEY ("sedentary behavior" OR "sedentary behaviour" OR inactivity) AND TITLE-ABS-KEY ("life satisfaction" OR "satisfaction with life" OR "well-being" OR affect OR "wellness" OR "quality of life") AND (LIMIT-TO (DOCTYPE, "ar") OR LIMIT-TO (DOCTYPE, "ip")) AND (LIMIT-TO (LANGUAGE, "English"))

Web of Science: ((TI=life AND TI=satisfaction) OR TS="life satisfaction" OR TS="well being" OR TS=wellbeing OR TS=wellness OR (TS="quality of life" NOT TS="health-related")) AND (TS=sedentary OR TI=inactivity OR TI=inactive)

PsychINFO: noft(("sedentary behavior" OR "sedentary behaviour" OR inactivity) AND ("life satisfaction" OR "satisfaction with life" OR "well-being" OR affect OR "wellness" OR "quality of life"))

Nursing and Allied Health Database: noft(("sedentary behavior" OR "sedentary behaviour" OR inactivity) AND ("life satisfaction" OR "satisfaction with life" OR "well-being" OR affect OR "wellness" OR "quality of life"))

CINAHL: ("sedentary behavior" OR "sedentary behaviour" OR inactivity) AND ("life satisfaction" OR "satisfaction with life" OR "well-being" OR affect OR "wellness" OR "quality of life")

SPORTDISCUS: ("sedentary behavior" OR "sedentary behaviour" OR inactivity) AND ("life satisfaction" OR "satisfaction with life" OR "well-being" OR affect OR "wellness" OR "quality of life")

Physical Education Index: ("sedentary behavior" OR "sedentary behaviour" OR inactivity) AND ("life satisfaction" OR "satisfaction with life" OR "well-being" OR affect OR "wellness" OR "quality of life")"

Appendix C: Modified SIT-Q 7d Questionnaire

Appendix C: Modified SIT-Q 7d questionnaire

					Page 01
SECTION 1-SEE			ING		
Think about what time you we work), please record the aver	ent to sleep and go age time you wen	ot up in the last i t to bed and got	7 days. If you ha up on weekdays	id variable sleepir s and weekends.	ng patterns (e.g. you did shift
Please answer the following of	questions in a 24h	r format (e.g. Mi	dnight = 0:00, N	oon = 12:00).	
1. WEEKDAY SLEEP					
In the last 7 days, on an ave	erage WEEKDAY.				
at what time did you go to sleep?		(e.g. 23:30))		
at what time did you wake up?		(e.g. 06:00))		
2. WEEKEND DAY SLEEP					
In the last 7 days, on an ave	erage WEEKEND	DAY			
at what time did you fall asleep?		(e.g. 23:30))		
at what time did you wake up?		(e.g. 06:00))		
NAPPING					
A nap is a brief period of slee	p, often during the	e day. A nap ma	y be taken on a s	sofa as well as in	a bed.
3. WEEKDAY NAPPING					
In the last 7 days, on averag	je, how long did yo	ou nap on a WE	EKDAY?		
No dolly populate	1 15 min	15 20 min	20 <i>45 min</i>	45 min 4 hours	More than 1 hour a
	\bigcirc	0	0 - 40 mm		
0	0	0	0	0	Ŭ

4. WEEKE	ND DAY NAPPIN	G					
In the last	7 days, on average	e, how long did	you nap on a WE	EKEND DAY?			
	No daily napping	1 – 15 min	15 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	More than 1 hour a day	
							Page 0

SECTION 2 - MEALS

Please think about the amount of time you spent sitting for breakfast, lunch, and dinner, on average in the last 7 days.

DO NOT include time spent eating while watching TV or using a computer. This is part of section 5.

DO include time spent sitting for breakfast, lunch, and dinner (at home, work, etc.), also when you were reading, chatting to other people or listening to the radio.

For example if you spent 30 minutes sitting for breakfast while reading the newspaper, or for lunch while working, then include this in this section.

E 10	IEEKD	AVB	AEAI C
J. V	IEEND	AIN	IEALS

In the last 7 days, how long did you sit for each of these meals, on an average WEEKDAY?

Break	kfast
-------	-------

Breakfast	None	1 – 10 min	10 – 20 min	20 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	More than 1 hour a day
Lunch	None	1 – 10 min	10 – 20 min	20 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	More than 1 hour a day
Dinner	None	1 – 10 min	10 – 20 min	20 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	More than 1 hour a day

6. WEEKEND DAY MEALS										
In the last 7 days, how long did you sit for each of these meals, on an average WEEKEND DAY?										
Breakfast	None	1 – 10 min	10 – 20 min	20 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	More than 1 hour a day			
Lunch	None	1 – 10 min	10 – 20 min	20 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	More than 1 hour a day			
Dinner	None	1 – 10 min	10 – 20 min	20 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	More than 1 hour a day			

Page 03

SECTION 3 - TRANSPORTATION

This section refers to the time you spent sitting during transportation (travelling in a car, bus, train, on a motorbike, etc.) in the last 7 days. The questions are about travelling to and from your occupation, travelling as part of your occupation, and getting about apart from your occupation.

"Occupation" refers to three different types of activities: work, study, and volunteering. "Work" refers to all tasks done to earn money. "Study" refers to educational activities. "Volunteering" refers to work that you do for no pay, such as helping in a sports club. Please think about all three of these categories for the following questions.

DO NOT include cycling on a pedal bicycle.

7. Have you been working, studying, or volunteering (referred to as "occupation") in the last 7 days?

If so, please	list the	occupations	below.
---------------	----------	-------------	--------

No No

Yes – Occupation 1

Yes – Occupation 2

Yes – Occupation 3

If you DID NOT have an occupation in the last 7 days, please skip to the "Getting about – apart from your occupation" section at the bottom of the page.

If you DID have an occupation, please answer the questions below. There is space for three different occupations ("Occupation 1", "Occupation 2", "Occupation 3").

8. Travelling to and from your occupation

In the last 7 days, how many days a week did you sit while travelling to and from your occupation? (in a car, bus, train, on a motorbike, etc.; DO NOT include cycling on a pedal bicycle)

Occupation 1
days
Occupation 2
days
Occupation 3
days

9. In th	e last 7	days, or	n averag	je, how lo	ng did y	ou sit w	hile trave	elling to a	nd from	your occ	upation	on such	a day?
(in a ca	ar, bus, tr	ain, on a	motorbi	ke,etc.; d	o not inc	lude cycli	ng on a p	edal bicyo	cle)				
None	ation 1 1 – 15 min	15 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	1 – 1.5 hours	1.5 – 2 hours	2 – 2.5 hours	2.5 – 3 hours	3 – 4 hours	4 – 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours
None	ation 2 1 – 15 min	15 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	1 – 1.5 hours	1.5 – 2 hours	2 – 2.5 hours	2.5 – 3 hours	3-4 hours	4 – 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours
None	ation 3 1 – 15 min	15 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	1 – 1.5 hours	1.5 – 2 hours	2 – 2.5 hours	2.5 – 3 hours	3 – 4 hours	4 – 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours
10. Tra	velling a	is a part	of your	· occupat	ion								
In the language	ast 7 day ike, etc.;	rs, how n DO NO⁻	nany day F include	/s a week	did you n a peda	sit while t al bicycle)	ravelling	as a part	of your o	ccupation	? (in a ca	r, bus, tr	ain, on a
	cupation ys cupation ys cupation ys	1 2 3											

11. In ti	he last 7	days, o	on avera	ge, how l	ong did	you sit v	while trav	elling as	a part of	f your oc	cupation	on suc	h a day?
(in a ca	r, bus, tr	ain, on a	motorbi	ike,etc.; d	o not incl	lude cycli	ng on a p	edal bicyo	cle)				
Occupa None	tion 1 1 – 15 min	15 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	1 – 1.5 hours	1.5 – 2 hours	2 – 2.5 hours	2.5 – 3 hours	3-4 hours	4 – 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours
Occupa None	tion 2 1 – 15 min	15 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	1 – 1.5 hours	1.5 – 2 hours	2 – 2.5 hours	2.5 – 3 hours	3 – 4 hours	4 – 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours
Occupa None	tion 3 1 – 15 min	15 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	1 – 1.5 hours	1.5 – 2 hours	2 – 2.5 hours	2.5 – 3 hours	3-4 hours	4 – 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours
12. Trav	velling a	part fro	m your	occupati	on								
In the la motorbi	ast 7 day ke, etc.;	rs, how n DO NOT	nany day F include days	ys a week e cycling o	did you n a peda	sit while t al bicycle)	ravelling	apart from	n your oc	cupation?	' (in a car,	, bus, tra	in, on a
<mark>13. In t</mark> (in a ca	<mark>he last 7</mark> r, bus, tr	<mark>′ days, c</mark> ain, on a	o <mark>n avera</mark> motorbi	i <mark>ge, how</mark> ike,etc.; d	l <mark>ong did</mark> o not incl	<mark>you sit v</mark> lude cycli	<mark>vhile trav</mark> ng on a p	<mark>elling ap</mark> edal bicyc	<mark>art from</mark> cle)	your occ	cupation (<mark>on such</mark>	a day?
None	1 – 15 min	15 – 30 min	30 – 45 min	45 min – 1 hour	1 – 1.5 hours	1.5 – 2 hours	2 – 2.5 hours	2.5 – 3 hours	3-4 hours	4 – 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours

											Page 04
SECT	ON 4	- WOR	RK. STI	JDY. /	AND V	OLUN	TEER	ING			
This sectio study and	on is about volunteerir	the time yo ng. Please	ou spent sit think about	ting and b all three	oreak frequ of these ca	ency/durat Itegories fo	tion during or the follow	your occuj ving questi	oation, whi ons.	ich refers t	o work,
14. Have Yes No	<mark>you been</mark>	working,	<mark>studying, d</mark>	or volunte	eering (ref	erred to a	<mark>s "occupa</mark>	tion") in t	he last 7 d	days?	
15. Occu	pation 1										
Type of O	ccupation	1									
	Wa) ork			Stu) Idy			Volu) nteer	
16. Name E.g. reception 17. How r [Please c 18. If the	of Occup otionist, stu many days choose] ▼ occupatio	pation 1 udent, etc. s did you a	spend doir udy, how m	ng Occup any hour	nation 1 in rs of class	the last 7 did you a	days? ttend in th	e last 7 da	ays?		
		hou	rs								
19. In the DO NOT from this of DO NOT DO NOT	INCLUDE: INCLUDE: INCLUDE: INCLUDE: INCLUDE: INCLUDE:	ys, on ave time spen n, or as par breakfast, time spen ent sitting v	trage, how It sitting for t of this occ , lunch, or d It sitting in c vhile studyir	much tim transporta cupation. inner. Thi lass. This ng outside	ne per day ation (in a c This was part s was a pre e of class.	did you s car, bus, tra art of Secti of Section vious ques	pend sittir ain, on a m ion 3. 2. stion in this	<mark>ng while d</mark> otorbike, e section.	oing Occo	upation 11	ng to and
O None	0 1 – 15 min	0 15 – 30 min	0 30 min – 1 hour	O 1 – 2 hours	2-3 hours	O 3 – 4 hours	0 4 – 5 hours	O 5 – 6 hours	0 6 – 7 hours	O 7- 8 hours	More than 8 hours

y. by sta	anding up, v	walking som	newhere, or	getting a co	offee?					
		times								
I. In the	last 7 days	s, on avera	ge, how of	<mark>ten did yo</mark> u	<mark>i interrupt</mark> :	your sitting	<mark>g time durin</mark>	g Occupat	ion 1?	
0	0	0	\circ	0	\circ	\circ	0	\circ	0	0
Less	Every	Every	Every	Every	Every	Every	Every	Over	No	N/A
every	45	60	1.5	2	hours	hours	hours	5	menupu	not
30	min	min	hours	hours				hours		
min										
. In the	last 7 days	s, on avera	ge, how lo	ng were yo	ur breaks f	rom sitting	g from Occu	upation 1?	_	~
0	\odot	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	C
N/A –	Less	30	1 – 2	2 – 3	3 – 4	4 – 5	5 – 10 min	10 – 15	15 -	Mo
oreaks	unan	sec –	min	min	min	min	min	15		ina
	30	1 min						min	min	30
aken bu did no bu did ha cupatior	30 sec ot have an ave an occi n 2", "Occu	1 min occupation upation, ple pation 3").	in the last 7 ase comple	′ days, plea ete this secti	se skip to S ion. There is	ECTION 5. s space for	three differe	min nt occupati	min ons ("Occup	30 mi
ou did no ou did ha ccupatior	30 sec ot have an ave an occo n 2", "Occu	1 min occupation upation, ple pation 3").	in the last 7 ase comple	⁷ days, plea ete this secti	se skip to S ion. There is	ECTION 5. s space for	three differe	min nt occupati	min	30 min
ou did no ou did no ou did ha ccupatior	30 sec ot have an ave an occo n 2", "Occu ou have a s	1 min occupation upation, ple pation 3").	in the last 7 ase comple upation in	7 days, plea ate this secti the last 7 o	se skip to S ion. There is Jays?	ECTION 5. s space for	three differe	min nt occupati	min	30 min
ou did na ou did ha ccupatior 3. Did yo you DID	30 sec ot have an ave an occi n 2", "Occu ou have a s NOT have	1 min occupation upation, ple pation 3"). second occ a second o	in the last 7 ase comple cupation in	7 days, plea ete this secti the last 7 o n the last 7 o	se skip to S ion. There is days? days, pleas	ECTION 5. s space for e skip to Se	three differe	min nt occupati	ons ("Occup	30 mi
ou did no ou did ha ccupation 3. Did yo you DID you DID	30 sec ot have an ave an occi n 2", "Occu ou have a sec NOT have have a sec	1 min occupation upation, ple pation 3"). econd occupation	in the last 7 ase comple cupation in ccupation in ation in the	⁷ days, plea ete this secti the last 7 o n the last 7 last 7 days,	se skip to S ion. There is days? days, pleas please ans	ECTION 5. s space for e skip to Se wer the que	three difference ection 5. estions below	min nt occupati v.	min	action f
ou did no ou did ha ccupation 3. Did yo you DID you DID) Yes	30 sec ot have an ave an occi n 2", "Occu ou have a sec have a sec	1 min occupation upation, ple pation 3"). econd occupation a second occupation	in the last 7 ase comple cupation in ccupation in ation in the	7 days, plea ete this secti the last 7 o h the last 7 days,	se skip to S ion. There is days? days, pleas please ans	ECTION 5. s space for e skip to Se wer the que No	three difference ection 5.	min Int occupati	ons ("Occup	30 min
ou did no ou did no ccupation 3. Did yo you DID you DID) Yes	30 sec ot have an ave an occu n 2", "Occu ou have a sec NOT have have a sec	1 min occupation upation, ple pation 3"). econd occupa	in the last 7 ase comple cupation in ccupation in ation in the	7 days, plea ete this secti the last 7 o Iast 7 days,	se skip to S ion. There is days? days, pleas please ans	ECTION 5. s space for e skip to Se wer the que No	three differe	min nt occupati w.	ons ("Occup	30 min
ou did no ou did ha ccupation 3. Did yo you DID you DID) Yes 4. Occup	30 sec ot have an ave an occi n 2", "Occu ou have a sec have a sec have a sec	1 min occupation upation, ple pation 3"). eccond occupa a second o cond occupa	in the last 7 ase comple cupation in ccupation ii ation in the	7 days, plea ete this secti the last 7 d last 7 days,	se skip to S ion. There is days? days, pleas please ans	ECTION 5. s space for e skip to Se wer the que No	three differe	min nt occupati w.	ons ("Occup	30 min
ou did no ou did ha ccupatior 3. Did yo you DID you DID Yes 4. Occup	30 sec ot have an ave an occu n 2", "Occu ou have a sec have a sec pation 2 ccupation 2	1 min occupation upation, ple pation 3"). econd occupa	in the last 7 ase comple supation in ccupation in ation in the	7 days, plea ete this secti the last 7 o Iast 7 days,	se skip to S ion. There is days? days, pleas please ans	ECTION 5. s space for e skip to Se wer the que No	three differe	min nt occupati w.	ons ("Occup	30 mir
ou did no ou did ha ccupatior 3. Did yo you DID you DID you DID) Yes 4. Occup rpe of Oc	30 sec ot have an ave an occu n 2", "Occu ou have a sec have a sec have a sec coupation 2	1 min occupation upation, ple pation 3"). econd occupa isond occupa	in the last 7 ase comple cupation in ation in the	7 days, plea ete this secti the last 7 days, last 7 days,	se skip to S ion. There is days? days, pleas please ans	ECTION 5. s space for e skip to Se wer the que No	three differe	min nt occupati v.	ons ("Occup	30 min
ou did no ou did ha ccupation 3. Did yo you DID you DID) Yes 4. Occup	30 sec ot have an ave an occu n 2", "Occu ou have a sec have a sec bation 2 ccupation 2 Ccupation 2	1 min occupation upation, ple pation 3"). econd occupa a second o cond occupa	in the last 7 ase comple supation in ccupation in ation in the	7 days, plea ete this secti the last 7 o n the last 7 last 7 days,	se skip to S ion. There is days? days, pleas please ans	ECTION 5. s space for e skip to Se wer the que No	three differe	min nt occupati w. Vc	ons ("Occup Junteer	30 mir
ou did no ou did no ou did ha ccupation 3. Did you you DID you DID) Yes 4. Occup rpe of Oc	30 sec ot have an ave an occu n 2", "Occu ou have a sec have a sec bation 2 coupation 2 Coupation 2	1 min occupation upation, ple pation 3"). econd occupa a second o cond occupa k	in the last 7 ase comple supation in ccupation in ation in the	7 days, plea ete this secti the last 7 o n the last 7 last 7 days,	se skip to S ion. There is days? days, pleas please ans	ECTION 5. s space for e skip to Se wer the que No	three difference ection 5. estions below	min Int occupati w. Vc	ons ("Occup Junteer	30 mir
ou did no ou did no ou did ha ccupation B. Did you you DID you DID) Yes I. Occup rpe of Oc	30 sec ot have an ave an occi n 2", "Occu ou have a sec have a sec have a sec bation 2 ccupation 2 Coupation 2	1 min occupation upation, ple pation 3"). eccond occupa a second o cond occupa k k	in the last 7 ase comple cupation in ation in the	7 days, plea ete this secti the last 7 d last 7 days,	se skip to S ion. There is days? days, pleas please ans Study	ECTION 5. s space for e skip to Se wer the que No	three difference ection 5. estions below	min Int occupati	ons ("Occup olunteer	30 min

26. How n	nany days	did you s	pend doing	g Occupa	tion 2 in 1	he last 7	days?				
[Please cl	noose] 🔻										
27 16 46 4			he have ma	nu hauna	of close	did you o	ttond in	the last 7	dava		
27. If the o	occupatio	n was stud	iy, now ma	iny nours	or class	ulu you a	ttena in	the last r	uays :		
		nours									
28. In the	last 7 day	s, on avera	age, how n	nuch time	per day	did you s	pend sit	ting while	doing Occ	upation 2	?
DO NOT I	NCLUDE:	time spent	sitting for tr	ansportat	on (in a c	ar, bus, tra	ain, on a	motorbike,	etc.) either	for travelli	ng to and
		or as part	of this occu	pation. If	ns was part	rt of Section	on 3.				
DO NOT I	NCLUDE:	time spent	sitting in cla	ass. This v	vas part	vious ques	z. stion in th	nis section.			
DO include	e time spe	nt sitting wh	nile studying	g outside (of class.						
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
None	1 – 15	15 – 30	30 min	1 – 2	2-3	3 – 4	4 – 5	5 – 6	6 – 7	7- 8	More
	min	min	1	nours	nouis	nours	nouis	nours	nouis	nouis	. 8
			hour								hours
29. In the	last 7 day	s, on a ave	rage, how	many tin	nes per d	ay did yo	u interru	ıpt your si	tting time	while doin	q
Occupatio	on 2?										3 8
E.g. By sta	anding up,	walking sor	mewhere, c	or getting a	a coffee?						
		times									
20 In the	last 7 day		an how o	fton did .	ou intorr		oitting ti	ma during	Occupatio	an 22	
50. III the						upt your					0
N/A –	Less	Every	Every	Everv	Eve	rv Ev	verv	Every	Every	Over	No
did	than	30 -	45 -	1 -	1.5	- 3	- 4	2-3	4 - 5	every	Interruptio
not sit	30	45 min	min	hours	hou	rs	urs	nours	nours	hours	
	min										
31. In the	last 7 day	s. on avera	age, how lo	ona were	vour brea	aks from	sittina fr	om Occur	pation 2?		
0	0	0	\cap	0	C) (<u>)</u>	\bigcirc	0	0	0
N/A –	Less	30	1 – 2	2-3	3 –	4 4	- 5	5 – 10	10 –	15 –	More
no breaks	than 30	sec – 1 min	min	min	mii	n ח	nin	min	15 min	30 min	than 30
taken	sec										min

32. Did yo	ou have a f	third occu	pation in	the last 7	days?						
If you DID	NOT have	a third oc	cupation ir	n the last 7	days, plea	ase skip to	Section 5.				
If you DID	have a thi	rd occupat	ion in the I	ast 7 days	, please a	nswer the	questions b	below.			
O Yes						O No					
22 000	action 2										
Tune of O)									
Type of O		, ,			C	<u> </u>			0	<u> </u>	
	Wo	, rk			Stu	Judy			Volu	nteer	
						,					
34. Name	of Occupa	ation 3									
E.g. recep	otionist, stu	dent, etc.									
35. How r	nany days	did you s	spend doi	ng Occup	ation 3 in	the last 7	days?				
[Please c	hoose] 🔻										
36. If the	occupatio	n was stu	dv how m	any hour	s of class	did you a	ttend in th	e last 7 d	avs?		
	oocupatio	bour	e	iany nour		una you a			.,		
		noui	3								
37. In the	last 7 day	s, on avei	age, how	much tim	e per day	did you s	pend sittir	ng while d	oing Occu	upation 37	2
DO NOT I	NCLUDE:	time spent	sitting for	transporta	ition (in a d	ar, bus, tra	ain, on a m	otorbike, e	tc.) either	for travellir	ng to and
from this o	occupation,	or as part	of this occ	cupation. 1	his was p	art of Secti	on 3.				
		breaktast, time spent	sitting in c	linner. I ni: Nass This	s was part was a pre	of Section	Z.	section			
DO includ	e time spei	nt sitting w	hile studyi	ng outside	of class.	vious ques		360001.			
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
None	1 –	15 –	30	1 – 2	2-3	3 – 4	4 – 5	5 – 6	6 – 7	7-8	More
	15 min	30 min	min – 1	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	than 8
			hour								hours
38. In the Occupation	last 7 day on 3?	s, on a av	erage, ho	w many ti	mes per c	lay did yo	u interrup	t your sitti	ing time w	hile doing	J
E.g. By sta	anding up,	walking so	omewhere,	or getting	a coffee?						
		time	s								

39. In the	last 7 days	s, on avera	ge, how of	<mark>ten did yo</mark> ເ	interrupt	your sitting	<mark>j time durin</mark>	g Occupat	ion 3?	
O N/A – did not sit	Less than every 30 min	C Every 30 – 45 min	Every 45 – 60 min	Every 1 – 1.5 hours	Every 1.5 – 2 hours	Every 3 – 4 hours	Every 2 – 3 hours	Every 4 – 5 hours	Over every 5 hours	No Interruptio
40. In the	last 7 days	s, on avera	ge, how loi	ng were yo	ur breaks f	from sitting	ı from Occı	upation 3?		
N/A – no breaks taken	C Less than 30 sec	30 sec – 1 min	○ 1 – 2 min	0 2 – 3 min) 3 – 4 min	0 4 – 5 min	0 5 – 10 min	0 10 – 15 min) 15 – 30 min	More than 30 min

Page 05

SECTION 5 - SCREEN TIME

min

This section refers to the time you spent sitting or lying down during screen time related activities in the last 7 days. Remember, each period of sitting down should only be entered once.

For example if you spent one hour sitting on the sofa surfing the internet while you were listening to music, count this time as one hour using computer apart from work, if this was your main focus. Do not count this as one hour of listening to music.

DO NOT include any screen time spent sitting/lying related to occupations.

41. In the last 7 days, on the average WEEKDAY, how long did you spend sitting or lying down while watching TV, DVD's/videos, Netflix?

DO includ	e meals whi	le sitting a	nd watching	TV.						
O None	0 1 – 15 min	0 15 – 30 min	0 30 – 1 hour) 1 – 2 hours	O 2 – 3 hours	O 3 – 4 hours	0 4 – 5 hours	0 5 – 6 hours	0 6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours
12 In the	last 7 days	on the a	vorago WEI		V how long	n did you s	nond sittin	n or lying d	own while	watching
TV, DVD's	videos, Ne	etflix?	verage will	EREND DA	n, now iong	y ulu you s	pena sitting	y or lying a	own while	watching
DO include	e meals whi	le sitting a	nd watching	TV.						
O None	0 1 – 15 min	0 15 – 30 min	0 30 – 1 hour	○ 1 – 2 hours	0 2 – 3 hours	O 3 – 4 hours	0 4 – 5 hours	0 5 – 6 hours	0 6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours
43. In the computer	last 7 days /phone apa	, on the av	verage WEI	EKDAY, ho)?	w long did	you spend	sitting or I	ying down	while using	g your
E.g. Intern DO NOT i	net, email, ch nclude watc	nat, networ hing TV or	king, Faceb movies onl	ook, etc. ine.						
O None	0 1 – 15 min	0 15 – 30 min	0 30 – 1 hour) 1 – 2 hours	O 2 – 3 hours	O 3 – 4 hours	0 4 – 5 hours	0 5 – 6 hours	0 6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours
44. In the your com	last 7 days puter/phon	, on the ave e apart fro	verage WEI om occupat	EKEND DA tion(s)?	Y, how long	g did you s	pend sittin	g or lying d	own while	using
E.g. Intern DO NOT i	net, email, ch nclude watc	nat, networ hing TV or	king, Faceb movies onl	ook, etc. ine.						
O None	0 1 – 15 min	0 15 – 30	0 30 – 1 hour	○ 1 – 2 hours	2 – 3 hours	0 3 – 4 hours	0 4 – 5 hours	0 5 – 6 hours	0 6 – 7 hours	More than 7

hours

45. In the	last 7 days	s, on the av	verage WE	EKDAY, ho	w long did	vou spend	sitting or I	vina down	while plavi	na
computer	/video gan	nes?			Join State	, p		,		.9
E.g. Plays	tation, Xbo	x, PC	05							
DONOTI			es.	\cap	\cap	\cap	\cap	\sim	0	\cap
None	0 1 – 15 min	15 – 30 min	30 – 1 hour	1 – 2 hours	2 – 3 hours	3 – 4 hours	4 – 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours
46. In the computer	last 7 days /video gan	s, on the av nes?	verage WE	EKEND DA	Y, how long	g did you s	pend sittin	g or lying o	lown while	playing
E.g. Plays DO NOT i	tation, Xbo nclude non∙	x, PC -sitting gam	es.							
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
None	1 – 15 min	15 – 30 min	30 – 1 hour	1 – 2 hours	2 – 3 hours	3 – 4 hours	4 – 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours
47. In the screen tir	last 7 days ne?	s, on avera	ge, how m	any times p	per day did	you interr	upt your sit	ting time v	/hile engag	led in
E.g. By sta	anding up, v	walking son	newhere, or	getting a d	rink?					
		times								
48. In the	last 7 days	s, on avera	ge, how of	<mark>ten did yoւ</mark>	interrupt	your sitting	<mark>j time while</mark>	engaged i	<mark>n screen ti</mark>	me?
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
N/A – did not sit	Less than every 30 min	Every 30 – 45 min	Every 45 – 60 min	Every 1 – 1.5 hours	Every 1.5 – 2 hours	Every 2 – 3 hours	Every 3 – 4 hours	Every 4 – 5 hours	Over every 5 hours	No Interruptio
49. In the	last 7 days	s, on avera	ge, how lo	ng were yo	ur breaks f	from sitting	y while eng	aged in sci	een time?	
0	0	0	0	0	0	\circ	0	0	0	0
N/A – no breaks taken	Less than 30 sec	30 sec – 1 min	1 – 2 min	2 – 3 min	3 – 4 min	4 – 5 min	5 – 10 min	10 – 15 min	15 – 30 min	More than 30 min

Page 06

SECTION 6 - OTHER ACTIVITIES

This section refers to the time you spent sitting or lying down during other activities in the last 7 days. Remember, each period of sitting down should be only entered once. For example, if you spent on e hour sitting on the sofa reading a book while you were listneing to music, count this time as one hour reading if this was your main focus.

DO NOT count this as one hour of listening to music.

DO NOT include any activities sitting/lying down related to occupation(s).

Please remember that each period of sitting should only be entered once.

50. In the last 7 days, on the average WEEKDAY, how long did you spend sitting or lying down while reading, per day?

E.g. Book,	magazine,	newspape	r, etc.							
O None	0 1 – 15 min	0 15 – 30 min	30 min – 1 hour	○ 1 – 2 hours	O 2 – 3 hours	O 3 – 4 hours	0 4 – 5 hours	O 5 – 6 hours	0 6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours
51. In the	last 7 days	<mark>, on the</mark> av	verage WEE	KEND DA	Y, how long	g did you s	pend sitting	<mark>g or lying d</mark>	own while	reading,
per day?										
E.g. Book,	magazine,	newspape	r, etc.							
O None	0 1 – 15 min	0 15 – 30 min	30 min – 1 hour) 1 – 2 hours	O 2 – 3 hours) 3 – 4 hours	0 4 – 5 hours	0 5 – 6 hours	0 6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours

52. In the last 7 days, on the average WEEKDAY, how long did you spend sitting or lying down while doing household tasks, per day?

E.g. cooki	ng, ironing,	etc.								
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
None	1 – 15 min	15 – 30	30 min –	1 – 2 hours	2 – 3 hours	3 – 4 hours	4 – 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	6 – 7 hours	More than 7
		min	1 hour							hours

53. In the last 7 days, on the average WEEKEND DAY, how long did you spend sitting or lying down while doing household tasks, per day?

E.g. cookir	ng, ironing, e	etc.								
0	0	0	0	0	0	\odot	0	\bigcirc	0	0
None	1 – 15 min	15 – 30 min	30 min – 1 hour	1 – 2 hours	2 – 3 hours	3 – 4 hours	4 – 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	6 – 7 hours	More than 7 hours

Ed In the	loot 7 days	on the se			u long did	Vou onend	oitting or b	dan danse	while early	
b4. In the day?	last / days	, on the av	erage WE	EKDAY, NO	w long did	you spend	sitting or l	ying down	while carir	ig, per
E.g. for ch	ildren, gran	dchildren, e	elderly, or di	sabled rela	tives					
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
None	1 – 15	15 –	30	1 – 2	2-3	3-4	4 – 5	5-6	6 – 7	More
	min	30 min	min – 1 hour	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	than 7
			Thour							nours
55. In the per day?	last 7 days	, on the av	verage WE	EKEND DA	Y, how long	g did you s	pend sitting	g or lying d	lown while	caring,
E.g. for ch	ildren, gran	dchildren, e	elderly, or di	sabled rela	tives					
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
None	1 – 15	15 –	30	1-2	2 – 3	3-4	4 – 5	5-6	6 – 7	More
	min	30	min –	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	than 7
		min	1 nour							nours
56. In the	last 7 days	on the av	verage WEF	KDAY ho	w long did	vou spend	sitting or b	ving down	for hobbie	s per
day?	luot i uujo	,		,	, iong and	Jou opond	onling of t	,g		o, po.
E.g. playir	ig piano, cai	rds, doing o	crosswords,	etc.						
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
None	1 – 15	15 —	30	1 – 2	2 – 3	3 – 4	4 – 5	5-6	6 – 7	More
	min	30 min	mın – 1 hour	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	than 7 hours
57. In the per day?	last 7 days	, on the av	verage WE	EKEND DA	Y, how long	g did you s	pend sitting	g or lying d	lown for ho	bbies,
E.g. playir	ig piano, cai	rds, doing o	crosswords,	etc.						
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
None	1 – 15	15 —	30	1 – 2	2 – 3	3-4	4 – 5	5-6	6 – 7	More
	min	30 min	mın – 1 hour	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	than 7 hours
58. In the	last 7 days	, on the av	verage WEE	EKDAY, ho	w long did	you spend	sitting or l	ying down	for socializ	zing, per
day?	<i></i>									
E.g. visitin	g friends, p	ub, cinema	, sporting ev	vent, etc.	~	~	~	~	~	~
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
None	1 – 15 min	15 – 30	30 min –	1 – 2 hours	2 – 3 hours	3 – 4 hours	4 – 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	6 – 7 hours	More than 7
		min	1 hour				510725754470295		di namo di nambi	hours

197

59 In the	last 7 dave	on the av	verage WEE		Y how long		nend sittin	n or lying d	own for co	cializing
per day?	lust r udys	, on the av	relage wet		1, 110 10/12	y alu you s	pena situli	g or rying u	own for so	oranzing,
E.g. visitin	g friends, pu	ub, cinema	, sporting ev	vent, etc.						
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
None	1 – 15 min	15 – 30	30 min –	1 – 2 hours	2 – 3 hours	3 – 4 hours	4 – 5 hours	5 – 6 hours	6 – 7 hours	More than 7
		min	1 hour							hours
60. In the	last 7 days	, on the av	verage WEE	EKDAY, ho	w long did	you spend	sitting or l	ying down	while lister	ning to
E a radio		Pod. otc								
L.y. Taulo,			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
None	1 – 15	15 –	30	1-2	2-3	3-4	4 – 5	5-6	6-7	More
	min	30 min	min – 1 hour	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	than 7
			Thour							nours
61. In the	last 7 days	, on the av	verage WEE	EKEND DA	Y, how long	j did you s	pend sitting	g or lying d	own while	listening
to music,		Dod ata								
E.g. radio,		Pod, etc.	\cap	\cap	\cap	\cap	\cap	\cap	\circ	\cap
None	1 – 15	15 -	30	1-2	2-3	3-4	4-5	5-6	6-7	More
Hono	min	30 min	min –	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	hours	than 7
			THOUT							nours
62. In the per day?	last 7 days	, on the av	verage WEE	EKDAY, ho	w long did	you spend	sitting or l	ying down	for other a	ctivities,
E.g. activit	ies not liste	d above. P	lease list the	e activity if	there was o	ne.				
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
None	1 – 15 min	15 – 30	30 min –	1 – 2	2 – 3	3 – 4	4 – 5 bours	5 – 6	6 – 7	More than 7
		min	1 hour	nours	nours	nours	nours	nours	nours	hours
63. In the activities,	last 7 days per day?	, on the av	verage WEE	EKEND DA	Y, how long	ı did you s	pend sitting	g or lying d	own for ot	her
E.g. activit	ies not liste	d above. P	lease list the	e activity if	there was o	ne.				
0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
None	1 – 15	15 -	30	1-2	2-3	3-4	4 - 5	5 - 6	6 – 7	More
	min	min	1 hour	nours	nours	nours	nours	nours	nours	hours

64. In the these other	last 7 days er activitie	s, on avera s?	ge, how m	any times p	oer day did	you interr	upt your sil	tting time w	hile engag	ged in
E.g. By sta	anding up, v	walking som	newhere, or	getting a d	rink while so	ocializing or	doing a ho	bby.		
		times								
65. In the	last 7 days	s, on avera	ge, how of	ten did you	ı interrupt y	your sitting	g time while	e engaged i	n these ot	her
E.g. Social	lizing, lister	ning to musi	c, hobbies,	etc.						
N/A – did not sit	C Less than every 30 min	Every 30 – 45 min	Every 45 – 60 min	Every 1 – 1.5 hours	Every 1.5 – 2 hours	Every 3 – 4 hours	Every 2 – 3 hours	Every 4 – 5 hours	Over every 5 hours	No Interruptio
66. In the	last 7 days	s. on avera	ae, how lo	ng were vo	ur breaks f	rom sitting	y while eng	aged in the	se other a	ctivities?
E.g. Social	lizing, lister	ning to musi	c, hobbies,	etc.			,			
N/A – no breaks taken	Less than 30 sec	30 sec – 1 min	○ 1 – 2 min	0 2 - 3 min	0 3 – 4 min	0 4 – 5 min	0 5 – 10 min	0 10 – 15 min	0 15 – 30 min	More than 30 min
									1	ast Page

Appendix D: CONSORT Checklist for randomized controlled trials



CONSORT 2010 checklist of information to include when reporting a randomised trial*

Appendix D: CONSORT Checklist for randomized controlled trials

	ltem		Reported
Section/Topic	No	Checklist item	on page No
Title and abstrac	t		
	1a	Identification as a randomized trial in the title	104
	1b	Structured summary of trial design, methods, results, and conclusions (for specific guidance see CONSORT for abstracts)	N/A
Introduction			
Background	2a	Scientific background and explanation of rationale	104-107
and objectives	2b	Specific objectives or hypotheses	107
Methods			
Trial design	3a	Description of trial design (such as parallel, factorial) including allocation ratio	107
	3b	Important changes to methods after trial commencement (such as eligibility criteria), with reasons	107
Participants	4a	Eligibility criteria for participants	107
	4b	Settings and locations where the data were collected	108
Interventions	5	The interventions for each group with sufficient details to allow replication, including how and when they were actually administered	108-110
Outcomes	6a	Completely defined pre-specified primary and secondary outcome measures, including how and when they were assessed	110-115
	6b	Any changes to trial outcomes after the trial commenced, with reasons	107
Sample size	7a	How sample size was determined	116
	7b	When applicable, explanation of any interim analyses and stopping guidelines	N/A
Randomization:			

20	1
20	1

Sequence	8a	Method used to generate the random allocation sequence	116
generation	8b	Type of randomization; details of any restriction (such as blocking and block size)	116
Allocation concealm ent mechanis m	9	Mechanism used to implement the random allocation sequence (such as sequentially numbered containers), describing any steps taken to conceal the sequence until interventions were assigned	116
Implementation	10	Who generated the random allocation sequence, who enrolled participants, and who assigned participants to interventions	116
Blinding	11a	If done, who was blinded after assignment to interventions (for example, participants, care providers, those assessing outcomes) and how	
	11b	If relevant, description of the similarity of interventions	N/A
Statistical	12a	Statistical methods used to compare groups for primary and secondary outcomes	117
methods	12b	Methods for additional analyses, such as subgroup analyses and adjusted analyses	117
Results			
Participant flow (a diagram is	13a	For each group, the numbers of participants who were randomly assigned, received intended treatment, and were analyzed for the primary outcome	119
strongly recommended)	13b	For each group, losses and exclusions after randomization, together with reasons	119
Recruitment	14a	Dates defining the periods of recruitment and follow-up	120
	14b	Why the trial ended or was stopped	120
Baseline data	15	A table showing baseline demographic and clinical characteristics for each group	120-122
Numbers analyzed	16	For each group, number of participants (denominator) included in each analysis and whether the analysis was by original assigned groups	119
Outcomes and estimation	17a	For each primary and secondary outcome, results for each group, and the estimated effect size and its precision (such as 95% confidence interval)	136-140, 142, 143, 147-148
	17b	For binary outcomes, presentation of both absolute and relative effect sizes is recommended	N/A
Ancillary analyses	18	Results of any other analyses performed, including subgroup analyses and adjusted analyses, distinguishing pre-specified from exploratory	N/A
Harms Discussion	19	All important harms or unintended effects in each group (for specific guidance see CONSORT for harms)	149
Limitations	20	Trial limitations, addressing sources of potential bias, imprecision, and, if relevant, multiplicity of analyses	157
Generalisability	21	Generalisability (external validity, applicability) of the trial findings	157
Interpretation	22	Interpretation consistent with results, balancing benefits and harms, and considering other	157

		relevant evidence	
Other information	1		
Registration	23	Registration number and name of trial registry	157
Protocol	24	Where the full trial protocol can be accessed, if available	157
Funding	25	Sources of funding and other support (such as supply of drugs), role of funders	158

*We strongly recommend reading this statement in conjunction with the CONSORT 2010 Explanation and Elaboration for important clarifications on all the items. If relevant, we also recommend reading CONSORT extensions for cluster randomised trials, non-inferiority and equivalence trials, non-pharmacological treatments, herbal interventions, and pragmatic trials. Additional extensions are forthcoming: for those and for up to date references relevant to this checklist, see <u>www.consort-statement.org</u>.
Curriculum Vitae

Academic Curriculum Vitae of Wuyou (Yoah) Sui

EDUCATIONAL BACKGROUND

September 2010 – April 2014	University of Waterloo, Bachelor of Science, Honours Kinesiology
September 2014 – August 2016	Western University, Master of Arts, Psychological Basis of Kinesiology
September 2016 – August 2020	Western University, Doctorate of Philosophy, Psychological Basis of
	Kinesiology

RESEARCH INTERESTS

Health Behaviour Change, Sedentary Behaviour, Digital Health, Chronic Disease, Mental Health, Subjective Well-Being, Exercise Psychology, Health Psychology, Gamification

RESEARCH PUBLICATIONS

Submitted/In-Press

- Rudkovska, A., <u>Sui, W.,</u> & Irwin, J.D. (2020). Assessing the prevalence and severity of smartphone addiction in post-secondary students: A brief report. Manuscript re-submitted for publication (Manuscript ID: JACH-2020-04-0203).
- Rudkovska, A., <u>Sui, W.,</u> & Irwin, J.D. (2020). *Exploring the prevalence of nomophobia in a Canadian university: An environmental scan.* Manuscript submitted for publication (Manuscript ID: JACH-2020-03-0152).
- Sui, W., & Facca, D. (in press). Digital health in a broadband land: The role of digital health literacy within rural environments. *Health Science Inquiry*.

2019

- Sui, W. & Rudkovska, A. (2019). Quality and quantity: The future of machine learning for health research appraisal. *Health Science Inquiry*, 10(2019): 43-44.
- Sui, W. & Morava, A. (2019). The Future of Beh"AI"viour Change. Health Science Inquiry, 10(2019): 45-46.
- Morava, A. & <u>Sui, W.</u> (2019). Who's Monitoring the Health-Monitoring Applications? *Health Science Inquiry*, 10(2019): 57-58.
- Sui, W., Rollo, A., Prapavessis, H. (2019). The acute effect of exercise on cravings and withdrawal symptoms. In V. Preedy (Ed.) *The neuroscience of nicotine: Mechanisms and treatment*. London, UK: Elsevier.
- Rollo, A., <u>Sui, W</u>., Prapavessis, H. (2019). Exercise as a smoking cessation aid. In V. Preedy (Ed.) *The neuroscience* of nicotine: Mechanisms and treatment. London, UK: Elsevier.
- Sui, W., Smith, S. T., Fagan, M. J., Rollo, S., & Prapavessis, H. (2019). The effects of sedentary behaviour interventions on work-related productivity and performance outcomes in real and simulated office work: A systematic review. *Applied Ergonomics*, 75, 27–73. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apergo.2018.09.002
- Rollo, S., Crutchlow, L., Nagpal, T. S., <u>Sui, W.</u>, & Prapavessis, H. (2019). The effects of classroom-based dynamic seating interventions on academic outcomes in youth: a systematic review. *Learning Environments Research*, 22(2): 153-171. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10984-018-9271-3

2018

Sui, Y. & Rudkovska, A. (2018). Stand up for your health: Excessive sedentary behaviour as a modifiable risk factor for chronic disease. *Health Science Inquiry*, 9(2018): 45-46.

- Rudkovska, A., <u>Sui, Y.,</u> & Kfrerer, M. (2018). Catheter re-use: Thrifty or threatening? A commentary on intermittent catheter re-use by individuals with spinal cord injury. *Health Science Inquiry*, 9(2018): 62-63.
- Sui, W., & Prapavessis, H. (2018). Standing up for student health: An application of the health action process approach for reducing student sedentary behavior a pilot study. *Applied Psychology: Health and Well-Being*, 10(1): 87-107. doi: 10.1111/aphw.12105.

2016

Sui, W., & Prapavessis, H. (2016). Testing the face validity and reliability of a modified SIT-Q 7-day recall questionnaire measuring sedentary time and break frequency & duration. *Journal of Sport & Exercise Psychology*, *38*, S262.

OTHER PUBLICATIONS

- Sui, W., & Prapavessis, H. (2020). COVID-19 has created more cyclists: How cities can keep them on their bikes. The Conversation. <u>https://theconversation.com/covid-19-has-created-more-cyclists-how-cities-can-keep-them-on-their-bikes-137545</u>
- Sui, W. (2020). 5 tips to get you off the sofa because sitting more during COVID19 is hurting your health. The Conversation. <u>https://theconversation.com/5-tips-to-get-you-off-the-sofa-because-sitting-more-during-covid-19-is-hurting-your-health-139289</u>
- Rudkovska, A., & <u>Sui, W.</u> (2020). *Can Facetime replace face-to-face time?* The Conversation. <u>https://theconversation.com/why-facetime-cant-replace-face-to-face-time-during-social-distancing-136206</u>
- Sui, W. (2019). *How can using a standing desk affect your productivity?* Sedentary Behaviour Research Network. Retrieved from: <u>https://www.sedentarybehaviour.org/2019/07/03/how-can-using-a-standing-desk-affect-your-productivity/</u>

TEACHING/ACADEMIC EXPERIENCE

February 2020 – April 2020	Learning module voiceover Graduate Student Assistantship – DesignEd, Faculty of Health Sciences, Western University
February 2020	Guest Lecture for KINESIOL 3388B: The Psychology of Sport
October 2019	Guest Lecture for KINESIOL 3476F: Exercise and Health Behaviour Change
June 2018 – Present	Teaching Assistant Training Program Instructor – Centre for Teaching and Learning, Western University
April 2019	Guest Lecture for KINESIOL 2032B: Research Design in Human Movement Science – Western University
February 2019	Guest Lecture for KINESIOL 2980B: Special Topic – Kin LIFE Movement Module – Western University
January 2019	Advanced Teaching Program Instructor – Centre for Teaching and Learning, Western University
September 2018 – December 2018	Sessional Instructor for KINESIOL 3476F: Exercise and Health Behaviour Change
October 2018	Guest Lecture for KINESIOL 2980A: Special Topic: Kin LIFE Movement Module – Western University

June 2018	Completed the Instructional Skills Workshop - Centre for Teaching and Learning
April 2018	Guest Lectures for KINESIOL 2032B: Critical Appraisal and Knowledge Translation – Western University
January 2018 – April 2018	Teaching Assistant for KINESIOL 2032B – Western University
September 2017 – December 2017	Teaching Assistant for KINESIOL 3476F – Western University
September 2017 – December 2017	Completed the Teaching Support Centre's Theory/Practice in University Teaching Course (GS9500) – Western University
October 2017	Guest Lectures for KINESIOL 3476F – Western University
January 2016 – April 2016	Teaching Assistant for KINESIOL 2032B – Western University
March 2016	Guest Lecture in KINESIOL 2000 course, Western University: Behaviour change for health
September 2015 – December 2015	Teaching Assistant for KINESIOL 1070A – Western University
November 2015	Attended a Teaching Master Class – Dr. Mike Atkinson.
November 2015	Guest Lecture for HS3071: Ecological Models for Health Behaviour Change – Western University
October 2015	Completed the Teaching Support Centre's Teaching Mentorship Program
September 2015	Fall Perspective on Teaching Conference – Western University
July 2015	Future Professor Workshops – Western University
March 2015	Future Professor Workshops – Western University
January 2015 – April 2015	Teaching Assistant for KINESIOL 2032B – Western University
October 2014 – December 2014	Completed the Teaching Support Centre's Advanced Teaching Program – Western University
September 2014	Completed the Teaching Support Centre's Teaching Assistant Training Program – Western University

PRESENTATIONS

January 2020	3-Minute Thesis Kick-off presentation: "Three minutes, three years in the making". Oral presentation.
October 2019	Department of Health and Rehabilitation Sciences Seminar: Presenting your research to diverse audiences. Oral presentation.
June 2019	Sui, W & Prapavessis, H. (2019). Less couch, less grouch? Exploring the relationship between sedentary behaviour and subjective well-being. Poster presented at the annual meeting of the International Society for Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, Prague, Czechia.
April 2019	3-Minute Thesis Ontario Final – McMaster University
March 2019	3-Minute Thesis Western University: Top 20 – Western University
October 2018	Sui, W., Smith, S. T., Fagan, M. J., Rollo, S., & Prapavessis, H. (2018). The effects of sedentary behaviour interventions on work-related productivity and performance outcomes in real and simulated office work: A systematic review. Poster presentation at the annual meeting of the Canadian Society for Psychomotor Learning and Sport Psychology, Toronto, Canada.
May 2018	Faculty of Health Sciences Research Day 2018 – Less couch, less grouch: The relationship between sedentary behaviour and subjective well-being. Oral presentation.
June 2017	Sui, W., & Prapavessis, H. (2017). Standing up for student health: An application of the health action process approach for reducing student sedentary behavior – a pilot study. Oral presentation at the annual meeting of the International Society for Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, Victoria, Canada.
May 2017	Let's Talk Cancer Western: Exercise Psychology and Cancer – Western University
March 2017	3-Minute Thesis Western University: Top 20 – Western University
March 2017	Standing up for student health: An application of the Health Action Process Approach (HAPA) for reducing student sedentary behaviour – A pilot study. Poster presentation at London Health Research Day 2017.
January 2017	"Standing up for student health - Using behavioral counseling to increase non-sedentary behavior" – Retiring with Strong Minds Presentation
June 2016	Sui, W., & Prapavessis, H. (2016). Testing the face validity and reliability of a modified SIT- Q 7-day recall questionnaire measuring sedentary time and break frequency & duration. Poster presented at the annual meeting of the North American Society for the Psychology of Sport and Physical Activity, Montreal, Canada.
May 2016	Standing up for student health: An application of the Health Action Process Approach (HAPA) for reducing student sedentary behaviour. Oral proposal presentation at the Exercise is Medicine Ontario Student Conference 2016.
May 2016	Let's Talk Cancer Western: Exercise Psychology and Cancer – Western University.
March 2016	3-Minute Thesis Western University: Top 20 – Western University
December 2015	"Sitting is the new smoking" – Retiring with Strong Minds Presentation

RESEARCH-SPECIFIC HONOURS, AWARDS, AND SCHOLARSHIPS

2020	Dr. Bert Carron Graduate Scholarship in Sport and Exercise Psychology
2019	Second Place – Ontario 3-Minute Thesis Final
2019	Competitors Choice – Ontario 3-Minute Thesis Final
2019-2020	Ontario Graduate Scholarship (OGS)
2018-2019	Ontario Graduate Scholarship (OGS)
2018	Western's Ideas for Sustainability and the Environment (WISE) competition – Finalist: Graduate Student category
2014-2019	Western Graduate Research Scholarship
2017	Canadian Obesity Network SNP Western Research Blitz – 1st Place
2017	Canadian Obesity Network SNP Ontario Research Blitz – 1st Place
2017	Canadian Cancer Society Middlesex-London Research Blitz – 3 rd Place
2016	Canadian Obesity Network SNP Western Research Blitz – 1st Place
2016	Canadian Obesity Network SNP Ontario Research Blitz – 2 nd Place
2016-2017	Ontario Graduate Scholarship (OGS)
2014	Society of Graduate Students 125th Anniversary Scholarship